## ng is not a y problem to lved..."

### CO

### IG OF AGE

Lo Bazalgette Jo olden Ph ew Ni ıbble orrison Ja

by Brunel University Research Archive

ш

**DEMOS** 



Demos is a think-tank focused on power and politics. Our unique approach challenges the traditional, 'ivory tower' model of policy making by giving a voice to people and communities. We work together with the groups and individuals who are the focus of our research, including them in citizens' juries, deliberative workshops, focus groups and ethnographic research. Through our high quality and socially responsible research, Demos has established itself as the leading independent think-tank in British politics.

In 2011, our work is focused on four programmes: Family and Society; Violence and Extremism; Public Interest and Political Economy. We also have two political research programmes: the Progressive Conservatism Project and Open Left, investigating the future of the centre-Right and centre-Left.

Our work is driven by the goal of a society populated by free, capable, secure and powerful citizens. Find out more at www.demos.co.uk.

First published in 2011

© Demos. Some rights reserved

Magdalen House, 136 Tooley Street,

London, SE1 2TU, UK

ISBN 978 1 906693 66 4

Series design by modernactivity

Typeset by Chat Noir Design, Charente

Printed by Lecturis, Eindhoven

Set in Gotham Rounded

and Baskerville 10

Cover paper: Flora Gardenia

Text paper: Munken Premium White



### **COMING OF AGE**

Louise Bazalgette John Holden Philip Tew Nick Hubble Jago Morrison

### Open access. Some rights reserved.

As the publisher of this work, Demos wants to encourage the circulation of our work as widely as possible while retaining the copyright. We therefore have an open access policy which enables anyone to access our content online without charge.

Anyone can download, save, perform or distribute this work in any format, including translation, without written permission. This is subject to the terms of the Demos licence found at the back of this publication. Its main conditions are:

- · Demos and the author(s) are credited
- · This summary and the address www.demos.co.uk are displayed
- · The text is not altered and is used in full
- · The work is not resold
- · A copy of the work or link to its use online is sent to Demos

You are welcome to ask for permission to use this work for purposes other than those covered by the licence. Demos gratefully acknowledges the work of Creative Commons in inspiring our approach to copyright. To find out more go to www.creativecommons.org



### **Contents**

	Acknowledgements	7
	Executive summary	9
	Section 1 Demographics and the policy contex	۲t
1	Changes in ageing	19
2	Policy approaches to ageing	33
	Section 2 Research findings	
3	Older people's experiences of ageing	51
4	Work and finances	71
5	Housing and independence	83
6	Health and social care	91
7	Retirement and 'active ageing'	105
8	End of life	121
9	Policy directions	129
	Annex 1 Methodology	147
	Annex 2 Landmarks in ageing policy 1908-2010	153
	Notes	157
	References	187

### **Acknowledgements**

First and foremost we would like to acknowledge the commitment of the 86 reading group participants whose contributions to this research over a one-year period provided invaluable insights into the changing experience of ageing in contemporary Britain. We would especially like to thank Keith Richards, Trustee of the Third Age Trust, and Jennifer Anning, Shared Learning Projects Coordinator for the London U<sub>3</sub>As, for their expert advice and practical assistance in facilitating the reading group study.

This research would not have been possible without the help of the Mass Observation Project: the people who write for it and the people who keep it running. We would like to thank Dorothy Sheridan for initial discussions of the FCMAP project and help in framing the MO directive sent out late in 2009, Jessica Scantlebury for ongoing liaison over the directive and her assistance with MO archival material alongside Fiona Courage, Rose Lock and everyone else working in Special Collections at the University of Sussex Library. We also thank the Trustees of the Mass Observation Archive for permission to quote Mass Observation material.

The Brunel University Fiction & Cultural Mediation of Ageing Project (FCMAP) researchers would like to note the vital input of the Research Support & Development Office (RSDO) at Brunel who provided initial financial support; the essential role of funding provided through the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) by the New Dynamics of Ageing initiative (NDA); and recognise too all of the underlying support provided by ESRC and NDA staff, as well as Natalia Clarke and subsequently Denise Odell, the FCMAP administrators.

At Demos we received invaluable help and support during the writing process from Julia Margo, Jamie Bartlett, Claudia Wood and Max Wind-Cowie. We were also able to draw on organisational and research support from Sarah Kennedy, Aaron Peters, Jo Farmer, Maria Holly and Alexandra Hildyard. Finally, Ralph Scott and Beatrice Karol Burks expertly steered the publication through the production process and the launch.

### Executive summary

The text was expertly copy-edited by Susannah Wight. As ever, all errors and omissions are our own.

Louise Bazalgette John Holden Philip Tew Nick Hubble Jago Morrison

April 2011

### **Executive summary**

Much is written about the policy challenges faced by our ageing society. The population is getting older and more diverse, and the reality of what this will mean economically, socially and environmentally is beginning to impact on the public mind. As a society we tend to view ageing as a 'problem' which must be 'managed' – we frequently debate how to cope with the pressure on national health services of growing numbers of older people, the cost of sustaining them with pensions and social care, and the effect on families and housing needs.

The core message in this report is that ageing in itself is not a policy problem to be solved, but is in fact a unique experience for each individual, which varies according to personal characteristics, experience and outlook. Each individual's experience of ageing, including their health, well-being and financial security, will be determined by their life-course in its entirety, rather than by the events of their later life in isolation. Therefore, policy activities to support positive experiences of ageing must aim to build people's resilience throughout their lives, to prevent problems such as poor health or social isolation from arising.

Contrary to assumptions, many of the older people who participated in our research found that ageing was a positive experience, which had brought them greater confidence, peace and self-acceptance. The majority of our research participants felt positive about the opportunities that retirement gave them for undertaking new projects and leisure activities, and they were making a number of important social contributions including volunteering and caring for parents and grandchildren. However, they also commonly experienced age discrimination and age-based social stereotyping. A number of participants felt that negative social attitudes towards older people were exacerbated by policy narratives that disproportionately

emphasise the costs posed by an ageing population but do not adequately recognise the contributions that older people make, including financial contributions through taxation. Many participants also made comments that indicated their considerable disillusionment with politics and the policy-making process for this reason.

Our research has attempted to put older people at the centre of policy making and to compare and contrast policy approaches to ageing with the lived experience of growing old. To achieve this, Demos worked in partnership with staff at Brunel University, who set up two major studies that would give voice to older people through diary-keeping techniques. The findings from these studies form the basis of this report and they have been analysed and contextualised within a detailed review of existing public policy approaches to ageing.

#### The research

One study was conducted through the Mass Observation project, which is one of the longest-running longitudinal life-writing projects anywhere in the world. Three times a year, Mass Observation participants receive a 'directive', which is a set of open questions that invite them to write freely and discursively about their views and experiences. For this particular study, a directive was issued in winter 2009 to find out how participants responded to representations of ageing in political and media discourse. It was issued to 600 people and 193 written responses were returned. In conjunction with earlier directives about ageing in 1992 and 2006, it was possible to collate data on how ageing is understood in society, how views differ between generations, and how social expectations on ageing relate to self-understanding.

For the second study, eight volunteer reading groups were set up in collaboration with the Third Age Trust, involving 86 volunteers in their early 60s to 90s. The volunteers were arranged into reading groups throughout London, and met for monthly discussions. The aim was to create a space for complex and wide-ranging deliberation on the experience of ageing. To

achieve this, fictional representations by leading writers were used as a stimulus to reflection and discussion. During the course of a year, all groups read nine nominated novels published from 1944 to the present, a period that corresponded largely with the adult life experiences of participants. The novels were chosen to provide a range of contrasting vantage points on later life, and to provoke readers' assumptions and attitudes.

Through this approach we discovered how people feel about themselves, how they are treated and viewed, and how they react to policies that affect their everyday lives. Further detail relating to the sampling of participants, other details of the methodology and a list of the novels discussed are provided in annex 1. The literary quotations that are used in chapters 3–8 are taken from these novels.

### **Findings**

In response to the findings that emerged from the two Brunel studies, we have considered five specific policy areas in detail.

#### Work and finances

Our research participants argued that working in later life should be a matter of choice, not compulsion. Some people's personal experiences highlighted the devastating impact that compulsory retirement can have on an individual's identity and self-esteem, therefore there was considerable support for abolishing the default retirement age. People were positive about working in later life as long as the demands of the job continued to be appropriate to the individual's capabilities.

Attitudes about personal finances varied considerably. Some people, who had both a private and state pension felt very well provided for and looked forward to the future with optimism, while others felt they had made poorly informed employment choices, with negative financial consequences for their retirement, or had unexpectedly found themselves in a worse than expected financial position due to changing personal circumstances such as divorce or illness.

#### Executive summary

Contrary to the dominant approach in ageing policy, older people do not necessarily believe universality to be the best system for delivering benefits. In fact, in the case of winter fuel payments, the provision of universal benefits for people from their early 60s, on the assumption that 'older people' are more vulnerable to cold weather, was felt to be unnecessary and patronising.

### Housing and independence

The majority of older people in our study wished to remain independent and stay in their own homes for as long as possible. Participants almost universally expressed great fear at the prospect of moving into residential care. Several people emphasised that it was important to them that they should remain in contact with people of all age groups, and be part of interdependent social networks that made them feel needed.

#### Health and social care

There was great concern about the discriminatory treatment of older people. Some felt that there was widespread discrimination in the NHS, and that doctors dismissed health problems experienced by older people, regarding them as being part of the ageing process, rather than as a treatable condition. Discussions of mental health focused on the importance of preventative approaches to mental health support, including providing older people with opportunities to remain active and socially engaged. A number of research participants expressed fear of developing dementia in old age, while one man cautioned against even thinking about the risk of dementia, as this could cause unnecessary suffering. These responses highlighted the stigma that continues to surround dementia.

Participants said they would prefer to receive domiciliary care than to be admitted into residential care if they were unable to live on their own. Most objected to the unfairness of the current means-tested system which can lead to situations in which the prudent lose their assets in paying for care, while those

who did not save for their retirement may not need to contribute. Concern was expressed that those caring for their parents are themselves growing older and may be in need of care themselves. It was felt that carers currently receive inadequate support and are in need of greater respite.

### Active ageing

Participants had mixed experiences of retirement: some approached it positively as a liberation from work; others were more anxious, concerned that stopping work might open up a void in their life. However, most saw retirement as a time to remain active and socially engaged. They expected that retirement would provide increased opportunities for leisure, self-development and new projects. Participants who had poorer health valued being able to take part in intellectual and social activities, as opposed to more physical activities.

Participants in the study thought it very important for older people to have opportunities for learning and cultural engagement, with adult learning opportunities and universal services such as libraries and museums playing a central role in improving their quality of life. They thought volunteering was an important means for older people to continue to contribute to society, while public spaces and facilities such as leisure centres provided valuable opportunities for intergenerational contact. They believed transport concessions such as the free bus pass were vital to help older people to remain mobile and socially active.

#### End of life

Participants did not express fear of death itself, but rather concern about the adequacy of care in the final phase of life and possible indignities they may suffer when dying. One group of participants thought that euthanasia should be accepted to enable people to exercise more control over the manner of their death.

### **Policy directions**

The policy directions we have outlined are as much about finding a vision for an effective policy approach to ageing as they are about making specific recommendations for changes to policy or service provision. We identify four key principles for improving policy responses to ageing that cut across these policy directions:

- · At the centre of our vision is the need for long-term strategies to support people to experience good health, social inclusion and financial resilience across the life-course.
- Older people are a highly heterogeneous group, therefore we need to move away from one-size-fits-all policy approaches and services to offer older people choice and flexibility in how they live.
- We need to challenge all forms of age discrimination, including patronising stereotypes about older people's dependency and vulnerability, and to find better ways to target state support towards those who actually need it.
- Older people are feeling increasingly alienated by policy rhetoric
  that presents older people as a social or financial burden. We
  cannot meet the challenges posed by an ageing society without
  the support of older people themselves. Therefore, we need a
  shift of mind-set to recognise the extremely valuable social roles
  that are already fulfilled by older people, and increase
  opportunities for older people to use their skills to make a
  positive contribution to society.

We discuss some of the key policy directions below.

### Flexible jobs for older workers

To realise its ambitions of retaining an older workforce, the Government should work with employers to explore opportunities for developing more flexible career pathways for older workers that offer a greater choice of job roles, use older people's skill sets, support a phased approach to retirement, and combat institutional ageism.

### Reducing complexity in the state pensions system and tackling pensioner poverty

To reduce complexity in the pensions system and provide a firm basis for people to save towards their retirement we support the Coalition Government's proposals to introduce a single-tier pension. In addition to this, we suggest that the Government should investigate giving people the option to capitalise and invest a portion of their *future* state pension entitlement in a personal pension scheme of their choosing earlier in their lives. This could have a dramatic effect on the rates of private pension take-up.

### Better targeting of winter fuel payments

Most people in their early 60s do not feel old or 'vulnerable', therefore the current system of winter fuel payments does not reflect modern experiences of ageing. We believe that the Government should investigate better targeting of winter fuel payments, potentially raising eligibility to the age of 75 in line with disability-free life expectancy. To address inequalities, people receiving income-related or health-related benefits could automatically receive winter fuel payments once they reach state pension age.

### A diversity of service provision to support 'active ageing'

Older people are a highly heterogeneous group, therefore a diversity of service provision is needed to provide attractive opportunities for people with differing interests. Some people will wish to participate in designated activities for older people, while others will want to make use of universal services. Ensuring that core services such as libraries and leisure centres are available and accessible to older people is therefore an essential part of supporting active ageing.

### An intergenerational approach to local service delivery

Segregating service delivery according to set age groups can further exclude those who may already be socially isolated. To

#### Executive summary

give people of different generations the opportunity to share their skills and to give and receive informal support, local authorities and other local service providers should challenge assumptions that activities and services should be age-specific and investigate how they can deliver services more flexibly and inclusively.

# Section 1 Demographics and the policy context

### 1 Changes in ageing

A number of well understood trends underpin the changing experience of ageing. In reviewing the best known of these, it is clear that ageing is an increasingly varied and personal experience, which is influenced by the individual's social context but is by no means uniform or predictable. The analysis in this chapter sets the scene for what follows, by identifying the key implications of ageing in UK society in a number of contexts.

### **Population ageing**

'Older people' (defined as those who are aged above the state pension age) make up an increasingly large proportion of the UK population. In 2008, 11.8 million people were aged above the state pension age, which for the first time overtook the number of children aged 16 or under. By 2034, 23 per cent of the population will be aged 65 or over, with only 18 per cent aged 16 or less.¹ The 'oldest old' – those aged 85 and over – are the fastest growing age group in our society. In 1984 there were approximately 660,000 people in the UK in this age group, but by 2009 there were 1.4 million. By 2034, this number is expected to have more than doubled again, to 3.5 million. It is also predicted that those aged 100 or more will increase sevenfold between 2009 and 2034, to reach 87,900.²

The old age support ratio (OASR), which calculates the number of people of working age in comparison with those aged over the state pension age, will fall from 3.6 in 1971 to a projected ratio of 2.8 by 2034.<sup>3</sup> A number of important long-term trends have driven population ageing, including reductions in infant mortality, and increasing longevity, with lower mortality rates and lower fertility rates from the mid-1960s onwards.<sup>4</sup> Over the next two decades, changes to the OASR will also be driven by

the ageing of the massive post-war 'baby boomer' cohort (born between 1945 and 1965), who will progressively reach state pension age. Just between 2005 and 2015, the number of pensioners will increase by 1.6 million.<sup>5</sup> However, it is important to note that the OASR can lead us to make overly simplistic assumptions about who is financially dependent on whom. These metrics do not take into account potential inactivity among people of working age or the fact that some people choose to continue working beyond the state pension age.<sup>6</sup> These broad demographic changes also mask a number of other trends that are affecting the lives of older people.

### Working in later life

Changes to the population demographic have contributed to changes in retirement prospects and income levels. Participation in the labour market throughout adult life is the main influence on people's level of income in later life and over recent years the employment prospects of older people as a group have improved.

Trends over the last 15 years show that overall both women and men are continuing to work later in life, with the employment rate for men and women aged 50-64 increasing between 1995 and 2010 (from 65 per cent to 72 per cent for men, and from 49 per cent to 58 per cent for women). Over the same period, the employment rate of those aged over 65 also increased, from 8 per cent to 12 per cent of men and from 3 per cent to 7 per cent of women. Surveys have shown that public attitudes are more supportive of people who wish to continue working later in life, with fewer people in 2008 supporting the view that older workers should retire to make way for younger workers than in 2000.8 Increasing numbers of people also expect to work until they are in their 70s (10 per cent of men in 2008 compared with only 5 per cent in 2004)9 and the 2008 British Social Attitudes survey found that a third of employees would like to work past the age of 65.10

The scheduled increases to the state pension age for men and women are intended to increase the number of years that

people spend in employment and shorten retirement in order to reduce expenditure on state pensions and provide people with greater opportunities to save for their retirement. It is clear from published data that the state pension age itself exerts a strong influence on the age at which people retire, perhaps by promoting particular age-related norms on when men and women are expected to retire. Withdrawal from the labour market for men and women can be seen to cluster around their respective state pension ages (currently 65 for men and 60 for women). For men, withdrawal from work peaks between 64 and 66, while for women the peak is between 59 and 61. However, women are on average more likely to work past the state pension age than men, perhaps because their state pension age has been significantly lower (the average age of withdrawal for men was 64.5 in 2009, while the average age for women was 62 years). It

A number of other factors also influence whether older people are likely to remain in employment, not least of which is the availability of jobs. While the long-term trend is that people are continuing to work later in life, with the percentage of workers who are above state pension age doubling between 2001 and 2010,<sup>15</sup> there has also been a recent spike in the numbers of people taking early retirement. This may have been influenced by rising levels of unemployment across all age groups. In the last quarter of 2010, the number of people who took retirement before the age of 65 increased by 49,000 to reach a total of 1.57 million, the highest figure since comparable records began in 1993.<sup>16</sup>

Recent analysis of labour market statistics has demonstrated the continuing trend that people aged between 50 and 64 are the most likely of all age groups to suffer from long-term unemployment lasting a year or more. 17 In October 2010, 43 per cent of those aged between 50 and 64 who were unemployed had been out of work for a year or more, compared with only 27 per cent of those aged 18–24 who are unemployed. Therefore, although the young have been hit hardest by unemployment overall in recent years, with one in five graduates currently unemployed, it is still older workers who are most likely to suffer from persistent unemployment.

The availability of part-time or flexible work may also be an important factor that influences whether or not older people are able to remain in the workforce up to and past state pension age. Switching to part-time work as part of the transition to retirement has been an increasingly popular choice in recent years. In April–June 2010, 59 per cent of men who worked past the state pension age, and 68 per cent of women, were working part-time. 18 The 2008 British Social Attitudes Survey found that while only a third of people questioned wished to work past the age of 65, the number expressing this wish nearly doubled to 61 per cent if flexible working arrangements (eg. part-time working) were available. 19 However, previous research has indicated that 'older workers desire a level of flexibility in working arrangements that employers, in practice, would not, realistically, be in a position to offer'.20 Recent changes to the labour market, including public sector job losses, may reduce older people's opportunities for flexible or part-time work. Unemployment figures for late 2010 showed that, overall, the number of employees who were working part-time fell by 62,000 in the last quarter.<sup>21</sup> This trend may have a knock-on impact on the availability of part-time work for older workers.

The Institute for Fiscal Studies' analysis of the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA) has identified a number of other factors that influence whether people continue working past the state pension age:<sup>22</sup>

- Individuals with a high level of education are 40 per cent more likely to be working beyond the state pension age than individuals with a low level of education.<sup>23</sup>
- Those who had a mortgage outstanding were more likely to be working than those who owned their home outright.
- Those with a defined benefit pension are twice as likely to retire early as those without a private pension.
- · Those who had a long-standing illness were less likely to be in work.
- Those whose partner had a limiting long-standing illness were 24 per cent more likely to be in work.
- Men and women who had a partner who worked were more likely to be working than single people.

One of the most significant barriers to older people's continuing participation in the labour force is ill health. People with a long-standing illness are over 50 per cent more likely to be retired than people without,<sup>24</sup> but people who had a limiting long-standing illness were less likely to describe themselves as retired; a significant proportion of these people reported themselves as permanently sick or disabled. Therefore, 'Increasing employment rates among those aged 50 and over will require addressing the barriers that currently prevent some individuals with health problems from working.'<sup>25</sup>

### Wealth and well-being

Levels of wealth have a very important influence on both the living standards that people are able to experience in retirement, and on their life expectancy. Wealth and well-being are intimately linked, with the better off having higher ratings of life satisfaction, and lower incidences of depression and loneliness.<sup>26</sup> A significant number of pre-retirees and retirees have low levels of savings. One-third (35 per cent) of 55-64-year-olds have very low savings of £2,000 or less (compared with 25 per cent of those aged 65-74) and 40 per cent of those aged 55-64 are currently saving nothing each month.<sup>27</sup> Many from this generation will have benefited significantly from the housing boom between 1997 and 2007; 76 per cent of those who are in the 55-64 age group are home-owners.28 However, the significant minority who are not home-owners have not benefited from this windfall, and many of them also lack any pension entitlements.<sup>29</sup> As a result, 'there is evidence that the poorest baby boomers have benefited relatively less... than has the cohort on average, reflecting widening inequality within the cohort'.30

### Income inequality in retirement

Reducing the number of pensioners who were living in poverty was a significant goal of the previous Labour Government. Its policy approach for existing pensioners was to target state spending towards the poorest pensioners by providing a meanstested minimum income guarantee, while it attempted to improve the income of future pensioners and reduce their reliance on state pension income by encouraging people to build up private pension entitlements. These policies have contributed to two significant trends.<sup>31</sup>

First, the average pensioner has become relatively more prosperous since the mid-1990s, with pensioner incomes rising faster than average earnings.<sup>32</sup> This has led to a reduction in the numbers of pensioners who are living in poverty in the UK: a reduction of one million between 1999/2000 and 2008/09 (from 2.8 million to 1.8 million; measured as those who fall below 60 per cent of equivalised contemporary median income after housing costs).<sup>33</sup>

Second, the long-term trend of growing income inequality among pensioners has continued.<sup>34</sup> One significant influence on this trend is the growing importance of income from private pensions over the last decade.<sup>35</sup> Pensioners who had income from private pensions are more likely to be in the top income quintile groups for the population as a whole, whereas those who do not have a private pension are more likely to be in the bottom income groups.<sup>36</sup> This trend towards the increasing importance of private pensions means that 'economic well-being in later life in the future will be more closely tied to work histories than in previous generations'.<sup>37</sup> Hence groups of people who are particularly disadvantaged in the labour market will continue to suffer comparative disadvantage in retirement, which could entrench inequality further.<sup>38</sup> Recent research suggests this inequality has a gender component too.

Over the last 15 years, women pensioners have been far more likely to be living in relative poverty than male pensioners. While the proportion of women pensioners living in relative poverty has reduced since 1994/95, it is still the case that over two-thirds of those in poverty are women.<sup>39</sup> This is partly a result of the higher proportion of female pensioners overall. Although the gender gap in pensioner income should reduce as women from the 1960s cohort had higher rates of participation in the labour market than their parents' generation, and are likely to

work for longer as a result of the increase in the female state pension age to 65, it will still be considerable.<sup>40</sup>

There are also important differences in the income of older people depending on their ethnicity. White pensioners are the most likely to be found in the two highest income quintiles (34 per cent), pensioners from Chinese ethnic groups were the second most likely at 31 per cent, followed by Indian pensioners of whom 30 per cent were in the top two income quintiles. Pensioners from Pakistani and Bangladeshi ethnic groups were the most likely to be represented in the bottom two pensioner income groups (69 per cent), with 40 per cent in the bottom income group.<sup>41</sup> Analysis by the ONS suggests that relatively low pension incomes of some ethnic minority groups may be a result of lower rates of pension scheme membership and lower rates of employment and earnings, among other things. The increasing importance of income from private pensions as a proportion of income may also amplify these income differences in retirement.42

The same factors of lower rates of employment, lower wages, lower participation in occupational pension schemes and lower rates of eligibility for a state pension also affect the incomes of disabled people in retirement. According to the calculations of the Pensions Policy Institute, around a quarter of disabled people are not accruing entitlements to the basic state pension each year, and a third of disabled people are not accruing rights to the second state pension. This situation is compounded if a partner or family members take time out of the labour market to provide care.<sup>43</sup>

Research conducted by the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) in 2009 identified important attitudinal barriers to adequate levels of saving for retirement. In a representative survey of 1,654 adults aged 18–69, the majority of respondents had positive attitudes towards saving, but a significant minority were clearly prioritising the here and now over their retirement income: 30 per cent of respondents said they prioritised a good standard of living today over saving for retirement; 10 per cent said it was not worth saving for retirement

because they may not live that long; and 18 per cent agreed that retirement is so far off, it is not worth worrying about. Just over half (51 per cent) said they could not afford to save money for their retirement at the moment.<sup>44</sup>

### Health and disability

The proportion of people with long-standing illnesses or disabilities increases with age.45 Around 36 per cent of people aged between 65 and 74 and 47 per cent of those aged over 75 consider themselves to have a long-standing illness or disability that limits their activities (compared with 18 per cent of all age groups).46 Although healthy life expectancy is increasing, national data suggest that it is not increasing as quickly as life expectancy; therefore the proportion of people's lives that is spent in poor health is also increasing.<sup>47</sup> This is particularly true of the over 85s. Currently, around 40 per cent of the oldest old are estimated to have a 'severe disability', and this proportion is expected to increase in the coming years. 48 Of particular concern is dementia. Currently, one in 14 people over 65 years of age and one in six people over 80 years of age has a form of dementia49 and this number is projected to double to 1.4 million over the next 30 years.

However, as with income levels, aggregated figures on healthy life expectancy obscure inequalities. A number of different indicators of poverty have been shown to impact on health and life expectancy in later life. People aged over 50 who live in council housing, those who have a low income and those who have a history of manual work are all more likely to report long-term health problems. 50 The IFS's analysis of the ELSA study found that there was 'a clear social gradient in several health indicators and behavioural determinants of health'. 51 Poorer participants in the study were more likely to be overweight or obese, more likely to smoke, had lower levels of physical activity, were less likely to eat five portions of fruit and vegetables each day, and were more likely to experience health conditions like hypertension and diabetes. The study also observed a social gradient in some biological predictors of health and illness. 52

These lifestyle factors have important implications for the likelihood that people will develop related health conditions. For example, scientific studies have linked lifestyle factors such as obesity, diet, levels of exercise, and smoking and alcohol use to incidences of some types of dementia<sup>53</sup> and people in deprived areas are more likely to get dementia at a younger age.<sup>54</sup>

These inequalities can also be observed when measuring life expectancy, with gains in life expectancy spread unevenly across the population. Although the gender gap in life expectancy is narrowing, female life expectancy at birth is still 4.1 years longer than that of males.<sup>55</sup> Recent research has also shown that life expectancy varies significantly between different areas of the UK; and according to social class and occupation.<sup>56</sup> Longterm trends show that the gap between the life expectancies of the rich and poor has been getting wider since the 1970s.<sup>57</sup>

### Social relationships

It is increasingly well recognised in policy that, as with other age groups, the quality of older people's social relationships is crucial to their well-being. Recent trends indicate that more older people are childless, and more older people are living alone. In 2008, 30 per cent of women and 20 per cent of men aged 65–74 lived alone and almost two-thirds (63 per cent) of women and one-third (35 per cent) of men aged 75 and over lived alone.58 These trends are expected to become more apparent as the baby boomers reach retirement, as those who were born in the 1960s were far more likely than previous generations to remain unmarried and also more likely to divorce or separate.59 Divorce rates for this generation were also higher than for previous generations; 16 per cent of women who were born in 1964 had already divorced or separated from their husband by the time they were 33.60 People from this generation were also more likely to remain childless; projections showed that more than a fifth (21 per cent) of women born in 1964 would have no children, in comparison with only 14 per cent of women in the previous generation born in 1931.61 These demographic changes have raised concerns that more older people in the future will be

socially isolated and that the availability of informal care may decrease.

There is a strong body of evidence linking the strength and quality of older people's social relationships and community engagement to health, well-being and quality of life. 62 The 2008/09 ELSA survey found that older people who lived with a partner were less likely to show signs of depression than those who were single, while those who were separated or divorced were even more likely to show signs of depression than other people living alone. Those who were widowed were the most likely to show signs of depression, with a quarter of this group showing some symptom of depression, and widows in the younger age group of 50-64 showing an even greater prevalence of depression.63 This study also found that the number of close relationships that people have and the frequency of their social contact is associated with their level of well-being. Among those aged 65-74, only 9.5 per cent of people who had at least ten close relationships showed signs of depression, compared with 29 per cent of people who had one or fewer close relationships. 64 Older people who had frequent contact with their friends and family scored better on life satisfaction and quality of life measures than those who experienced social contact less often.65

Another longitudinal study has demonstrated that the quality of older people's relationships also affects their resilience, defined as their ability to 'bounce back' from adversity and experience good outcomes. This study showed that above all other possible factors, it was older people's level of social support that affected their resilience, 'measured in terms of having people who can be trusted and who will offer help, comfort and appreciation, especially in a crisis'. 66 Importantly, it was the level of social support that older people had before and during (rather than after) the experience of adversity that determined whether or not somebody responded resiliently.

The increasing number of older people living alone clearly has implications for well-being in old age as this may increase the risk of social isolation and loneliness. A recent American study found that loneliness has strong links with life expectancy, with people with adequate social relationships having a 50 per cent

greater likelihood of survival than those whose social relationships were poor or inadequate. It found that the effect of social relationships in predicting mortality was comparable to giving up smoking, and exceeded the impact of factors such as obesity and lack of exercise.<sup>67</sup> A large study conducted in the UK in 2005 found that out of a broadly nationally representative sample of 999 respondents aged 65 or over, almost two-thirds were 'never' lonely (61 per cent), just under a third were sometimes lonely and 7 per cent were 'often' or 'always' lonely.<sup>68</sup> An earlier study found that this rate of severe loneliness in people aged over 65 has remained roughly constant over time, with reports of loneliness ranging from 5 per cent to 9 per cent since 1945.<sup>69</sup>

However, the proportion of people rating themselves as 'sometimes' lonely (31 per cent) has significantly increased from the rates of 11-22 per cent found in earlier studies (in 1948, 1957, 1966 and 1994), with a corresponding reduction in the proportion of people who are 'never' lonely.70 The 2005 study identified six risk factors for loneliness and two protective factors. The risk factors were marital status (with all groups at greater risk of loneliness than those who were married), time spent alone, greater loneliness over the past decade, a high score on the General Health Questionnaire (indicating poor mental health), worse than expected health in old age and poor selfrating of current health. The two protective factors were 'advanced age' and higher levels of educational qualifications.<sup>71</sup> The authors suggest that 'advanced age' may be a protective factor because those who are bereaved are able to adjust to their new situation over time. Most importantly, this analysis reveals that it is not 'old age' itself that puts people at greater risk of loneliness but individual social and health-related factors that may be preventable to varying degrees.

### Implications for care

The greater proportion of people who are living alone in early old age also has important implications for the provision of social care in future decades.<sup>72</sup> A lack of availability of

co-residential family members, and particularly partners, has significant implications for older people's access to informal care. Previous studies have found that living alone in old age makes it more likely that people will need institutional care.73 Significantly more older people currently receive informal support from family and friends, and particularly from their partners, than those who receive formal support. The ELSA study mentioned above found that a third of older people who have physical limitations receive informal help or care, compared with around one in 40 men and fewer than one in 20 women who received paid-for help or care.74 The ELSA study also found that a significant amount of caring is provided by older people themselves: those aged 75 or over spent more hours caring than younger age groups, usually for a partner. Importantly, those who care for a partner tend to have a worse quality of life than other carers. This is presumed to be because of the much greater number of hours of care that they provide.75

In comparison, those who regularly look after their grandchildren have a higher quality of life than those who do not, particularly if it is for a relatively small proportion of their time. The role of grandparents in caring for grandchildren has increased over time as a result of the increasing number of working mothers. The Grandparents now provide over 40 per cent of childcare for working parents and estimates suggest that this childcare contribution is worth around £3.9 billion.

However, these trends are not consistent across all ethnic groups and there are major differences in the living arrangements of older people from different ethnic backgrounds. While less than 5 per cent of white grandparents live in a multi-generational household (and 7.5 per cent of black grandparents), over 30 per cent of Indian grandparents live in multi-generational households (and 25.4 per cent of Pakistani grandparents and 28.8 per cent of Bangladeshi grandparents). To Studies suggest that these differences partly reflect different cultural norms and are partly financially motivated; for families with lower incomes, living in a multi-generational household can 'facilitate the "pooling" of household income while reducing housing costs', while childcare provided by grandparents can support their

children to work.<sup>80</sup> Older people from some ethnic backgrounds may, therefore, be at lower risk of loneliness and social isolation. However, the proportion of older people from minority ethnic backgrounds who have high support needs and are in need of formal care is expected to increase in future years.<sup>81</sup> This will have significant implications for the provision of domiciliary and residential care, which will need to be able to cater for older people with increasingly diverse cultural and religious identities.<sup>82</sup>

# 2 Policy approaches to ageing

The policy category of 'older people' and the concept of 'retirement' as a discrete life stage mainly originated in the postwar settlement. In 1908, when men had a life expectancy of about 49 years, the Old Age Pensions Act first put in place pensions for people aged over 70, but this was means-tested so only poorer older people were eligible.83 From 1925, poorer working men who had paid five years of contributions were eligible for a retirement pension from the age of 65, but it wasn't until the 1946 National Insurance Act that a universal social insurance system was put in place.84 The same year, the National Health Service Act enshrined the duty to provide healthcare to people of all age groups. This was shortly followed by the 1948 National Assistance Act, which established local authorities' responsibility to provide housing and care for older people where this was needed. In the 1950s a new policy supported those with long-term health problems to remain in their homes rather than being institutionalised,85 although it was not until the 1990s that policies were implemented to make local authorities responsible for offering domiciliary as well as residential care to those who met the eligibility criteria, and to provide better support to informal carers.86

### Structural strains on the system

It is not just greater life expectancy that will pose significant policy challenges in coming decades, but also the steep increase in expenditure that will be required to meet the needs of the 'baby boomer' cohort as this generation ages. The Office for Budget Responsibility's June 2010 *Pre-Budget Forecast* estimated that this pace of demographic change will have an annual impact on state spending that will reach almost 4 per cent of GDP by 2049/50.87

For a start, the retirement of baby boomers will place a major strain on pension provision over coming years. State expenditure on pensions has already more than doubled between 1980 and 2010, rising from £32.9 billion to £69.5 billion, with an additional £30.5 billion spent annually on other pensioner benefits including winter fuel payments and free travel concessions.88 When the first baby boomers turned 60 in 2005/06 and began to draw a state pension, government expenditure increased by £14 billion. As more baby boomers retire, it is projected that spending on pensioners will further increase by almost £4 billion by 2012.89 Increases in projected life expectancy for people who reached state pension age in 2010 are estimated to cost the state an additional £6.5 billion in pension costs over these people's lives.90

The larger number of people living into their eighth, ninth and tenth decades will also generate increasing costs to the NHS and social care. Overall, older people have the highest usage of acute hospital services and it is estimated that they account for around 45 per cent of NHS spending. 91 As people age they are more likely to develop complex health problems and disabilities requiring care and support. Older people aged 85 and over are particularly likely to have high support needs 'associated with physical frailty, chronic conditions and/or multiple impairments (including dementia)', although some people in younger age groups also have high support needs.92 Therefore, the rapidly increasing population of older people aged over 85 is likely to have significant implications for local authority social care services. Adult social care expenditure on older people by local authorities increased from £8.8 billion in 2007/08 to £9.1 billion in 2008/0993 and as a proportion of GDP, it is estimated that the costs of long-term care will rise from 1.2 per cent in 2009/10 to 2.1 per cent by 2049/50.94

Within these health and social care costs, the rising costs of dementia are of particular concern to policy makers. The number of people with dementia is projected to double to 1.4 million over the next 30 years. Dementia currently costs the NHS and social care around £8.2 billion annually,95 and it is estimated that the total amount that dementia costs the UK economy will increase

from £17 billion per year in 2009 to £50 billion per year by 2040.96 However, as we will explore further on, such projections fail to recognise the potential reductions in the rate of dementia that could be achieved by improvements in public health and investment in improving treatment and early detection of dementia.

# **Negative policy narratives**

An unfortunate consequence of the recent political focus on the costs of an ageing population is that this debate has fuelled political and media discourse representing ageing as a problem and older people as a burden. For some time now, the rapid increase in the number of people drawing a pension and the longer life expectancy of those already in retirement has been discussed in policy debate and the media in apocalyptic terms, with older people increasingly being represented as 'a burdensome responsibility'.97 The World Bank's 1994 report *Averting the Old Age Crisis* is a key example of this rhetoric:

Rapid demographic transitions caused by rising life expectancy and declining fertility mean that the proportion of old people in the general population is growing rapidly. Meanwhile, formal systems, such as government-backed pensions, have proved both unsustainable and very difficult to reform... The result is a looming old age crisis that threatens not only the old but also their children and grandchildren, who must shoulder, directly or indirectly, much of the increasingly heavy burden of providing for the aged.98

Phrases such as 'pensions burden' and 'care burden' have become a media cliché, feeding into stereotypes of older people simply being passive and dependent. We will explore the impact of this on older people in chapter 3. Another consequence of the particular policy focus on the costs posed by the retirement of the baby boomer generation has been a heightened interest in narratives of intergenerational conflict, which present baby boomers as selfish and greedy.

# A clash of the generations?

We are all familiar with a media narrative that describes ageing in terms of the burdens and problems that it causes for younger generations. This analysis, which paints inter-generational issues as a 'zero-sum game', has been supported by a wave of research and polemic, especially during and in the aftermath of the financial crisis. And the narrative of inter-generational conflict and competition is not without its heavyweight supporters – David Willetts' book *The Pinch* has given much intellectual gravitas to the argument:

The boomers, roughly those born between 1945 and 1965, have done and continue to do great things but now the bills are coming in; and it is the younger generation who will pay them. We have a good idea of what at least some of these future costs are – the cost of climate change, the cost of investing in the infrastructure our economy will need if we are to prosper, the cost of paying pensions when the big boomer cohort retires, on top of the cost of servicing the debt the government has built up. The charge is that the boomers have been guilty of a monumental failure to protect the interests of future generations. 99

The charge is that baby boomers have robbed their children, and grandchildren, of resources through their rapacious greed for public services and public money. There may be some truth to the argument that baby boomers have demanded, and received, a disproportionate level of support and resources. But this argument ignores the very real risks and disadvantages that being part of such a large cohort has produced for baby boomers themselves. This is a very large generation that has been forced to compete with one another, as well as younger people, for fixed and finite resources. The rising demand on social care services, in combination with imminent public sector funding cuts, will put many older people at greater risk of receiving no care at all. What is more, baby boomers are also more likely than previous generations to enter retirement alone and without familial support networks.

A focus on inequality between the generations serves to obscure the problem of inequality *within* generations. Willetts may be right that baby boomers didn't sufficiently provide for

their children, but they have also failed to provide for each other, their parents and their peers.

There is little evidence to support the 'selfish generation' thesis that Willetts and others have promoted. In fact there is strong evidence that baby boomers often make considerable personal sacrifices in order to improve the welfare of their children and their grandchildren. For example, a third of working mothers rely on their parents for childcare while those grandparents who provide free childcare are most likely to report experiencing financial difficulties – often because they are using their time to support the working lives of their children and the welfare of their grandchildren.<sup>100</sup>

What is true of the sacrifices made in individual families is also borne out by the attitudes of older people to broader sociological and political trade-offs. Over 65s are less likely to support plans to cut education funding than young people – only 20 per cent those aged 65 and over would cut education spending compared with almost a third of 16–24-year-olds.<sup>101</sup>

Narratives focusing on intergenerational inequality are also often guilty of over-simplification of immensely complex and multi-faceted policy dilemmas. The 2010 book Jilted Generation, for example, complains that 'while the young are experiencing the highest unemployment rates in modern British history, our parents' generation are actually doing better than when the recession began'. 102 In the same breath as complaining that those aged over 60 were more likely to be in work than in previous years, the authors also argue that when baby boomers retire, 'Not only will there be more pensioners and a higher pension bill, there will also be fewer people – that's us – to help pay for it.'103 This unwittingly points to considerable difficulty with the argument that whatever older generations get must come at the sacrifice of younger people – it is less than clear what baby boomers are supposed to do differently. This analysis cannot provide us with answers to the problem of reconciling the employment interests of older and younger people; it serves only to depict these issues as necessarily combative. In their decisions about work and retirement, older people are apparently damned if they do and damned if they don't by a narrative that paints

them as the problem and fails to engage with wider labour market changes that have arguably been the root cause of youth unemployment.

The good news is that - despite the deluge of comment and analysis blaming baby boomers for the welfare and workplace squeeze - intergenerational generosity cuts both ways. At a recent young people's convention run by Demos, we asked people aged between 16 and 18 to make trade-offs and recommendations for reducing the government deficit. The results showed an overwhelming level of support among younger people for older people's universal benefits. When asked to make specific trade-offs between areas of spending, young people voted to prioritise universal benefits for poor older people over those for children in low-income families. Polling for this research also found that only 11 per cent of young people would choose to reduce the budget deficit by cutting spending on pensions.<sup>104</sup> Research consistently suggests that the intergenerational contract is alive and well and that there is neither a slackening of young people's commitment to provide for older generations nor a desire among older people to restrict services and choices for the young in order to pay for their own needs.

# Policy aims and responses

Despite the inadequacy of the 'selfish generation' critique and the associated conflict-based approaches to resolving resource and service squeezes, this analysis has nonetheless informed policy interventions from both the previous and present administrations. A number of new initiatives have emerged over the past decade – some of which are explicitly aimed at reducing the 'burden' of older people on the state. Many of these interventions have proved positive for older people – promoting economic activity, self-sufficiency and independence. But nonetheless, the fundamental mind-set governing policy approaches to older people as a 'costly problem' has continued to guide decision making, underpinning the narrative of government action. The interventions and policy initiatives laid out below are a mixed bag; some have achieved great success,

but many of them are built on a deficit-focused, conflict-based perspective. In the long term, a holistic approach that builds on the considerable inter-generational goodwill and sense of mutual responsibility that exists is needed in order to resolve problems of resource at both ends of the life cycle.

Below we lay out in summary how some of these challenges have been translated into new demands and fresh strains on public services – and how the Government has sought to meet them.

#### Working in later life

To address the challenge of funding a rapidly increasing number of state and public sector pensions, a significant focus of government policy has been to encourage and support more people to stay in work for longer. To promote this aim, the 2006 Employment Equality (Age) Regulations outlawed unjustifiable age discrimination in the workplace, including in recruitment, training, promotion and dismissal. This legislation made it illegal for employers to enforce retirement ages below the age of 65. At the same time, legislative changes were also introduced to make it possible for people to be paid an occupational pension while still working for the same employer.<sup>105</sup> However, the 2006 legislation also put in place a default retirement age of 65, which employers could enforce if they wished. The Coalition's programme for government made a commitment to phase out the default retirement age to protect older workers from forced retirement,106 subject to consultation, and in January 2011 it confirmed that the default retirement age will be phased out over a six-month period from April 2011.107

Successive pieces of legislation have been passed to raise the state pension age to a more sustainable level in relation to increasing life expectancies – leading to the present Coalition Government's proposal to raise the state pension age for men to 66 by 2020, with women's state pension age reaching 65 by November 2018.  $^{108}$  To support this change and help ensure that it is not too burdensome, the Coalition Government has made a commitment to investigate how the extension of flexible working

opportunities for older people can be supported in legislation. The ELSA 2008/09 survey found that around 10 per cent of respondents chose to move from full-time work to part-time work as they approached retirement. Flexible working opportunities could be particularly important to older people who are also carers; a recent survey by the NHS found that flexibility in working hours would be the most important thing for carers who wanted to work (68 per cent), while 34 per cent felt that working from home would help them.

The fact that increases in life expectancy have not been shared equally across the population is a particularly pertinent social justice issue in relation to increases in the state pension age, which remains to be addressed. As a result of increases to the state pension age, groups with a lower life expectancy (including those from low-income backgrounds, those with manual occupations and those who live in deprived areas) will be required to work longer before they receive a state pension, but are less likely to experience the benefits of longer retirement.<sup>112</sup> Poor health will also be a significant barrier to some people's ability to continue to participate in the workforce at older ages; the ELSA study found that people with a long-standing illness are over 50 per cent more likely to be retired than people without.<sup>113</sup> An increasingly important policy focus will therefore be both the prevention of poor health, and the identification of measures to support people with poor health and disabilities to remain in the workforce.

#### Preventing poor health

Preventative intervention – to support healthy older people to reduce risks of ill-health and to prevent further complications in those who have faced health problems – has become increasingly important to our approach to ageing policy. There are a number of reasons for this emerging policy emphasis.

First, proposals to increase the state pension age have put a spotlight on the social justice issue of inequalities in health and life expectancy. The independent review of health inequalities conducted by Michael Marmot for the Labour Government in

2010 argued that there would be economic as well as social benefits to tackling health inequalities:

If society wishes to have a healthy population, working until 68 years, it is essential to take action to both raise the general level of health and flatten the social gradient.<sup>114</sup>

If we fail to address these health inequalities, then it will be difficult to achieve the intended fiscal benefits of raising the state pension age: 'The effect would be to shift people off pension on to disability benefits – a dubious social advance that would save no money.'<sup>115</sup> The plans of the Coalition Government to establish new statutory public health responsibilities for local authorities, with each council required to appoint a new director of public health, and establish a local statutory health and well-being board, are therefore an important development.<sup>116</sup>

Second, since the Labour Government's 2007 adult social care strategy 'Putting People First', there has been a strong emphasis in adult social care on the importance of prevention and early intervention. The Partnerships for Older People Projects (POPP) piloted and evaluated by the Department of Health between 2006 and 2009 demonstrated that preventative services can be more effective in supporting health, well-being and independence for older people, while also generating costsavings by delaying or preventing the need for more intensive or institutional care. The Louis strategy document A Vision for Adult Social Care, the Coalition Government has outlined a clear commitment to building on these principles and embedding a more preventative approach to health and social care into local services. Prevention is one of six themes in this strategy:

All of us want to maintain independence and good health throughout our lives. We also know that a considerable proportion of care needs can be avoided or significantly reduced if we intervene earlier. It is always far better to prevent or postpone dependency than deal with the consequences. 118

However, as we will explore below, while there is now clear evidence of the effectiveness of prevention work, considerable

barriers remain in funding this work at a local level, which will continue to impede progress for the foreseeable future if this problem is not addressed.

#### **Tackling pensioner poverty**

Just as health inequalities must be addressed through health promotion activities throughout the life course, so pensioner poverty and income inequalities among pensioners cannot be tackled only through a focus on retirement. There are growing inequalities between those who are retired, which can be attributed to different levels of opportunity and take-up of state and private pension accumulation. People in lower-income occupations, especially women, some ethnic minority groups and people with disabilities, are particularly at risk of having low retirement incomes. Therefore, to address this problem, people must be given more support and encouragement throughout their working lives to save for their retirement.

The Labour Government began a process to address these inequalities – through the Pensions Act 2008 and the mandate for a National Employment Savings Trust (NEST) to be set up – and these measures are being continued and accelerated by the Coalition. The aim is to have an established, flexible and low-cost pension scheme available to all employees by October 2012.

These measures will play an important role in improving occupational pension coverage for low-income workers. However, there is still considerable work to be done to support and encourage more people to save for their retirement throughout their lives, to help ensure they are financially resilient and able to realise their aspirations for their retirement. Some of the most important barriers that will need to be overcome are attitudinal. As data from the 2009 DWP survey cited in chapter 1 have shown, 30 per cent of respondents agreed that they prioritise a good standard of living today over saving for their retirement. 119 The same survey also uncovered considerable confusion and a lack of knowledge about when people would be eligible to receive their state pension, with only 30 per cent of men and 17 per cent of women knowing the correct age. 120

Therefore better provision of information, employee education and determined efforts to encourage future-orientated financial behaviour will also have an important role in helping people to plan ahead effectively for their retirement.

#### Care and support

The number of baby boomers who are childless and/or retiring without a partner has implications for the availability of informal care, and for older people's well-being in retirement. The recent introduction of personalisation and personal budgets in social care services is an attempt to improve the availability of informal care and create more opportunities for informal networks of support.

To supplement paid-for care, schemes that take a Big Society approach to encouraging reciprocity and mutual support among older people, and voluntary support from other members of the community, will be vital and are of particular interest to policy makers. The Coalition Government's 2010 adult social care strategy refers to the importance of 'building community capacity' and 'unlocking the potential of local support networks to reduce isolation and vulnerability' and several examples of successful schemes are cited including the scheme Village Agents in Gloucester and Southwark Circle in south London.<sup>121</sup>

#### Active ageing

Cutting across these many policy areas, the concepts of 'active ageing' and 'well-being' have also become increasingly influential in the development of ageing policy in recent years. These concepts take a resilience-based approach rather than a deficit-based approach to the ageing process – focusing on how older people's lives can continue to be valuable and enriching throughout the ageing process. The Labour Government's 2005 policy document *Opportunity Age* dedicated one of its five chapters to 'active ageing', demonstrating the extent to which this concept had gained currency. <sup>122</sup> Active ageing is also an important theme in the Coalition Government's recently

published public health white paper *Healthy Lives*, *Healthy People*. <sup>123</sup> Central to an 'active ageing' agenda is a commitment to enable older people to be socially included, take an active role in community life and participate in life-enhancing education, leisure and cultural activities.

The concept of well-being has also become increasingly central to ageing policy in recent years. Initially championed by Lord Layard as a more accurate measure of the nation's welfare than GDP, the promotion of well-being is now accepted by policy makers and the public to be an important focus for government policy.<sup>124</sup> It is the centrepiece of David Cameron's attempts to change the way in which our society measures its success. Whereas health or financial security would previously have been the primary focus, improving older people's well-being can now be viewed as the overarching aim of all ageing policy and this rhetoric is now ubiquitous in areas as diverse as employment policy, mental health and social care.<sup>125</sup>

#### The current financial climate

The current economic climate – in which money is less available and worth less in people's pockets – will impact disproportionately highly on low income families. The combination of inflation and increased VAT, in particular, will prove problematic for the well-being of pensioners.

Pensioners tend to be over-represented among those on a low income. In part this is because older people's incomes tend to drop significantly as they enter retirement, pushing their overall incomes down. <sup>126</sup> As a result of their relative lack of income older people tend to spend a larger proportion of their income on items such as fuel and food, so price inflation hits households headed by retired people harder than other groups. <sup>127</sup> It is also the case that inflation tends to affect the 50–64-year-old age group more than the UK as a whole, with real incomes in this age group declining by 1.4 per cent in 2010. <sup>128</sup> A survey by Aviva of people aged 55+ in 2010 found that the rising cost of living was the greatest fear for people in the

three age groups 55–64, 65–74 and 75+, with 74 per cent mentioning this as a worry.<sup>129</sup>

Those who are relying on savings to fund their retirement have also been affected by low interest rates. In the Aviva survey retired people said that they drew around 11 per cent of their income from investments and savings. The collapse in interest rates between 2008 and 2009 will have significantly reduced people's disposable income. For example, in January 2000, savings of £1,590 would have provided £41 interest per month, but by December 2009 this figure had gone down to £3. 130 Research conducted by Saga in 2010 found that falling income from savings worried more than half (54 per cent) of respondents aged over 50. 131

# **Public spending cuts**

The June 2010 budget and the October 2010 comprehensive spending review have made it clear that local authorities will be operating under considerable financial constraints over the next five years, with cuts to their budgets of 28 per cent in real terms over the four years from 2010/11 to 2014/15.<sup>132</sup> This will have considerable implications for the ability of local authorities to sustain their momentum in delivering some of the positive policy developments outlined above.

Analysis conducted in 2010 to explore the impact of the anticipated spending cuts on public services found that families with children and pensioners would be worst hit by cuts to public services. This was because households headed by pensioners tend to have lower incomes than other household types, so the value of services lost as a result of cuts is higher as a proportion of their household income. This research estimated that the value of services no longer available to older people in the 75+ age group would be approximately £1,200 per year, which would equate to around 7.2 per cent of net household income. Cuts to other services such as libraries and leisure centres will affect all age groups, but are likely to have a disproportionately high impact on pensioners relative to their income, especially if

'pensioners had to replace the services lost by purchasing services out of their own income'. 135

Because of these funding constraints, there are serious questions over the capacity of adult social care departments to meet central government policy objectives of increased personalisation and preventative action into changes in how social care is delivered on the ground. The spending review announced £2 billion of additional funding for social care to compensate for the cuts, with £1 billion of this to be paid through the NHS. 136 However, concerns have been raised that this additional funding is not ring-fenced, therefore local authorities may allocate the money to other priorities rather than investing in prevention work. 137

# Older people's positive contribution

The answer to many of these challenges will have to lie in the behaviour, and contributions, of older people themselves. It is well evidenced that healthier and more active lifestyles and social and cultural engagement can reduce the risk of ill health, while the high estimated costs of social care provision could potentially be mitigated by older people taking a more active role in self-help and mutual support activities. A change of mind-set is required to recognise and harness the positive contributions that older people can make to improving their own lives and the lives of others more effectively.

Research by the WRVS found that contrary to public perceptions, people aged over 65 make a positive net contribution to society, estimated to be worth £40 billion in 2010 once the costs of pensions, welfare and health services have been deducted. This calculation included £45 billion per year in tax revenues, £76 billion per year in spending power, £34 billion through the provision of social care, £10 billion in volunteering and £10 billion in cash transfers to family members and donations to charities. The research estimates that the net contributions made by older people will increase as baby boomers retire, reaching £77 billion by 2030. The the energy and resources of retirees are harnessed more effectively, an even

higher value could potentially be generated from the positive activities of baby boomers and older generations.

# Challenges ahead

There are two main challenges in the coming years related to ageing policy. First, alongside the positive discourse in ageing policy, which since the early twentieth century has focused on taking action to improve the lives of older people, there have also run counter-narratives that have portrayed the increasing costs associated with an ageing society as an intolerable burden, and questioned the value of investing in older people's lives, as opposed to other social groups such as children and young people. These harmful counter-narratives must be overcome if we are to ensure that services for older people are to be improved, while catering to the growing proportion of older people in our society. Recognising and making better use of the contributions that older people have to make to our society will be an important first step.

Second, many of the opportunities for cost efficiencies can be found in longer-term preventative policies across a range of areas, including improving public health, supporting people to plan ahead for their retirement and tackling health and pensions inequalities, and social isolation. This will require a concerted effort across many areas including public health, education and pensions, especially before people reach old age. We believe the way to tackle these challenges is through a radical shift in social attitudes. It is important to stop conceptualising ageing as a problem to be solved, but rather recognise that ageing can be a positive experience, bringing new challenges and interests, and that the problems some people experience in old age, such as poor health, depression or social isolation, are shared by all age groups and can often be prevented or addressed if the right action is taken early enough.

To address these challenges effectively, older people's voices need to be put at the centre of policy discussions. The findings from our research with a diverse group of older people, set out below, will propose how these challenges can be met.

# Section 2 Research findings

# 3 Older people's experiences of ageing

It was of course generally known that Miss Ivory had undergone a serious operation, but the dress she was wearing today – a rather bright hyacinth blue courtelle – was several sizes too big for her skinny figure, so that very little of her shape was visible.... Ageing, slightly mad and on the threshold of retirement, it was an uneasy combination and it was no wonder that people shied away from her or made only the most perfunctory remarks. It was difficult to imagine what her retirement would be like – impossible and rather gruesome to speculate on it.

Barbara Pym, Quartet in Autumn

Ageing is constantly discussed in public policy and the media as a financial burden or a social problem. Studies of ageing that focus on the most disadvantaged tend to highlight images of older people as vulnerable and socially isolated, while at the other end of the spectrum, the next generation of retirees, baby boomers, are represented in the media as wealthy globetrotters who are selfishly monopolising public resources.

To dig beneath these over-simplistic narratives, and find out more about how these representations influence individual people's attitudes towards ageing, we asked our volunteer reading group participants and Mass Observation respondents to reflect on their experiences of ageing and record their responses in diaries.

#### How old is old?

The first thing that struck us was that there was very little consensus on when 'ageing' starts or 'old age' begins. Research for the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) between 2004 and 2008 to explore attitudes to age in Britain, also found this to be the case. This study found that on average

participants believed old age started at 63 years, but there was substantial variation in people's perceptions depending on their own age. Study participants aged under 50 believed that old age started earlier, at a mean average age of 60.3, while participants aged over 50 thought that old age started at a mean average age of 64.9 years. Those who were aged over 80 judged old age as starting much later, with 68 per cent saying that old age starts at 70.<sup>141</sup> This indicates that 'old age' is very much a relative concept that people judge in relation to their own age and experiences, rather than an objective social category. As one of our Mass Observation respondents put it, 'Categorising age depends on where you are standing, perhaps slightly unsteadily.'

Our own research participants varied considerably in their willingness to apply these labels to themselves. One man who took part in the Mass Observation study in 2006 willingly described himself as old:

At 85 I can be nothing other than 'old'. When I retired at 62 I considered myself as 'late middle-aged' which I could justify by my activities at that time – voluntary work, WEA classes, learning to sail, buying a boat and doing a lot of sailing. By 75 I did not mind being called elderly; if I'm here in 5 years time I shall be 'very old'.... Age became important only because physical strength declined and I was less able to pull my weight in a mixed crew on a larger boat. I feel flattered when people occasionally express surprise that I am as old as 85!

For this man, his self-perception of his age was closely tied to the physical experience of ageing, with the onset of physical decline acting as a trigger for beginning to feel old. A female 75-year-old Mass Observation participant also particularly linked her perceptions of age to the physical experience of ageing, observing: 'It is health that matters; I didn't feel old until I began to lose my sight. Other respondents will certainly cite equally disabling health problems.'

Those who were physically fit and healthy were more likely to report that they did not feel old, even if they knew that their chronological age made it likely that they would be perceived in this way. A female 85-year-old respondent to the 2006 Mass Observation directive commented:

There is no doubt that I'm OLD. I'm finding it quite difficult to imagine my own children as older, but of course this is old age looking back and seeing the family as young. As life seems to be elongating, I can see that being 50/60/70 is going to be considered quite different for this group, as their health and strength allows all the activities to be prolonged. As a result of my late development I find it alarming that I can't seem to feel old! This may be because I was beginning to wake up when I was 40. So far, mentally, I feel quite alert and am able to see, walk and hear. This is a huge benefit as I notice how some of my contemporaries are less blessed... So every single day is a blessing for me, deeply valued.

#### Don't call me 'old'

Many of our volunteers showed a powerful resistance towards the idea of considering themselves as 'older' or 'ageing'. A woman in her 70s from the Highgate 1 group confirmed that 'it is others who are old not ourselves... though I must be very different in nearly every way I, in fact, still feel 'me', ie not old but timeless and ageless'. A woman in her 60s from the Banstead group observed that 'part of the ageing process is that we don't see it in ourselves'. For some, ageing is something that is always on the horizon, rather than imminent; as another volunteer said, 'I think of the elderly as someone 20 years older than me.' A man in his 70s from the South East London volunteer reading group rejected attempts to categorise people by their age group altogether, insisting, 'I am an individual and I wish to be treated as an individual. I suspect all older people feel the same.'

Analysis of people's responses to the 1992 and 2006 Mass Observation directives found that at both points in time many people exhibited a reluctance to classifying themselves as 'old', or even as 'middle aged', making comments such as 'I am now 76 years of age and would class my body as elderly but my mind as young middle aged' (1992) or 'I am 71 now, feel fine, and can do everything I could do at 30 – but sometimes a bit slower! In many young people's minds, I will be well and truly over the hill,

ancient, but when one gets to this age in pretty good health, it really does not feel old' (2006). Between 1992 and 2006 it was possible to clearly observe how respondents' perceptions of the threshold of 'old age' were being pushed back. While in 1992 a number of respondents who were in their 60s were willing to categorise themselves as 'old', by 2006 virtually no one considered being in their 60s as old and even people in their 70s were increasingly likely to think of themselves as 'middle-aged'.

Among the Mass Observation respondents reluctance to identify with labels such as 'pensioner', 'ageing' and 'elderly' was clearly associated with the discriminatory behaviours and social attitudes that the majority perceived to be directed at older people. Unsurprisingly, those who were at the younger end of the age spectrum were particularly likely to resent being referred to as 'older' or 'elderly'. One 63-year-old respondent to the 2006 Mass Observation directive, a nurse from Basingstoke, summed up the problem that categories such as 'pensioner' or 'older people' create a misleading sense of homogeneity:

The use of the term 'pensioner' has long been a hobby horse of mine particularly as I worked for so many years with older persons. The media, the government, social services and younger people in general lose sight of the fact that 'pensioners' range from 60-year-old ladies to men and women of 100+. The 60-year-olds could be the grandchildren of those at the top end of the age range!! No one would consider a 30-year-old in the same age group as a 70-year-old and yet people persist in considering that everyone over 60 is in the same age group!!

Making a similar point, a man who took part in the Mass Observation study in 1992 aged 62 rejected the inclusion of his age group in the category 'elderly', which he felt to be both inappropriately premature and unpleasantly value-laden:

Elderly? I frequently read of people in my own age group being described as elderly. It irritates me immensely. I just do not think of myself in such a fashion, getting on a bit maybe, elderly, never! The word suggests one is past it, over the hill just waiting to kick the bucket. There is still plenty of life left in me. Old? Well I suppose there does come a time, if we are lucky, when we

have to admit that we are over the hill. Perhaps we all know when that time has come, perhaps I might be able to accept it gracefully.

Another man, aged 73, who responded to the 2006 Mass Observation directive highlighted the fact that while he was willing to describe himself as old, this did not mean that he was willing to accept some of the other labels or associations that go with terms such as 'elderly':

Anyone older than me is very old, anyone younger is young. I think of myself as old, regularly reminded by my aching knees and back. I absolutely abhor the description elderly or senior citizen.

# Age discrimination and stereotyping

Ageism and social stereotyping were viewed as a significant problem by many of those who took part in the volunteer reading groups and the Mass Observation study. A woman in her 6os from the Highgate reading group commented that 'age discrimination is something we are all fighting against'. Another woman who was a member of the volunteer reading group in Camden Town observed that 'the social expectations of ageing are sometimes more damaging than actual ageing'.

To find out what these 'social expectations of ageing' were, DWP's study covering the years 2004–2008 asked people which age-related stereotypes they believed were related to 'older' people aged over 70 and 'younger' people aged under 30. It found that participants recognised a clear stereotype that younger people are more competent but less warm and friendly, and are more likely to attract envy than pity. By contrast, older people were thought to be stereotyped as relatively warm, moral and admirable, but as lacking competence and deserving of pity rather than envy. The study concluded that this suggested that older people were more likely to be subjected to types of prejudice that were experienced as being patronising than younger people. A research review conducted for this study also explored evidence of other negative effects that stereotyping could have for older people. They found that if older people

internalise negative stereotypes of ageing, they are more likely to experience health problems, more likely to dismiss their health problems as being age-related, and less likely to seek appropriate healthcare. 143 They also found evidence that 'negative stereotypes cause decreases in memory performance and more negative views of ageing'. 144

Comments made by a 73-year-old retired LGV driver in Basildon who responded to the 2006 Mass Observation directive showed personal experience of these ageist stereotypes that older people are not competent:

The old are seen as a 'bloody nuisance' particularly by the very young; even the middle aged don't seem to realise that their time is coming. Once we pass 65 we become stupid overnight, we don't need to sign our prescriptions, according to the chemist we might get confused. We can't draw our state pension without having it in cash from the post office. We definitely can't cope with electronics and the modern banking system. At least that is what the mass media keeps telling us. Good job we are old enough to know that the last thing to believe is the mass media.

One stereotype that has had significant traction in the media is that older people are more afraid of crime than younger age groups. For example, a survey of 4,000 older people conducted by Age Concern in 2003 found that half of those aged over 75 who were surveyed were too afraid to go out at night because of the risk of verbal abuse or being mugged.145 However, it is very likely that this dramatic result was influenced by the survey's question wording. Also, Age Concern's study did not put older people's fear of crime in the context of fear of crime among younger people, therefore it may have exaggerated perceptions of how the fear of crime specifically affects older people. Significantly, in our own study, which gave participants the opportunity to write about any issue that affected their experience of ageing, neither crime nor the fear of crime was mentioned at any point by participants. Recent British Crime Study data showed that people aged 75 plus were actually less likely to think that the fear of crime has a 'high' or 'moderate' impact on their quality of life than other age groups. 146

Moreover, regardless of whether people aged 75 plus are more or less afraid of crime than other age groups, we should be wary of attributing too much influence to age in isolation from other factors.

Findings from the British Crime Study have also shown that factors such as marital status (eg whether somebody is divorced or widowed), having a longstanding illness or disability, living in an urban or deprived area and regularly reading tabloid newspapers also have a strong influence on whether the fear of crime has a significant effect on an individual's quality of life. 147 As our research has shown, older people are a highly heterogeneous group, therefore we must be wary of studies that feed into or are modelled on stereotypes that over-emphasise the influence of age on people's experiences, without considering their other characteristics.

Such stereotypes must be challenged because unfounded perceptions that older people are automatically more vulnerable than other groups can have a powerful influence on how older people are perceived and treated. A participant in the 2009 Mass Observation study, a 79-year-old former local government officer, objected to the use of the word 'pensioner' as he felt that this came with stereotypical associations of vulnerability and mental decline, which did not reflect the real experiences of his own age group:

The word pensioner seems to suggest to people fragile and confused old people unable to cope any more. Yet most of my contemporaries are still sharp as a button. I suspect it might surprise researchers to discover how many of us have at some time had to come to the aid of adult offspring who have got themselves into a mess.

A woman in her 70s who took part in the Kingston reading group reflected on the potentially damaging influence of stereotypical representations of ageing in the novels that the group discussed:

I realised that I was resentful about the stereotyping of the characters as it produced very negative feelings in the reader. There was no attempt

to balance the stereotyping with positive qualities of ageing. Therefore in younger readers it was likely to reinforce prejudices about the old.

A man in his 80s from the Highgate reading group described a recent trip to the bank where he had felt patronised and dismissed by a member of staff who he felt had assumed that his physical slowness equated to mental slowness:

Does age render one anonymous or invisible? I don't find that to be the case. I find the problem to be more often a patronising attitude that might be called the 'poor old dears' syndrome. This leads to an unwillingness to listen seriously to what I say, and an attempt to carry out tasks for me, whether I wish it or not. This last is linked to impatience, since I am now slower than I was, particularly at manipulating coins and other small objects. The most recent example of this was in a branch bank, where my wife and I had gone to sort out a small savings account. The young woman... clearly wrote us off as incompetent. She ignored or dismissed our complaint, and overrode what we wanted to do.

A 70-year-old woman who responded to the winter 2009 Mass Observation directive felt that stereotypes about older people being incapable were beginning to affect her relationship with her family:

Discussion with family is interesting as our children are now starting to treat us as though we are not quite capable of looking after ourselves and a lot of my friends say the same. I know they are showing concern but they too have been brainwashed by the popular stereotypes.

However, it would be over-simplistic to assume that discriminatory assumptions about older people are only perpetrated by the young: one 61-year-old respondent to the 1992 Mass Observation directive admitted that she herself was guilty of perpetuating such stereotypes. Although she commented that 'I still "feel the same inside" as I did when I was 20', she admitted that her own reflex responses to other people were often unfairly reductive:

If I go into a room and all I see around me are grey heads, I tend to assume I'm in a gathering of the elderly – for one awful moment I stereotype the lot, forgetting, honestly, that I am among their number. If I'm driving behind somebody who doesn't know our moorland roads and they're dithering along, I see a grey head, and think 'Aha, a wrinkly Sunday driver' – extremely unjust.

The fact that people who might themselves be on the receiving end of discriminatory attitudes towards older people have themselves internalised these attitudes demonstrates the pervasiveness of ageist stereotypes.

## Discriminatory attitudes towards female ageing

A number of other comments made by women also highlighted the fact that an ageing appearance, indicated by grey hair or wrinkles, frequently provokes rude or dismissive behaviour. One study that explored how many women change their hair style or colour to dissociate themselves from negative stereotypes about ageing found that many women felt that greying hair has the effect of 'render[ing] older women socially and physically invisible'. <sup>148</sup> An anecdote reported by a woman in her 60s from the Camden Town reading group reflected this concern that women can become 'invisible' as they get older:

A friend related an experience to me of when she was in a queue with young people. She was passed by when her turn came; she felt that she was invisible because of her age. When she pointed out the situation there was no apology or appreciation of what had happened.

Another woman from the Camden Town reading group who was in her 70s reported an example of casual age stereotyping that her friend had recently been subjected to on the basis of her appearance: 'Friends and I were rather shocked to hear a waiter in a restaurant address one of our group, who had white hair, as "Grandma".'

This concern that age discrimination against women on the basis of their looks is relatively commonplace and therefore has

an aura of acceptability has recently been highlighted by Miriam O'Reilly's successful legal challenge to the BBC, in which an employment tribunal ruled that she was the victim of age discrimination when she was dismissed from her job as a presenter of *Countryfile* (although it was decided that she had not been subjected to sex discrimination). Ageist comments on O'Reilly's appearance included being asked if it was 'time for Botox' and being told to be 'careful with those wrinkles when high definition comes in'. As this example demonstrates, all too often, negative social stereotypes about older people can be perpetuated rather than challenged by coverage in the media.

A number of respondents to the Mass Observation study commented on the role that the media plays in promoting patronising or demeaning stereotypes of older people including a 78-year-old female respondent to the 2009 directive who complained:

One item that particularly irritates – the repeated advert for the advent of Digital TV. This depicts a group of old biddies gossiping about trivia, head nodding with inane grinning – intended to imply special help will be available when Digital hits their post code. What sort of damage is done by such misrepresentation?

Another 80-year-old Mass Observation respondent complained about a shortage of positive older characters in books and on television. The stereotypes of passive dependency and an inability to manage that frequently appeared on television did not reflect her own much more dynamic experience of ageing:

Not many characters are in their 80s! Those that are usually suffer from Alzheimer's and are a great burden to their children! Eg in the TV series Outnumbered the grandfather is portrayed as beginning to 'fail' and they are considering putting him in a 'home'. The general attitude is that pensioners are inactive whereas up here in the Lake District pensioners are climbing mountains, entering fell races, Scottish dancing etc.

# Positive experiences of ageing

While experiences of age discrimination were fairly widespread, a number of Mass Observation and reading groups participants also spoke about the positive aspects of ageing. One of the women who took part in the Mass Observation study said that, at 81, she didn't care about stereotypes:

I can't think of any examples of stereotypes that bother me. As an 81-yearold, that is obviously what I am, typecast or not. Maybe I might think differently if I was a lot younger. That is the benefit of being old, not caring too much!

For one of the women who took part in the Tower Hamlets volunteer reading group, the experience of becoming 'an invisible oldie' had brought a welcome release from unwanted attention and self-consciousness:

Men no longer relate to you because of your body but as a person, and therefore you can be yourself. You can talk to people in pubs without giving the impression that you are trying to pull. You can shout at people in buses, etc, for doing things like putting their feet on seats – although they tend not to take any notice.

Another volunteer felt that physical ageing had been accompanied by a greater sense of contentment that was missing earlier in life:

We talked about cosmetic surgery, very prevalent among the American rich. Nobody present yearned to have this treatment, although we all make minor adjustments to our appearances. Everybody was quite happy with their ageing and imperfect features – unlike younger people who are constantly worrying about being too fat, too this or that.

The greater self-acceptance that this woman describes as being linked to the ageing process can be viewed as one of the potential rewards of ageing. A 71-year-old woman who responded to the 1992 Mass Observation directive also highlighted the fact that 'old age' had brought her greater confidence:

Old age for me is not so bad. The losses are linked with the 'if only' syndrome: why wasn't I mature at 30, why wasn't I brave enough to develop independence? The gains are a gradual acceptance of the losses and huge gratitude for a wonderful family for whom I have now no personal responsibility. The greatest gain is the result of a long and painful assessment of my own life which brings a sort of serenity which I missed when young. Except that I'm becoming a bit arthritic, this is my favourite age—confidence in oneself is beyond price and that includes financial security. Actually being able to walk, to move, is a blessing.

A 62-year-old respondent to the 1992 Mass Observation directive explained that growing older had given him more freedom at work:

As I got older I was happy to find that I did not need to be so subservient to those who had power over me. I'm happy to be free of the need to compete without, so far, having to pay much of a price. My age is not a burden to me yet.

A 59-year-old man who responded to the same directive reflected:

With age comes experience. You realise that 'you've heard it before' and it did not work then! It also makes you realise that the young must learn by experience. You can remember your elders telling you but you still had to find it out for yourself. Now you tell the young, but realise probably as your elders did, that it is more in hope than in anticipation.

While this man recognises that young people must learn life lessons for themselves, he clearly appreciates the experience that he has earned as a positive outcome of ageing. A 75-year-old male respondent to the 2006 Mass Observation directive also appreciated the experience that came with age, and explained that old age had brought him contentment:

I drive a 1.3 car that is now ten years old and generally speaking I am utterly content with my lot because I have long accepted the fact that I have

everything that old age can hope for. Peace, quiet, comfort, to name but three essentials... the best thing about old age is that it brings wisdom – the ability to look back and learn from one's own life.

These reflections, which situate the experience of ageing in the context of previous life experiences, recognise that the wisdom and experience of later life can offer a release from the anxieties of youth (such as self-consciousness, lack of confidence and inexperience). Policy discourse that automatically problematises ageing therefore fails to recognise that for many people, ageing and old age can be positive experiences.

# Changing attitudes to ageing

According to the vast majority of respondents who took part in our study there has recently been a significant attitudinal shift among older people and especially among the 'baby-boomer' generation, who are unwilling to relinquish middle aged status and do not *feel* 'old'. A woman in her 60s from the Highgate 2 group observed that 'they say 60 is the new 40!', while a woman in her 70s in the Tower Hamlets group commented, 'The baby-boomers have arrived – perhaps we will be less fixed in our social attitudes as a result.' A woman in her 60s from the Camden Town group pondered,

But what is 'old age' – when does it start? I don't feel old at 62 – 60 is the new 40 after all – but in my parents' generation once you were in your 60s you were considered old.

A study between 2005 and 2007 found that baby boomers (aged in their 50s and early 60s at the time of the study) 'feel younger in themselves than their actual age by approximately 12 years'. 149

A woman in the Tower Hamlets reading group observed that these changes to how ageing is perceived have led to a partial relaxation in expectations about how older people should dress and behave: Certainly, old people (even more than 'young people' and other such categories) suffer from being categorised, dismissed, ignored, judged. But I think that this is less, somewhat less, of a problem than it was. We are no longer expected to dress, do our hair, even behave in a certain way. People are rarely now sneered at for being 'mutton dressed up as lamb' or expected to have their hair 'cut and permed' (as my mother frequently commented) at the age of 50+.

This change in attitudes to ageing and increasing reluctance to identify as 'old' is driving new conceptions of retirement that centre on leisure, independence and adventurousness rather than dependence and vulnerability. As Saga has previously observed:

It is blindingly obvious that there is enormous difference between the 'seniors' of yesteryear and people of the same age today. Many older people are now more active, enjoy better health, and have a radically different attitude to age... Earlier generations conformed to expectation, adopting the retirement uniform of pipe and slippers or twin-set and pearls, but their descendants are as likely to buy a Harley, take a gap year, or head to Glastonbury. 150

One Mass Observation respondent, a retired plumber from Birmingham of 72, particularly commented on this noticeable change in behaviour and attitudes:

Thinking about ageing has changed; people have a more active social life these days to a more advanced age than 20 or so years ago. Both sexes of 65+ rambling six miles or more, climbing styles, tea dances, bridge classes etc. Years ago one thought about retiring as doing a bit of gardening and taking to an armchair.

Many of the reading group participants also highlighted the fact that retirement was increasingly becoming something that could be looked forward to as a phase of personal fulfilment, self-development and active citizenship. For a start, every one of our research participants volunteered their time to contribute to this project, either through the Mass Observation study or the volunteer reading groups. We will explore the many ways in which older people contribute to society in more detail in chapter 7.

# Policy responses to ageing

While volunteer reading group participants recognised the gains in health and life expectancy that many of them were benefiting from, some felt resentful towards policy responses that were seen to be overly interventionist in their attempts to engineer certain 'positive' behaviours and did not recognise the widely varying individual circumstances, health and attitudes of older people.

First, local authorities' attempts to intervene early and encourage older people to adopt a proactive approach to ageing can be perceived as patronising and unnecessarily interventionist by those who do not yet consider themselves to be old. A 67-year-old Mass Observation respondent from Darlington complained:

I do resent the way our local council seems to think that anyone over 50 needs jollying along to stay fit, eat properly and generally look after themselves. After all, at 50 I had another 15 years employment ahead of me and even now, at 67, I hope I don't fit its view of my 'age group' for which it organises 'gentle' keep fit, tea dances in the market place and discussions on how to 'manage'.

Second, a number of volunteer reading group participants argued that a blanket increase in the state pension age to 68 – thus revising the conception of old age *upwards* – was too indiscriminate and would present problems for those whose jobs were particularly physically and emotionally demanding, leading to exhaustion at a younger age. One woman in her 60s from the Banstead volunteer reading group responded to a discussion of the changes to the state pension age with sarcasm, predicting that '60 is the new 50 and the government expects us to work to 70 before we get our state retirement pension'. Overall, it was felt that policy approaches to ageing are unnecessarily prescriptive and do not give older people sufficient flexibility to shape their own lives.

There was also considerable resentment of the policy narratives that have been employed to explain and justify increases to the state pension age, as one voiced by one of the respondents to the 2009 directive:

As a pensioner I am certainly sick of the portrayal of my age group by government reports and news... My vision is too poor for me to follow drama, but I watch news and documentaries. I am sick of the habitual representation of my group – passive, dependent, vulnerable, scroungers, a financial burden, ill, demented, a drain on the public purse, isolated, vulnerable, an escalating problem etc.

This suggests that the significant political focus on the increasing cost of funding pensions and care for older people has fed into pre-existing stereotypes of older people as a burden on younger generations, leading to a media discourse that can be carelessly ageist and dominated by disproportionately negative conceptions of ageing. Comments made by a woman in her 70s from the Kingston reading group demonstrate the pervasive influence of such narratives: 'Where is the money to come from to support the growing numbers of aged? Where resources are limited surely the needs of the young must take precedence.' This woman's anxieties reflect the dominance of public narratives representing older people as an unaffordable burden, and fears that young people are going to lose out as a result of the social costs of old age. However, her opinion that 'the needs of the young must take precedence' illustrates the strength of many older people's commitment to supporting younger generations, challenging the 'intergenerational conflict' thesis discussed above.

# Apathy and disengagement from policy

Overall, a number of remarks made by our research participants indicated that the very negative narratives about our ageing society that are often employed in public discourse are contributing to many older people feeling demoralised and disengaged from the politics and the policy-making process. A number of the Mass Observation respondents and volunteer reading group

participants also expressed irritation with the way that they were targeted by policy makers on the basis of their age, while a 78-year-old Mass Observation respondent from West Sussex challenged the effectiveness of public policy on issues about ageing: 'We all know how young or old we feel, I can foresee no government policy that is going to change how we feel about, or behave towards each other.'

When, in 2009, we circulated the Labour Government strategy document *Building a Society for All Ages* to the volunteer reading groups for discussion alongside Jim Crace's *Arcadia*, there was a marked reluctance to engage with it at all.<sup>151</sup> In the reflective diaries kept by volunteers, less than 5 per cent of participants chose to refer to it. The volunteers' general disinclination to take this government paper seriously was striking, even on the rare occasion that it merited a mention. As a woman in her 70s from the Waterloo reading group commented:

I started reading the paper you've sent and went on until I felt my eyes beginning to glaze over... The paper is for a start not interesting. What is there in it which would make any reader think for instance 'Now there's a good workable idea, how do they propose, practically, to make it happen?' Nothing in it grabs the reader. It's socio-political fluff.

This emphasises the fact that the manner and process by which older people are engaged in policy discussions is important. By using novels that depict ageing as a stimulus for discussion, or encouraging older people to reflect on and write about their own experiences of ageing through the Mass Observation study, we were able to get beyond shallow discussions about ageing policy in the abstract and focus on people's real lived experience, the aspirations they have for their later life and the barriers and frustrations they feel in engaging with the system.

# Cross-cutting themes from our research

When we undertook in-depth analysis of the comments made by Mass Observation respondents and reading group volunteers in their diaries, four cross-cutting themes emerged that touch on all of the policy areas we will discuss in the following chapters.

These themes were:

- · independence and self-sufficiency vs intervention
- · personalisation vs stereotyping
- · universalism vs means-testing
- · a resistance to policy rhetoric

#### Independence and self-sufficiency vs intervention

The data collected for this research showed that older people want to be enabled rather than provided for. Our research participants wanted to make use of public services such as libraries, adult education, leisure facilities and other public spaces but many were wary of being patronised and some disliked being targeted to take part in specific 'older people's activities'. Participants emphasised the positive contribution that they and other older people make, as opposed to being passive recipients of services. Clearly all participants were engaged in volunteering, by nature of taking part in this research project, and additionally many invested a significant amount of time in providing care to parents, partners, friends and grandchildren.

Participants were particularly concerned about their financial security and the potential for their resources to be unexpectedly diminished through care costs in later life. This was part of their overwhelming commitment to their self-sufficiency and dread of one day being dependent on others or, worst or all, needing institutional care.

## Personalisation vs stereotyping

One of the strongest themes that emerged was that too many policies are based on arbitrary age categories and assumptions about what older people are like. Participants felt that policies need to be more flexible and recognise the same heterogeneity in older people as they do in other age groups. At worst, policies are felt to perpetuate negative social stereotypes about older

people and encourage discriminatory behaviour. The remarks made about age discrimination in the NHS were particularly worrying, with some participants feeling that their age led to them being treated like second class citizens. In the case of employment and pensions policy, participants wanted a more flexible system that would enable them to move through life phases at the right time for them.

#### Universalism vs means-testing

Participants did not necessarily support universal allowances, in fact in many cases they were quite opposed to measures such as the winter fuel payments, which they felt to be unnecessary for older people who are financially secure, and to perpetuate stereotypes that older people are vulnerable and dependent. Participants were generally hostile to one-size-fits-all provisions that do not recognise the heterogeneity of older people. However, while participants were sceptical about universalist approaches in general, free public transport concessions were regarded as an important exception to this rule, as this was thought to play an important if not vital role in enabling people in later life to remain socially engaged and active citizens.

#### A resistance to policy rhetoric

Our research revealed a widespread distrust of politicians and policy rhetoric among participants and some of the diaries conveyed a strong attitude of suspicion and even hostility towards political initiatives that target older people as a special group. It was clear that the use of negative narratives about ageing and older people to justify certain policy initiatives is provoking resentment and causing older people to disengage from the policy-making process. A more inclusive social policy is needed to promote active citizenship and social integration throughout life without consigning people to narrow age-based policy categories.

The next chapters will investigate these themes in the context of five key areas of ageing-related policy. We will draw

#### Older people's experiences of ageing

on the experiences, opinions and conversations that were reported by our research participants to put older people's voices at the heart of these policy discussions.

# 4 Work and finances

I think it might be best if you were to leave, don't you?... I think I can offer you a decent early retirement package... You're simply doing what so many of your colleagues are doing these days and taking advantage of this new window on life. I believe they call it the third age.

Caryl Phillips, A Distant Shore

# Working in later life

As discussed previously, there is currently an urgent drive among policy makers to identify solutions to the fiscal pressures posed by an ageing demographic. One of the main policy responses to this issue has been to legislate for phased increases to the state pension age for men and women. The 2007 Pensions Act legislated for the state pension age for men and women to increase from 65 to 68 between 2024 and 2046 and the Coalition Government has since published a proposal to bring forward the date at which the state pension will rise to 66 for men and women to 2020 (under the 1995 Pensions Act, women's state pension age will not reach 65 until 2020). 152

Several of the reading group volunteers questioned how practical these policies will prove to be, given people's varying levels of health and the different demands that are posed by different types of working environment. One volunteer from North London commented:

Raising the retirement age may seem to be a solution but it all depends what job you do. As a retired teacher, I think it is unrealistic to ask teachers to continue to teach full-time in a typical comprehensive school past the age of 60. As head of department leading a team of 10 I was working a 50–60-hour week when I retired and know I couldn't have carried on at that pace for much longer. All down to bureaucracy and government initiatives!

#### Work and finances

Incidentally, the excellent teacher who took over from me two years ago has resigned and is reputed to have been on the verge of a nervous breakdown.

As this woman suggests, and as our investigation of inequalities in health and life expectancy has shown, our 'one size fits all' approach to retirement policy has the potential to be discriminatory and counter-productive. It is those with the worst health and the lowest life expectancies who will suffer most from these increases in the state pension age. Therefore, the phased increase of the state pension age to 68 could simply mean that some people must live on disability benefits rather than drawing a pension. To mitigate these problems it will be essential that the government both takes action to improve general health and reduce health inequalities, and investigates how employment can be made more flexible to reflect the heterogeneity of older people's skills, personal responsibilities (eg caring roles) and health prospects.

# **Compulsory retirement**

While some people who are currently approaching retirement may be disadvantaged by the Coalition Government's proposed increases to the state pension age for men and woman, all stand to benefit from its commitment to phase out the default retirement age. There was universal support among our volunteer reading group participants for this policy, with some participants describing personal experiences of the negative impact of compulsory retirement. A woman in her 60s from the Highgate 2 group remarked: 'Most people face retirement with mixed feelings. However, to be "forced" into early retirement must be very humiliating and depressing.' A woman in her 70s from the Highgate 1 group commented that 'it is enforced retirement that produces isolation rather than ageing itself'. Another volunteer reading group participant who had been an academic reflected:

[When I approached 65]... there was a great deal of pressure from my family and friends to retire, but I supposed I felt that this would be admitting that I

was 'old'. I think many of us define ourselves by our work to a certain extent, and that must be even truer with an academic of considerable renown. I definitely would have resented it if I had been forced to retire at 65, even though I made the decision a few months later and have not regretted it.

Among respondents to the Mass Observation study, a 61-year-old man who was a retired civil servant from Lytham obliquely referred to age discrimination in current employment policy when he said, 'Age has become an oppressive device, used arbitrarily by the state and employers to slot people into fixed roles at fixed times in their lives and to eject them.' 153

Another Mass Observation respondent explained in detail how negatively the experience of enforced early retirement in his early 60s had impacted on his quality of life and self-esteem, mentioning this in his responses to both the 1992 and 2006 directives (see box 1). This highlights how important it is that such discriminatory practices should be banned, therefore abolition of the default retirement age will be an important step forward in older people's employment rights.

#### Box 1 Enforced early retirement case study

1992 Mass Observation Directive: white Anglo-Saxon male aged 62, retired local government transport officer, Sompting, West Sussex:

For me the fifties were the best years of my life. The mortgage was paid off, the children were grown up. My career had been reasonably successful, my wife was earning an income and we were able to enjoy ourselves and all the good things that had been beyond us when we were raising a family.

Now that I am in my sixties I have had to cope with an enforced early retirement, which I bitterly resented and unfortunately my wife's poor health.

I did resent it when the Arun District Council made me redundant. Specially when I knew it was a contrived

redundancy. I had embarrassed the politicians. I resented the suggestion that my working life was over. In fact I resented it so much I went out and took the first job that was offered to me, even though it was working for peanuts, just to prove I could get a job and hold it down. I did not mind so much when that job folded up twelve months later. Recently I have been recruited as a part time member of the sales team of an importer of municipal machinery. [The manager] thinks my local government experience has a value. That means something to me.

Now in my early sixties I am prematurely retired. Brought about by the antics of dogmatic and bigoted Tory politicians I bitterly resented my retirement. I saw it as a waste of my many years of training and experience.

2006 Mass Observation Directive: married Anglo-Saxon male aged 76, retired local government officer, Sompting, West Sussex:

For my wife and myself our golden decade did not last long into my sixties. As a service manager in local government it was inevitable that I would become a victim of Thatcherism. I did when I was sixty, and we lost two thirds of our income... For my wife and myself the sixties became a very stressful and expensive decade. A contrived redundancy, stressful divorces, distressed grandchildren, and a catalogue of health problems. My wife having to have a hysterectomy, followed by a deep vein thrombosis, and then four heart attacks ending with open heart by-pass surgery. She was too obstinate to die.

What do you think are the gains and losses of getting older? Not having to get up for work in the morning is the big gain. Though even that can take some getting used to. Some find it difficult to accept becoming yesterday's man. I did, though it was the circumstances of my becoming such that made it difficult for me to accept. My career in local government blossomed late in life and I was not ready to be put out to grass at the tender age of sixty. On the other hand,

provided one can live comfortably on a pension, it can be a relief to be out of the rat race. Not having to guard your back against those who would harm you in order to prosper their own ambitions. As I eventually concluded. Fortunately, I had hobbies, interests and problems to keep me occupied. Not least among them the matriarchal disasters of my two sons. The state of one's health is also an important consideration. Fortunately my health problems have responded to treatment. To a limited extent so have those of my wife. Though her health does restrict what we can and cannot do.

## Pensions, income and financial security

The volunteer reading group participants and respondents to the Mass Observation directives made a very broad range of comments about pensions entitlements, reflecting their varied experiences of the labour market, the different pensions policies that were in place during their working lives and their differing levels of income in retirement. One Mass Observation respondent reflected, 'In many ways this has been a privileged generation. We enjoyed the benefit of thirty years of full employment after the Second World War.' Another respondent, a retired plumber aged 72, also recognised the benefits of belonging to his generation, but indicated that he would have made different plans to prepare for retirement with the wisdom of retrospect:

My life has been as good as I could expect, a continuous run of employment, unlike the twenties and thirties when older members of my family were out of work, also having a house which we have paid for. Two things I would have done differently, opted for non-manual work, and chosen one with a pension at the end.

A divorced 75-year-old woman who responded to the 2006 Mass Observation directive explained that the pension she received was significantly lower than she had expected, a situation that was exacerbated by the additional costs associated with her sight loss:

Women in my generation qualified for small pensions only, having spent years at home with our children. After retirement when the time comes when a pension can no longer be supplemented by part-time earnings it withers away. I was shocked to learn that together my partner and myself are below the poverty line. Yet disability brings a mass of small extra expenses. There is of course no financial or practical help for the elderly blind, though people imagine there is some sort of benefit. 154

These observations highlight the difficulty of planning for income in retirement, when factors such as divorce and sight loss cannot be anticipated and career choices made when young may seem less prudent in retrospect.

Another point that became apparent is that aspirations for retirement are changing, with a knock-on effect on the level of income that is required to maintain the expected standard of living. A 79-year-old respondent to the 2009 Mass Observation study wrote scathingly about his friends who had not taken responsibility for saving for their retirement, but expected to enjoy perks such as holidays:

I cannot think of anyone in my large circle of relatives and friends who is really hard up. Though I know many of them did not bother to invest in their old age when they were young. Their 'poverty' is their own silly fault. Like the compulsive spender who spends in a most frivolous manner and is always complaining about his burden of debt. While another has expensive holidays in America then complains she cannot afford to heat her home in the winter. Funny thing about money, you can only spend it once!

As these accounts suggest, each individual's income in retirement is influenced by numerous factors that come into play throughout the life-course, including their labour market experiences during their adult life, the caring roles they may have undertaken, their attitudes to and capacity for saving, and unforeseeable life events (such as divorce or bereavement). Given the rapidly increasing demand on state pensions provision in future decades, it is unlikely that the state pension will be substantially increased in the near future. Therefore, if we

wish to increase people's financial resilience in later life, reduce the number of retired people living in poverty and boost the living standards and well-being of older people, policy will need to particularly focus on supporting and incentivising people to save more towards their retirement throughout their working lives.

#### Eligibility for a state pension

Increasing eligibility for the basic state pension is also essential in tackling pensioner poverty. The Labour Government took important steps to reduce the numbers of older people in poverty by introducing a minimum income guarantee in 2003 in the form of the means-tested pension credit. In 2009/10 this was worth £130 per week for a single person and £198.45 per week for a couple.155 This is in place as a safety net for those who are not eligible for a full basic state pension. However, it has two significant disadvantages. First, it is likely to act as a disincentive to save for those on a low income who are approaching retirement and have low pension entitlements, because savings over a certain level could make them ineligible for pension credit, leaving them with a lower income. 156 Second, Age UK estimates that about a third of people who are eligible to receive pension credit do not claim it, either because they are not aware of it or because they do not like the idea of taking government benefits. 157 While pension credit provides an important safety net for some, it is not therefore a wholly effective strategy for tackling pensioner poverty.

The longer-term government strategy for supporting people to sustain an acceptable standard of living in their retirement is to increase the proportion of people who are eligible for the basic state pension, aiming to reach near-universal coverage by 2050. The Pensions Act 2007, which legislated to raise the state pension age for men and women from 65 to 68 between 2024 and 2046, also made a number of other significant changes with the aim of significantly increasing eligibility for the basic state pension and the second state pension, which came into force in 2010:<sup>158</sup>

#### Work and finances

- allowing people who reach state pension age after April 2010 to receive a full basic state pension after only 30 qualifying years
- an end to the previous rule that people must have accrued at least a quarter of their qualifying years to get any basic state pension
- a new system of carer credits to enable people in caring roles to build up eligibility for the basic state pension and the second state pension
- an end to the rule that at least one of the qualifying years for basic state pension and second state pension must come through working and paying national insurance contributions, so that people who have never worked can qualify

These changes, which include the ability for people to claim retrospectively credits for years in which they undertook caring activities, will increase the numbers who are eligible for a basic state pension and second state pension. With these reforms, calculations by DWP estimate that 95 per cent of men and women will be eligible for a full basic state pension by 2050. However, those who have earned their credits for the basic state pension through self-employment or unemployment benefits (rather than employment or caring) will not have second state pension entitlements and are therefore more likely to be reliant on means-tested benefits if they have no other income. 159

Another important reform included in the 2007 legislation was the restoration of the link between the basic state pension and earnings, so that the basic state pension is uprated each year in line with average earnings rather than prices. It was legislated that this link must be restored by 2015 at the latest, but in the Coalition's programme for government this reform was brought forward to April 2011. They also added the 'triple guarantee' that pensions would be uprated by earnings, prices or 2.5 per cent each year, whichever is higher. <sup>160</sup> This will protect the value of the basic state pension in comparison with average earnings (which tend to rise more quickly than prices), making it less likely that people will find themselves in relative poverty in retirement.

#### Too much complexity in the pensions system

Although the reforms outlined above will be very important in increasing eligibility for a state pension and protecting the value of the state pension relative to earnings, some significant problems remain. Most importantly, the state pension system remains extremely complex and difficult to understand, which can make it difficult for people to plan for their retirement. As a recent report by the IFS commented:

The state support that a pensioner receives depends not only on how many years an individual worked for, but also how much they earned and – crucially – when they earned that income. 161

And a paper published by International Longevity Centre UK (ILC-UK) in 2010 observed:

Complexity in the pension and benefits system creates a barrier to saving and makes it difficult to provide advice. A key aim of Government policy should be to deliver a pension system which is simpler and less complex than the current one. 162

To add another complicating factor, the increases to women's state pension age which began in 2010 are calculated according to individuals' birthdays and therefore differ from person to person. The 2009 DWP study cited in chapter 1 found that out of 1,654 adults surveyed, only 30 per cent of men and 17 per cent of women are aware of the correct age at which they would start receiving their state pension. Most thought that they would receive their state pension earlier than was actually the case. 163

There is therefore a great need for simplification in the pensions system and better provision of information and advice so people can plan for their retirement with better knowledge of what their state pension entitlement will look like. There is also a need to reduce reliance on means testing in the pensions system, which is not efficiently relieving poverty.

#### Saving for retirement across the life-course

While private pension provision is an increasingly important source of income for people in retirement, only around half of UK employees are estimated to be members of an employer-sponsored pension scheme (5 per cent less than in 1997),<sup>164</sup> and around 750,000 employers in the private sector did not provide a workplace pension in 2007.<sup>165</sup> According to the Office for National Statistics, an even lower proportion of self-employed men who are working full time belong to a personal pension scheme: 45 per cent in 2008 (compared with 64 per cent between 1998 and 1999).<sup>166</sup>

Provisions made in the Pensions Act 2008 will help to incentivise those who are on medium and low incomes to save for their retirement. From 2012 this legislation will put in place the duty for employers automatically to enrol into a pension scheme any employees who are aged between 22 and state pension age, who work in the UK and who are earning at least £7,475 a year. 167 This policy is based on the lessons from behavioural economics that people are more likely to continue an action -such as paying into a pension - once it has already begun than they are to initiate it.168 People can choose to opt out once they are enrolled, but if they do so they will lose their employer's contribution towards their pension. To support employers to offer workplace pensions, the Pensions Act 2008 also legislated for the National Employment Savings Trust (NEST) to be set up. This will be a defined contribution pension scheme that is available to employers from October 2012. It will also be available to selfemployed people and will offer flexibility to temporary workers who can carry their NEST membership between jobs or have more than one employer paying into their pension scheme simultaneously.169

In its programme for government, the Coalition made a commitment to look at the regulations concerning age-based restrictions on annuitisation and end the requirement of compulsory annuitisation at 75.170 The Government is also considering whether action needs to be taken to resolve the problems faced by those who wish to annuitise smaller pots of money (eg below £5,000).171 If followed through, these reforms could increase pensioners' control over how they use their

money, potentially encouraging pension take-up by demonstrating the flexibility and usefulness of pensions as a means of saving.

Nonetheless, greater cultural change will be needed to accompany these reforms if people are to save sufficiently for their retirement. As the 2009 DWP study cited above found, significant attitudinal barriers remain to the future orientated-behaviour of saving for retirement and half of the people surveyed said that they could not afford to save for their retirement.<sup>172</sup>

#### Universal state benefits for pensioners

In addition to the state pension, a number of other universal benefits are paid to older people to support their standard of living in retirement. These include winter fuel payments, free TV licence for those aged 75 and over, free bus travel for those above the female state pension age and free eye tests and prescriptions. One 88-year-old respondent to the 2009 Mass Observation directive expressed her appreciation for benefits such as winter fuel payments:

The advantages and generosity by the government for old people ('pensionable') is legendary! Our pension increases; and facilities are provided to cheer us up! Lunches, meals on wheels, parties and entertainment at festive times like Xmas. Reaching 80 is even more helpful, with money for winter fuel allowance and free help with household heating. My house is now warm!

However, winter fuel payments are currently very poorly targeted; like the free bus pass, eligibility is set according to women's state retirement age, therefore currently all men and women who have reached the age of 60 receive the benefit, whether or not they are retired or are on a low enough income to require assistance with paying fuel bills.<sup>173</sup> This means that payments are received by some people who have very high incomes; in 2007/08, winter fuel payments were made to approximately 100,000 households that had an annual net

#### Work and finances

income of over £100,000 and some households with an income of over £200,000.174

The Coalition Government's programme for government pledged to protect all of the universal benefits for older people that were put in place by Labour.<sup>175</sup> However, the discussions that took place in the volunteer reading groups arranged for this project indicated that many older people question the need for universal benefits such as winter fuel payments that perpetuate the myth of older people's dependency regardless of their circumstances. Winter fuel payments play an important role in preventing older people from experiencing fuel poverty, but eligibility for this benefit should be reviewed to explore whether it could be better targeted without threatening access for those who are in genuine need of this support.

# 5 Housing and independence

'So what do you think of Blydale, Mr Bates?' Mrs Wilson asked him, when we returned to her office.

'I think it's a very nice place', he said, and paused to let a pleased smile form on my lips before adding: 'for old people who haven't got a home of their own.'

In a way I understood his resistance... I couldn't look round that lounge without feeling a strong desire to be out of it, and the little bed-sitting room we peered into, though comfortably furnished, seemed more like a cell than a home.

# David Lodge, Deaf Sentence

Participants in the volunteer reading groups were very clear that they wished to remain independent and stay in their own homes for as long as possible. Almost universally, great fear was expressed at the idea of needing to move into residential care; one woman in her 70s from the Tower Hamlets reading group commented that 'the worst problem of old age is residential homes' and, reflecting on the scenario of ageing and decline that is conjured by David Lodge's Deaf Sentence, admitted that 'the reader is glad that the old man dies before he has to move into [a residential home]'. A man in his 80s from the South East London reading group expressed similarly strong feelings about residential care, saying: 'Now that, I find, is a grim prospect. A waiting room before catching the boat across the Styx... grim.' A 65-year-old woman who was a member of Tower Hamlet's reading group described her very negative experience of her friend's admission into residential care after developing Parkinson's disease. In response to David Lodge's *Deaf Sentence*, she wrote in her reading diary:

I totally agree with the author's descriptions of care homes. They are depressing places (institutions) and I think as a society in the UK that not enough imaginative alternatives exist. My friend S has had to go into a nursing home aged 63 and I visit it regularly. S developed Parkinson's Disease and deteriorated drastically after a spell in hospital... As a single person with no-one to look after her, and with some mental deterioration, there was no viable alternative but a nursing home. No particular effort has been made taking into account her relative youth. S is being institutionalised and destined to live out her days among much older people (with deaths occurring regularly). She is paying £900 weekly for the privilege.

Another volunteer from the Camden Town group reported in her diary on a group discussion that had taken place exploring the complex set of factors that influence older people's decisions about meeting their housing and care needs:

One of the ways of not being a burden is to choose to go to a residential hotel or care home. People going into sheltered accommodation often do so before they really need to go so that their family do not need to worry. It was agreed that it was important to retain contact with people of all ages. One of the horrors of old age is to be cut off from everyday life. We do not want to be babies in reverse who are helplessly exposed and vulnerable. If possible it is best to stay where you are and participate as much as you can. Social care today prioritises remaining in one's own home as long as possible. Someone remarked 'We don't like being vulnerable. Especially if you have a reputation as a tough cookie.' We delight in being useful and needed.

As these accounts suggest, the volunteer reading group participants expressed a strong desire to remain in their own homes as they grew older, to continue to participate in their local community as much as possible, and to remain in regular contact with people of all age groups. The comment made by one reading group participant that there are 'not enough imaginative alternatives' to residential care should particularly challenge local authorities, housing associations and housing developers to develop more innovative and sustainable solutions to older people's needs for housing and care as they age.

## Inclusive design

In recent years, considerable effort has gone into developing ideas for making housing stock in the UK more suitable to the changing demands of an ageing society, so people will not be forced to leave their homes as they grow older. This has included investigating how all new homes that are built could be made suitable to the changing needs of people as they age. The 2008 Lifetime Homes Strategy identified a set of 16 design criteria or 'Lifetime Homes Standards' to be applied to all public sectorfunded housing in England from 2011 to ensure that homes are flexible enough to 'reflect the changes that occur over the lifetime, and so that people are not excluded by design as they grow older and more frail'. 176 The intention was that the government would work with property developers to encourage voluntary take-up of the standards, while moving towards regulation by 2013. However, recent reports suggest that the Coalition Government is moving away from the idea of regulatory standards for accessible housing.<sup>177</sup> This is disappointing, as a large body of research has consistently shown that most older people would prefer to continue living in their own home as they grow older,178 and the creation of a larger stock of accessible homes – a 'futureproofing approach' - would reduce some of the need for expensive adaptations and specialist retirement housing.<sup>179</sup>

# Home adaptation

While the need for some types of home adaptation (such as wheelchair access or heat insulation) would be unnecessary if more homes met the Lifetime Homes Standards, home adaptation can be an important means of supporting people to stay independent in their own homes as they grow older. The majority (90 per cent) of older people live in general housing and their homes can become increasingly unsuitable as they grow older. So Nearly half (47 per cent) of those aged 75 and over have a long-standing illness or disability that limits their activities, so the basic features that make them accessible and adaptable (level access, a flush threshold, adequate door space and the use of a toilet on the entry floor). The Communities and Local Government English

Housing Survey, found that while 4.5 million households had at least one person with a mobility problem living there, only 836,000 homes (4 per cent) had all four accessibility features. Around 9 per cent of homes had three features, 21 per cent had two and 40 per cent had one. A further 27 per cent had no accessibility features. The survey found that housing association homes were more likely to have these features than other types of housing tenure. Owner-occupied homes were the least likely to be fully accessible (only 3 per cent), but surveys such as the ELSA study have found that most people aged over 65 live in owner-occupied houses (74 per cent of those aged 65–84 own their houses outright). 184

Home adaptations therefore have a very important role in making sure that older people's homes can continue to meet their changing needs. Previous studies have shown that safety modifications such as grab rails can significantly reduce the number of falls that older people have; one study reported a 60 per cent reduction after modifications were made and other studies found reductions in injuries caused by falls of 6 per cent to 33 per cent. 185 Research reviewed for the Lifetime Homes Strategy found that home adaptations can improve the health of vulnerable groups and considerably contribute to the well-being and independence of older and disabled people. 186 There is also evidence that investing in home adaptations can be cost-effective for local authorities by removing the need for older people to move into residential care or reducing or removing the need for care. 187

Eligibility for financial assistance with home adaptations is determined nationally, <sup>188</sup> but a report by Care and Repair has found that while there is a national framework to identify who should be eligible for financial help with adaptations, 'the reality on the ground, particularly for DFGs [disabled facilities grants], is a postcode lottery', and in many cases, people are left waiting months or years to access assistance. <sup>189</sup> This impasse could be avoided if more people were supported to plan ahead, to consider how their housing needs are likely to change over time and prepare for the future. A study of European retirees in 2008 found that among pre-retirees, 60 per cent considered adapting

their home to account for future loss of mobility and 41 per cent expected that they might move to a different home after they retired. However, among the group who had retired, only 14 per cent had actually adapted their home (a further 15 per cent planned to do so) and only 7 per cent had moved house. 190 As Housing our Ageing Population: Panel for Innovation (HAPPI) suggested in its 2009 report, this lack of forward-planning suggests that there is 'a general reluctance to imagine our "future selves", and people tend to continue to live in the same home or put off adaptations as they get older out of a sense of inertia, regardless of whether their home continues to meet their needs. 191

# **Specialist housing**

A 2010 YouGov survey commissioned by the National Housing Federation asked people between the ages of 60 and 65 to consider which accommodation options they would prefer if they were no longer able to live independently in their own home. The survey found that 80 per cent of people would consider downsizing to a smaller, more manageable home, 65 per cent liked the idea of living in a self-contained home with support or care available if they needed it, 10 per cent would consider moving in with their family and 18 per cent would be willing to live in a care home. 192 This suggests that while most people would prefer to continue living in their existing home, the majority would be open to down-sizing or moving into specialist retirement housing if appealing options existed.

The National Housing Federation's 2011 report argued that if we are to reduce the need for ad hoc home adaptations, which can be expensive and are not always successful, there is an urgent need to invest in more high quality housing that is designed specifically with the accessibility needs of older people in mind:

By designing a higher proportion of accessible stock and increasing the choice of housing available to people as they grow older, helping to improve mobility within the sector, housing associations can reduce the need for one-off adaptations. 193

Increasing the stock of specialist housing for older people could also release more large homes for families to occupy. Many older people continue to live in unnecessarily large houses even though a smaller home could be more energy-efficient and manageable; around 60 per cent of older householders have multiple bedrooms despite having no dependent children and around 37 per cent of households in the UK are under-occupied, half of these occupied by people aged 50–69.<sup>194</sup>

Specialist housing could also help to meet older people's social needs as they become less mobile. As studies reviewed in chapter 1 demonstrated, increasing numbers of older people are living alone, and those who live alone are more likely to feel lonely. 195 There is also evidence that those who are widowed are most likely to have depressive symptoms, but that people who have supportive relationships before an experience of adversity (such as being widowed) are more likely to respond resiliently. Good well-being is strongly associated with the number of close relationships that people have, and also associated with the frequency of contact with friends and family. The HAPPI panel's 2009 study demonstrated how the design of high quality and attractive specialist housing for people aged 50+ can help to support people's social needs as well as their accessibility needs as they age by providing a supportive community. 196 Through a series of case studies, the study illustrated how well-designed housing can facilitate social interaction across generations, by providing shared communal spaces and cafés or leisure facilities that are available to residents and the local community. The Panel reported:

On several study visits [we] heard from residents that they value being able to choose when to be alone and when to be with others.... Throughout the HAPPI visits, the importance of a sense of belonging to a neighbourhood was evident.... Remaining active in the context of a community, in a neighbourhood we know, is crucial to our quality of life and how we feel about the future. 197

## Extra care housing

Extra care housing can offer a more appealing alternative to the institutional ethos of residential care for older people who wish to continue living independently but require help and support to do so. A 2007 report by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation (JRF), which has been a pioneer of the extra care model, defined extra care housing as housing that:

Offers... full legal rights associated with being a tenant, or homeowner, in combination with 24 hour on-site care that can be delivered flexibly according to a person's changing needs. At a conceptual level, extra care is primarily housing, meaning that it should not look or feel in any way institutional. People who live in extra care developments are in their own homes. Extra care housing can be for rent, outright sale or part ownership, and some developments are mixed tenure. 198

Other research by the JRF has shown that extra care housing schemes can be successful in improving outcomes for older people such as good health, independent living and participation within a community. The JRF identifies effective extra care schemes as those that include the following features:

- shared public spaces to facilitate social interaction and a diverse range of organised activities to provide opportunities for residents to socialise
- encouraging residents to run their own activities and to take an active role in making decisions about the organisation of the scheme
- support from staff to enable residents to take part in social activities
- · access to GPs and specialist nurses on the premises
- making sure that extra care schemes are integrated into communities rather than building them in inaccessible locations
- developing housing with a range of tenure options to give older people the choice of buying or renting in the schemes, and ensuring that general needs housing is available within the scheme or in the surrounding area, so families and carers can live nearby<sup>199</sup>

However, a practical drawback of extra care schemes is that they can be very expensive. Therefore, if we wish to enable more older people to have access to extra care housing, we will need to identify ways of funding the development and ongoing costs associated with such schemes.<sup>200</sup>

# **Local planning**

A 2009 report by the Communities and Local Government Select Committee recommended that the Government needed to establish 'a more coherent strategy for the provision and funding of housing and support services for older people, making clear the role of sheltered housing', 201 but the National Housing Federation's recent report has shown that we are still far from meeting this goal at a local level. A survey of 153 local authorities in October 2010 found that only 45 per cent of local authorities had a housing strategy for older people. A further 23 per cent were in the process of developing a strategy, but 32 per cent did not have a strategy or intend to develop one.<sup>202</sup> This research found that where there was a strategy in place, it often particularly considered meeting only one type of housing need, such as extra care housing, and did not give thought to the need for support services, or of the particular issues faced by older people in private housing. 203 This failure to consider older people's housing needs proactively is likely to lead to reactive and unplanned responses to problems when they arise, which will not only threaten older people's well-being but is also likely to lead to higher costs to social services and the NHS in the longer term.204

# 6 Health and social care

He said, 'Listen: you say you can't hear well and your back hurts. Your body won't stop reminding you of your ailing existence. Would you like to do something about it?'

"This half-dead old carcass?" I said. 'Sure. What?'

'How about trading it in and getting something new?'

It was an invitation I couldn't say no to, or yes, for that matter. There was certainly nothing simple or straightforward about it. When I had heard the man's proposal, although I wanted to dismiss it as madness, I couldn't stop considering it. All that night I was excited by an idea that was – and had been for a while, now I was forced to confront it – inevitable.

Hanif Kureishi, The Body

# Age discrimination in healthcare

Among our volunteer reading group research participants, the strongest theme that emerged with respect to healthcare concerned the discriminatory treatment of older people.

The first concern was how issues of bodily decline and disability should, as a matter of principle, be separated from ageing in healthcare. Deafness, which tends to be closely associated with ageing in popular perception, was no exception to this. Recording a discussion of deafness among the North London group, a volunteer in her 80s from the Highgate 1 group reported quite simply that 'people didn't want it to be viewed as an age problem'.

Related to this, several reading group participants described having experienced arrogant or dismissive treatment by doctors, and one woman in her 80s from the Highgate reading group recorded in her diary how doctors had callously acted without any concern for her sexual identity: 'I had to accept diminution of pleasure (no real orgasms) after hyster-

ectomy when I was 66. Surgeon failed to mention this when urging operation.'

Another participant who was discussing the treatment of older people by doctors wrote: 'I really fear for people who have no one to speak on their behalf.'

Indeed, a considerable body of research has highlighted the prevalence of age discrimination in healthcare and the need to tackle prejudicial assumptions among medical professionals that ill health in older people is a symptom of their age, rather than being a treatable medical condition. Research by Fairhead and Rothwell in 2006 identified significant age discrimination against patients aged over 80 in the management of transient ischaemic attacks and minor strokes,<sup>205</sup> while research by the Centre for Cancer Epidemiology in 2007 found that women with breast cancer who are aged over 80 have much poorer access to assessment and treatment than women aged between 65 and 69.206 Another study conducted by Steel et al in 2008 using analysis of the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing found that people with 'geriatric conditions' such as osteoarthritis received a much lower quality of care than those with general medical conditions such as diabetes, stroke or heart disease,207 and a review conducted by the Centre for Policy on Ageing in 2009 cited age discrimination in health policies on inviting patients to screenings.<sup>208</sup> Concerns about age discrimination are widespread; according to a survey by the King's Fund, three out of four senior managers in health or social care services believe that age discrimination exists in their local services.<sup>209</sup>

Most recently a report by the Health Service Ombudsman found that 'the NHS is failing to treat older people with care, compassion, dignity and respect'.<sup>210</sup> It found that out of almost 9,000 formal complaints about the NHS that were made to the Ombudsman in 2010, 18 per cent were about the treatment of older people and twice as many cases involving older people went on to be investigated than all other age groups combined.<sup>211</sup> This report argued:

Above all, care for older people should be shaped not just by their illness, but by the wider context of their lives and relationships. Instead, our

investigations reveal a bewildering disregard of the needs and wishes of patients and their families.  $^{212}$ 

The 2010 Equality Act banned age discrimination in public services, and the Department of Health has agreed that this ban should apply to health and social care services in England, Wales and Scotland with an implementation date of 2012.<sup>213</sup> This is a positive development, but ageist practices that arise from attitudes and assumptions – such as individual doctors' decisions on when to make referrals for particular treatments – are less likely to be affected.

This problem was highlighted by a woman in her 80s from the Camden Town volunteer reading group, who commented:

Our problem is really to do with attitudes; hardly any social care workers, government or staff in the voluntary sector have had any age awareness 'training', much as we did in the 80s and 90s on race and gender issues. Age issues have been sadly neglected.

Therefore, as the British Medical Association's good practice guidance and the Government Equalities Office's 2010 report on the Equality Bill have previously recommended, it is essential that health and social care professionals should receive training to make them aware of age discrimination and to ensure that they are able to comply with the 2010 Equality Act.<sup>214</sup>

## Mental health

Mental health was an important concern for participants in the volunteer reading groups, who felt that staying socially and mentally active was a key way of combating the ageing process and avoiding depression. One woman in her 70s from the South East London group explained, 'I think that in middle age... we build up a "bank" of physical, mental and emotional assets that offset ageing. Of course nobody does this consciously.' Most participants seemed to believe that the onset of mental health problems in later life was preventable if people adopted socially

engaged, active lifestyles; a volunteer from the Tower Hamlets remarked:

Social contact is vital to our mental well-being as we age and research has shown that old people who have active social lives flourish and are less likely to develop dementia than those who are isolated.

Another woman in her 60s from the Highgate 1 reading group stressed the role of government in intervening to support people's mental health as they age:

This decline as we get older is common to all of us to a greater or lesser degree and it seems to me that one of the (many!) problems facing the government is how to protect not only the physical but also the mental well-being of an ageing population.

Discussion of Caryl Phillips' novel *A Distant Shore*, by the Waterloo reading group prompted one of the participants to argue that popular stereotypes of mental decline in the elderly are responsible for preventing problems which are not necessarily age-related being properly addressed. From first-hand professional experience, she cited widespread professional neglect or dismissal of problems such as depression, which are an issue for many older people.

## Mental health in policy

In 2009, a report by the Healthcare Commission highlighted the fact that the National Service Framework for Mental Health only addressed the mental health needs of working adults aged up to 65, and that mental health provision for people aged 65 and over was falling behind services for younger people. It identified 'clear evidence of age discrimination in access to services, age-appropriateness and lack of specialist input to services'. <sup>215</sup> Later that year, the Labour Government responded by publishing *New Horizons*, a cross-departmental mental health strategy for all age groups that explicitly sought to address the problems of discrimination in mental health services and under-diagnosis of

depression in older people.<sup>216</sup> The strategy made a commitment to provide better mental health and well-being and non-discriminatory care for older people, which was subsequently legislated for in the 2010 Equality Act, which banned age discrimination in public services. Action 17 of the strategy outlined in *New Horizons* explicitly sought to improve training in primary care 'to improve identification and treatment of depression in older people'.

This agenda has subsequently been taken forward by the Coalition Government, which put mental health on an equal footing with physical health in its public health white paper *Healthy Lives, Healthy People* and published a new mental health strategy entitled *No Health Without Mental Health*, in 2011.<sup>217</sup> This strategy explicitly takes a 'life course approach' to mental health, promoting early intervention to 'protect and promote wellbeing and resilience through our early years, into adulthood and then on into a healthy old age'.<sup>218</sup> By intervening early, the strategy aims to prevent spiralling costs associated with the fall-out of allowing mental health problems to escalate and the strategy is backed up with £400 million to expand access to psychological therapies to people of all ages, including older people and carers.

#### Loneliness and social isolation

This mental health strategy is supported by the Coalition's broad public health approach to supporting older people's well-being. The public health white paper identifies the rate of 'chronic loneliness' among older people (estimated to affect around 1 in 10 older people) as a significant policy problem, and argues that enabling older people to contribute more in society will protect both their physical and mental health.<sup>219</sup>

This emphasis on tackling loneliness is important, as loneliness is clearly detrimental to people's well-being at any age, and may reflect a wider lack of social support. Loneliness in old age was mentioned as a significant concern by a number of reading group participants, including a woman in her 6os from the Camden Town reading group, who said:

Loneliness is one of the biggest fears of growing old. We are social animals and need human contact but does 'society' want anything to do with us? We mustn't let ourselves go.

However, as two other reading group participants pointed out, it would be wrong to assume that loneliness and social isolation are somehow a symptom of old age. Reflecting on the novel *Deaf Sentence* by David Lodge, another of the Camden Town reading group participants said, 'The plight of loneliness is highlighted. [This is] not exclusive to older people but more common, as partners die.'

A woman in her 70s from the Highgate 2 reading group commented in her reading diary:

Isolation, rather than ageing, seems to be the salient, linking theme of the books we have read so far. This isolation may be due to age, but there are many other causes: disability, race, mental health problems, enforced retirement and even a change in social status.

These participants are right to question the relationship between loneliness and old age, as the research that was reviewed in chapter 1 has demonstrated that age in itself is not in fact a risk factor for loneliness. This research found that advanced age was a protective factor, with risks of experiencing loneliness being posed by marital status (and in particular bereavement), time spent alone, a history of loneliness and a number of health indicators.<sup>220</sup> Policy strategies aiming to tackle loneliness should therefore focus on these factors, which are not necessarily agerelated, and seek to provide greater social support for people who are bereaved or suffer from poor health.

Dementia was also a particular worry for some of the research participants (see box 2). A woman in her 6os from the Highgate 1 reading group said, 'I would sincerely prefer death to dementia. The incidents I am aware of make the thought of dementia extremely depressing.' Reflecting on David Lodge's representation of dementia in *Deaf Sentence*, another participant observed that 'the father's mental decay is more frightening than any other aspect of this picture of advanced age'. Similarly, a

man in his 80s from the South East London group said that 'to be an Alzheimer's victim or senile is the worst sentence of all'. Significantly, though, he suggested that this is something older people should avoid thinking about, as 'those who dwell on their possible terrifying old age suffer many times before it happens'.

#### Box 2 Extract from research participant reading diary

I found this book [There Were no Windows by Norah Hoult] very hard to read because I have a friend who has some form of Dementia. Dementia descends with the unpredictability of a flu virus. The victim is helpless. But unlike the flu, it cannot be cured by hot drinks and rest. It is a life sentence. And a sentence upon friends and families as well. Friendship is destroyed by it - and so, finally, is love. It is impossible to have a meaningful conversation with someone who has no recollection of what was said two minutes ago. There can be no exchange of ideas, opinions, no progress towards new horizons. It is like eating the same tasteless meal, over and over... my friend had an intelligent mind, had a career and talents. She has done nothing to deserve her fate. She has many friends but they find it hard – perhaps impossible – to cope with the person she has become. She is not nasty, selfish etc. - just not there. What to do?

These comments, including the suggestion that we should avoid thinking about dementia, reflect the continuing stigma associated with the illness, despite the emerging evidence base suggesting that the risk of developing some types of dementia can be reduced by factors such as 'a healthy diet, promoting physical and cognitive activity and controlling cardiovascular risk factors such as diabetes, high cholesterol and hypertension'.<sup>221</sup> The Labour Government's National Dementia Strategy entitled *Living Well With Dementia* had very little emphasis on prevention or delay of the onset of dementia (as the title suggests) and expressed doubt that dementia could in

fact be prevented: 'We need to look at ways of preventing new cases of dementia occurring if this is at all possible.'222 This hesitance reflects the history of under-investment in dementia research in the UK, which receives only one-twelfth of the government funding that is put towards cancer research, despite the evidence that dementia research is extremely cost-effective.'223

#### Social care

When participants in the volunteer reading groups considered the issues of physical decline and social care in response to the representation of these issues in David Lodge's fiction, they were united in their agreement that independence was an asset beyond price for older people. A female volunteer reading group participant from Blackheath said, 'becoming old and weak and unable to take care of oneself is something to be dreaded', a view that all others in the group agreed with.

Many of the participants made it clear that what they demand, above all, is an acceptance of their continued right to self-determination, regardless of the views of well-meaning relatives or social services. The majority felt that domiciliary care was always preferable to residential care. A woman in her 70s from the South East London reading group commented:

The very elderly have the right to live as they want – in a certain amount of squalor, personal and domestic, and only moved into a 'home' as a last resort... it is better to suffer injury or death than to lose independence.

An overall theme arising from the volunteer reading groups' discussions was that they wished to remain self-sufficient for as long as possible, and that respect for their personal independence in later life was crucial to maintaining dignity and well-being. A volunteer from Edgware in her 70s argued that 'money is the older person's bulwark against their need for independence. Their over-riding fear is to lose control over any aspect of their lives.' Another participant suggested that future retiring generations would demand a better quality of care:

I believe that the generation coming into the pensioner group now (the post-war generation) will be more prepared to speak up and demand what they want. Those now in the older age-ranges have often been too submissive and quiet.

Recent policy development in social care has focused on this need to deliver forms of support that enable older people to be more autonomous for longer, and enhance their capacity to take control over the care they receive.<sup>224</sup> The Coalition Government has the same objectives, and a number of measures about greater preventative and personalised services were announced in the Coalition's programme for government.<sup>225</sup>

#### Personalisation and prevention

There is now strong evidence that preventative services can be more effective in supporting health, well-being and independence of older people, while also generating cost-savings by delaying or preventing the need for more intensive, or institutional care. The Partnerships for Older People Projects (POPPs) funded by the Department of Health were piloted in 29 sites and evaluated between 2006 and 2009.<sup>226</sup> The evaluation found that all categories of this service improved older people's quality of life. Those providing services to individuals with complex needs were particularly successful and low-level preventative projects also had an impact, and saved money for the taxpayer.<sup>227</sup> Similarly, the LinkAge Plus programme, a preventative approach to provide 'a little bit of help' to enable older people to remain independent for longer, was similarly positive and cost-effective.<sup>228</sup>

While policy makers are rhetorically highly committed to the principle of preventative services, in the context of an increasingly constrained economic environment it is unclear how these priorities will play out in practice. Even before the spending cuts announced in the October 2010 spending review, a survey of social workers conducted by the Social Care Institute for Excellence and the Department of Health in 2009 found that 61 per cent of 692 social workers surveyed thought that rising

demand from older people would influence local agencies' capacity to implement prevention and early intervention.<sup>229</sup>

#### Personalisation

The aim of personalisation is 'to make sure anyone who needs care and support can exercise choice and control to live their lives as they want'. <sup>230</sup> The use of direct payments and personal budgets are key parts of the strategy for achieving this goal. Personal budgets clearly offer the potential for older people to increase their control over the services that they receive. However, Demos research conducted in 2010 found that compared with other groups of care users, older people were both the least enthusiastic about personal budgets and the slowest to receive them. <sup>231</sup> A report by the Department of Health has also observed that 'older people have not benefited to the extent that would be expected given the numbers using Social Care Services'. <sup>232</sup>

It is unclear how this progress in implementing personal budgets will be affected as the impending budgetary cuts take hold over the next four years. As observed in chapter 2, the June 2010 budget and the October 2010 comprehensive spending review have made it clear that local authorities will be operating under considerable financial constraints, with cuts to their budgets of 28 per cent in real terms over the four years from 2010/11 to 2014/15. To compensate for these cuts the spending review announced £2 billion of additional funding for social care, with £1 billion of this to be paid through the NHS.<sup>233</sup> However, concerns have been raised that this additional funding is not ring-fenced; therefore local authorities may allocate this money to address shortfalls in other departments without benefiting social care.<sup>234</sup>

As a result of these funding constraints, there are serious question marks over the capacity of adult social care departments to turn central government policy objectives of increased personalisation and preventative action into changes in how social care is delivered on the ground. Innovative approaches and preventative services that have the potential to generate

long-term savings may be sacrificed in order to meet short-term targets for spending efficiencies. The following sections will consider the policy objectives that the Coalition Government has proposed for health and social care and compare these with realities on the ground.

One risk that has been identified is that 'personal budgets will be seen as a cost cutting measure'.<sup>235</sup> If the amount that individuals are given to spend on their care is reduced, this could mean that service users are unable to afford the care that they need. One consequence of transferring commissioning responsibilities from local authorities to individual care users may be that individuals' costs will increase as they will not benefit from the same economies of scale available to local authorities. If individual care users have less money to spend, this will also affect service providers, which could impact negatively on the sustainability of smaller providers.<sup>236</sup>

#### Funding and eligibility for social care

The discussion of social care among our volunteer reading groups centred on the fact that domiciliary care was preferred where and whenever possible, while most objected to the unfairness of the current means-tested system, which can lead to situations in which the prudent lose their assets in paying for care, while those who did not save for their retirement may not need to contribute.

One reading group participant from Edgware, from the Highgate 2 reading group, reflected on her and her mother's experience of the limited care available from social services, with the result that they had paid for care privately:

When I asked social services for help with my mother, they came round when I was not there, and she told them that she didn't need any help as 'her daughter did everything'. I have to say, though, that when she had to have almost constant care and an army of helpers, she was usually very appreciative. I found the carers mostly very sensitive, although it was difficult to find one who struck the right balance between sitting passively by her side and over-enthusiastically trying to stimulate her with games, songs

etc when she was obviously not feeling up to it. Although the council provided limited care, we had to pay for most of it – the alternatives would have been for me to give up my job, or find a care home. Living so much longer, carers themselves are too old to perform these duties unaided and often on very little income.

A respondent to the 2006 Mass Observation directive who was aged 75 explained that she and her partner had only just realised that they would be responsible for paying for their own care:

One day [our savings] will be gone. We gather from this week's news that if we ever need care we must pay – do we sell the house to meet care costs for me, or for him – is one partner to be left without a home?

One of the respondents to the 2006 Mass Observation study directive, a 63-year-old retired auditor from Chesterfield, expressed very strong views on this matter, arguing,

How we are treated in the future will also depend on a sort of two-way movement. We have a right to demand high standards of care but we must also accept that this has to be paid for with higher taxation.

However, in the rather different financial context presented five years later, the Dilnot Commission's consultation document clearly emphasises the conviction that 'any reformed system will continue to be a partnership in its broadest sense – with both individuals and the state continuing to contribute to the costs of care and support'.<sup>237</sup> While we wait for the recommendations of this commission, which will inevitably take several years to be implemented, it looks as though the responsibility for providing community care will increasingly fall on the NHS and informal carers.

These concerns are well founded. Data from the ELSA 2008/09 study, and figures from Derek Wanless's 2006 review of social care for the King's Fund, have shown that only around 4 per cent of people aged 65+ currently receive publicly funded home help or care. This is very low by international standards; in

Denmark 25 per cent of people aged 65+ received formal help at home, 13 per cent in the Netherlands and 9 per cent in the USA.<sup>238</sup>

With eligibility thresholds for state-funded care tightening, an increasing number of people will be forced to self-fund or rely on informal care in future years. This will have a particularly serious financial impact on those who retire on a low income and also have low assets, further exacerbating pre-existing financial inequalities among those in retirement. A survey by Aviva found that the financial challenge of paying for care becomes an increasing concern for people as they age and become more aware of the additional financial burden caused by the need to mitigate reduced mobility or illness. According to this survey, 8 per cent of people in the 55–64 age group, 17 per cent of those in the 65–74 age group and 23 per cent of those in the over-75 age group worry about paying for care.<sup>239</sup>

On the eve of the 2010 comprehensive spending review, when it was expected there would be significant reductions to local authorities' budgets, a survey by Community Care found that many local authorities were considering tightening their eligibility thresholds. The 'fair access to care services' guidance set by the Department of Health sets out an eligibility framework divided into four bands - 'low', 'moderate', 'substantial' and 'critical' - to assess the extent to which an individual's support needs affects their ability to maintain independence over time.<sup>240</sup> The survey by Community Care found that 80 per cent of authorities would not meet the 'moderate' care needs of service users by April 2011, but would only cater for those with 'substantial' or 'critical' needs. This represented a 5 per cent increase from the 75 per cent who already did not meet moderate care needs and a significant reduction in provision from 2006, when only 47 per cent of councils did not provide for those with moderate care needs.<sup>241</sup> In an even more extreme example of eligibility tightening, Community Care reported in December 2010 that Birmingham Council was considering reviewing its eligibility threshold to limit eligibility for care to people with 'critical personal needs' (as opposed to those with substantial needs or critical needs that do not require personal care).<sup>242</sup> This

#### Health and social care

would restrict eligibility more tightly than the thresholds identified in the 'fair access to care services' guidance.<sup>243</sup>

This trend towards only providing care for those with the highest needs is likely to have a significant financial impact on those who will be forced to fund their own care, increasing the financial hardship of those who may already have higher costs related to illness or disability. It is also likely to affect the capacity of statutory services to fund preventative work, which could lead to much higher costs to social services in the medium to long term if the unmet needs of vulnerable older people lead to accidents or illness that require a more intensive care package or a move into residential care.

# 7 Retirement and 'active ageing'

Eighty was the age for second childhoods, so they said.... So let's commence with childhood now, he thought. Let's be an old man full of impulse, prospects, hope.

Jim Crace, Arcadia

#### Retirement

Volunteer reading group participants had mixed experiences of retirement. Their comments highlighted the fact that the experience of retirement can be problematic even for those who retire voluntarily. Two reading group participants described the disconcerting loss of status that can accompany retirement. A woman from the Camden Town reading group, from Harrow, said:

It's this sudden demotion from being a useful person in society to becoming an errand boy. It happens overnight – one minute you're a successful working person, the next someone considered to be useless with no further contribution to make.

And a woman in the same reading group, from Forest Hill, observed:

Loss of role is one of the worst factors of ageing – starting with retirement. I sometimes need to tell people who I was and organising conferences and study days, editing newsletters, lets me retain some status. I have few roles left – mother, grandmother the main ones.... Younger ones agreed with loss of status and identity at first on retirement.

A female volunteer from the Banstead reading group commented that 'for some retirement brings emptiness'. Reflecting on the novel *A Distant Shore* by Caryl Phillips, she said:

Dorothy's emptiness after retirement reminded me of a former colleague who couldn't cope with what she considered the emptiness and unplanned days so she put up a timetable in her kitchen reading 8–8.30 breakfast, 8.30–9 dishes and her day was tabulated like this.

Several of the volunteer reading group participants expressed the view that women are better at coping with the challenges of retirement than men, as they have larger social networks and have less difficulty adapting to their new circumstances. One 78-year-old woman from the Highgate 1 group commented:

I retired nearly two years ago and immediately recognised the need to reinvent myself as it were and establish a new persona. My personal experience is that women are better at doing this than men and as a consequence seem to be enjoying retirement more, recognising the opportunities that it offers to pursue interests and embark on new projects.

However, while the transition from working life to retirement can be difficult, participants' comments suggested that once they had adjusted, the experience of retirement was overwhelmingly positive. Several of the Mass Observation participants described the delights of retirement as a time of self-development and relaxation:

One of the lovely discoveries of getting to late middle age is to realise that I am not yet old. I suppose that when I was much younger I had expected to be in my dotage after I retired. In fact, leaving what had become a boring and stressful job gave me a new lease of life. I feel younger now, nine years after retiring, than I did in my last years at work. But then there is so much more available now. Relative affluence means I have a car to get around in, I can afford books, I can live in comfort. I can study if I wish.<sup>244</sup>

A couple of weeks before Xmas I went to a lunch given by my old employer for retired senior managers to meet their old colleagues.... I do not go every year as it is a 500 mile round trip so in some cases I was not sure whether the person I was talking to was working or retired. A good rule of thumb was that the worried ones were working and the carefree ones with a good suntan

were pensioners.... In fact, it is the 50 and 60-year-olds that I feel sorry for -I can visualise the stresses of running a company in these times and I tell them all to retire as soon as they can -I've never regretted for a moment that I had an opportunity to go at 61 instead of 63.<sup>245</sup>

However, as a woman in her 70s from the Camden Town reading group reported regarding a group discussion she took part in, the concept of 'retirement' can have the effect of suggesting that older people no longer contribute. One member said that she hated the word 'retirement'. It was suggested older people are patronised and stereotyped because it is believed they no longer contribute to the economy: approval is given to making money.

As observed in section 2, this perception is strongly linked to narratives in the media, and public policy discourse that have represented retirement as a time of dependence – for financial sustenance and care – on younger generations. It is these narratives that must be addressed if we are to prevent older people from feeling stigmatised and disengaged from public policy.

## **Active ageing**

As we observed in chapter 3, the baby boomer cohort which will make up the next generation of retirees have very different aspirations for their retirement from those of their parents' generation. The majority of the volunteer reading group participants – and particularly those in their 60s and early 70s – were very resistant to identifying as 'old' and were more likely to see themselves as being in late middle age, frequently making statements such as 'they say 60 is the new 40!' These youthful attitudes are accompanied by expectations that retirement will provide increased opportunities for leisure, self-development and new projects. A survey conducted in 2009 to explore attitudes towards retirement among baby boomers aged between 46 and 65 illustrates this trend, finding that 51 per cent of respondents in this age group planned to travel more in the future, 30 per cent hoped to learn a new skill such as a language or hobby, 30 per

cent would like to continue working after retirement if it was on their own terms, and 6 per cent would like to start a new business.<sup>246</sup>

A woman in her 70s from the Waterloo volunteer reading group exemplified this positive attitude, describing retirement as a liberation from the drudgery of working life, with considerable new opportunities for enjoyment:

Has the world changed so much in 50/60 years that people nowadays can have such a good time when they retire, that it need not be grim and problematic? I can only speak from my own experience. Because I have been employed all my adult life. I have a work as well as state pension; I have free travel in London; free swimming; reduced entry to many exhibitions, concerts, museums etc; the opportunity to take classes; to meet friends during the week; to develop interests that I never had time to develop before; to discover new interests; even to sit in the sun and take a positive attitude to doing nothing while workers and students are stuck in schools and offices. I'm having a whale of a time.

In this account she contrasts the expectation that retirement should be 'grim and problematic' with the experience of retirement as 'a whale of a time', demonstrating that many people's perceptions of what retirement means has not caught up with the reality. The same woman went on to reflect that having opportunities to stay active in retirement are vital both to older people's well-being and to public expenditure:

It is vital for public finance that older people are enabled to keep as active mentally and physically as possible, let alone for their quality of life. I haven't liked the sounds the Conservatives have been making at all, but I think such a change in thinking will have to take place, as with global warming, that too little will be done too late.

While these views emphasise the importance of physical activity, the contribution of a 75-year-old respondent to the 2006 Mass Observation directive highlighted the fact that 'active' and positive experiences of ageing are not necessarily dependent on full physical health and fitness:

At 75 years of age I have a disabling lung disease that cannot be cured. I fight for breath after the slightest exertion and there are times when I need the help of doctors and nurses, but I still enjoy my life and every day is precious – books to read, films to see, letters to write, grandchildren to spoil, driving to the shops, a good wife with whom to share so many simple pleasures.

As this insight suggests, many things in life can still be actively enjoyed by older people who experience declining health, and policy approaches to support active ageing must be flexible enough to include those who experience illness or disability.

### Active ageing through learning and cultural engagement

Participants in the volunteer reading groups and the Mass Observation study identified learning and cultural engagement in later life as playing a crucial role in their ability to stay 'young at heart' and to stave off the threat of social isolation and decline. A man in his 70s from the Camden Town group wrote in his reading diary:

A message for our policy makers?... Encourage education and cultural awareness throughout life. Don't forget the arts, and provide adequate funding for developing a quality of life which is not wholly governed by materialism.

However, a survey by the Department for Culture, Media and Sport has shown that rates of participation in cultural activities such as reading for pleasure, seeing a play or film, or attending an art gallery decrease significantly for those aged over 75. In 2009/10 nearly three-quarters (74.8 per cent) of 65–74-year-olds engaged with the arts, but only 57.2 per cent of those aged 75 or over.<sup>247</sup> It is unclear to what extent some of this drop in cultural participation may be a result of the inaccessibility of cultural locations for older people with disabilities; research by Leonard Cheshire Disability found that four out of ten disabled people in London had problems accessing museums, theatres, cinemas and art galleries.<sup>248</sup>

Previous US research has demonstrated the positive physical and mental health benefits for older people of taking part in professionally conducted community-based cultural programmes,<sup>249</sup> while research conducted in the UK has provided evidence that participation in community arts programmes can benefit people with mild to moderate mental health problems by 'increasing levels of empowerment and social inclusion'.<sup>250</sup> A 2005 study that reviewed health promotion initiatives for older people found that the approaches that were most effective in reducing social isolation and loneliness included some form of structured educational input and group-based support activities.<sup>251</sup> While many of the preventative benefits of cultural and learning activities that improve quality of life are difficult to measure, they are no less valuable.

Previous government policy has recognised the importance of cultural engagement and adult learning opportunities to the well-being and social inclusion of older people. The Labour Government's 2009 white paper on informal learning, *The Learning Revolution*, observed:

Informal adult learning can transform individual lives and boost our nation's well-being. At its best, it can bring people and communities together, challenge stereotypes and contribute to community cohesion. It can unite the generations and help people remain active and independent into old age.<sup>252</sup>

This strategy was accompanied by a £20 million transformation fund to support innovative approaches to providing new learning opportunities to adults in the community in partnership with libraries, galleries, museums and other organisations.

It is not yet clear how the Coalition Government intends to support older people to access adult learning opportunities. In May 2010, during adult learning week, David Cameron acknowledged:

Adult learning has a really important role to play in encouraging active citizenship.... It's that self-belief that leads people to get involved in their communities and become more active citizens.<sup>253</sup>

The February 2011 cross-government mental health strategy *No Health Without Mental Health* also recognises adult learning to be an important component of well-being. Under the actions that will be taken to achieve the strategy's objective of aiding the recovery of people with mental health problems one of the commitments for the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills is: 'Reinvigorate and reform informal adult and community learning to support the Big Society and reach out to those most in need of help.'254 This commitment is welcome although it will be important that adult learning is also supported as a preventative measure to support positive wellbeing and social inclusion for older people rather than merely being seen as a treatment option for those for whom poor mental health has already become a problem.

#### Social inclusion and public spaces

Attitudes to age-specific activities that were clearly aimed at older people varied among the Mass Observation respondents and volunteer reading group participants. Some volunteer reading group participants were very clear that they did not identify as 'old' and therefore did not wish to be targeted to take part in specific activities aimed at older people. However, the majority were enthusiastic users of universal services such as libraries, leisure centres and other community facilities. Our research particularly highlighted the importance of library services to many older people. An 88-year-old respondent to the 2009 Mass Observation directive explained that when he was no longer physically strong enough to take part in sailing, he had begun a philosophy course, which had then led him to take part in a book group:

I gave up driving some years ago and that ended my opportunity to continue in a book group. It originated from a WEA course on philosophy which I started and regretted that I was 80 rather than 18 when I began.

He reported that since he stopped being able to participate in a book group, the local library has continued to

offer him a really valuable source of leisure and intellectual stimulation:

I read reviews in the Guardian and ask my local library for them – very rarely do they fail to produce. I have two on order now – other people are ahead in the queue – and it will be a nice surprise when I get a call to tell me one is available...

A number of volunteer reading group participants commented on the important role that reading and public libraries played in their lives. The evidence from this research suggests that many make good use of the public library system and greatly value its services. A volunteer reading group participant in her 60s from the Highgate 1 group argued that the role that libraries play in improving public health and preventing social isolation is currently significantly undervalued:

Isolation, as we have discussed in our meetings, is a problem often faced by the elderly and I feel that libraries fulfil an important role in community life especially for older people, along with the free travel that enables older people to visit them. Newspapers and internet access are available, which enable people to keep up with what is going on in the world, even if they cannot afford these items in their own homes. Libraries are also a useful source of information about local services and opportunities.

Isolation can cause depressive illness and so, in the long term, it can be cost-effective to provide these services rather than subsequent healthcare but of course you can never quantify a negative, so the financial savings can only be surmised. I think that libraries are essential. It is rather wonderful to realise that even if you cannot afford to buy books, they are always available on loan from the library.

These remarks suggest that the current plans of many local authorities to close public libraries as a way of delivering the public spending cuts imposed by central government could have a disproportionate impact on older people who rely on libraries as a social outlet and source of information and leisure. It has been reported that in addition to closing some libraries,

Manchester City Council plans to close leisure centres and public toilets in order to make savings of £110 million in 2011/12.<sup>255</sup> Cuts to these services are also likely to have a disproportionate effect on older people; access to public toilets has been identified in numerous policy documents as essential to ensuring that public spaces are accessible to older people,<sup>256</sup> while leisure facilities and other public spaces can be important sites for intergenerational interaction. An 80-year-old participant in the Highgate reading group commented on how a recent trip to the swimming pool had caused him to reconsider how he treated young people:

Only a few days ago I lost a dental plate while swimming in a public pool, and a youngster asked what I was looking for, and then dived down and found it. He was ten years old at most. All I had done was to give him and two companions a friendly greeting when I entered the pool. Perhaps his helpfulness was my reward. Do we old people sometimes earn the disrespect of the young by not treating them seriously I wonder.

The 2010 Independent Strategic Review of Health Inequalities in England conducted by Michael Marmot also noted the importance of communities having access to safe and open green spaces to provide opportunities for social contact and exercise, particularly in deprived areas:

The survival of older people increases where there is more space for walking near their home, with nearby parks and tree-lined streets. Prevalence rates for diseases such as diabetes, cancer, migraine/severe headaches and depression are lower in living environments with more green space within a one kilometre radius and mental health may be particularly affected by the amount of local green space.<sup>257</sup>

Therefore, while some older people will wish to access services that are specifically aimed at improving the health and well-being of older people, others will benefit from general measures that improve public services and the local environment for people of all age groups.

#### Volunteering in later life

One of the volunteer reading group participants complained that the novel *Deaf Sentence* by David Lodge does not adequately recognise the active contribution that older people can continue to make to society once they no longer work:

As senior citizens, we are not powerless to change things. We can engage in lobbying and campaigning and join organizations such as Amnesty International. There are many examples of the elderly making a difference. One is that of a wonderful woman called Doctor Hamlyn who at the age of 85 is still saving girls in Ethiopia from fistula, where they are treated as outcasts by their families. I do think Lodge presents old age in a rather negative way.

This woman argues that social expectations for older people are not ambitious enough, and therefore fail to inspire people with ideas of what they could achieve in later life. As we observed in chapter 4, some of the volunteer reading group participants objected to the word 'retirement' altogether as it suggests withdrawal and can lead to inaccurate assumptions that people no longer make a contribution once they give up work.

In fact, national data show that people aged 65–74 are the most likely to participate in formal volunteering at least once a month, with 34 per cent of this age group volunteering regularly to give 'unpaid help through groups, clubs and organisations to benefit other people or the environment', compared with 25 per cent of those aged 16–25 and 22 per cent of those aged 26–34. Those aged 75 and over are less likely than those aged 65–74 to be involved in formal voluntary activities, with only 23 per cent volunteering formally each month. However, 30 per cent of this age group said that they regularly took part in informal volunteering, defined as 'giving unpaid help as an individual to other individuals who are not relatives'. <sup>258</sup>

Research conducted by the Cabinet Office in 2006/07 found that different age groups were likely to find different benefits from taking part in volunteering. While a high proportion from all age groups agreed with the statement 'I get satisfaction from seeing the results', people aged 65 and over

were more likely than other age groups to recognise the following benefits:

- · I meet people and make friends (91 per cent).
- · It gets me out of myself (82 per cent).
- · It makes me feel needed (76 per cent).259

More than two-thirds (68 per cent) of those aged 65 and over said that volunteering gave them more confidence. This research demonstrates that while volunteering can provide valuable opportunities for people of all age groups to make a positive contribution to their community, it is particularly valued by many older people as a way of making friends and as a source of self-esteem and positive self-identity. In the context of public spending cuts, which are likely to result in less funding being available for preventative interventions to support older people's health and well-being, government support for self-help volunteering programmes that enable people of all age groups and levels of health to make a positive contribution to their community and engage in reciprocal support should be prioritised.

All of our research participants, who were aged between their early 60s and their 90s, were engaged in regular volunteering by nature of their participation in this research project. The University of the Third Age (U3A), through which our volunteer reading groups were established, is a particularly strong example of a self-help network run by volunteers that provides opportunities for informal education, creative and leisure activities. The assumption underpinning this organisation is that participants have skills and knowledge to offer to others as well as to receive, overturning any stereotypical notion associating older people with dependency or passivity.

## The rise of grandparent carers

In addition to their involvement with U<sub>3</sub>A, some of our reading group participants played a very strong role in caring for their grandchildren. Attitudes towards this were mixed. While all of

those who regularly looked after their grandchildren enjoyed this role, some felt that the burden this placed on them was too high. A woman in her 60s from the Banstead reading group commented on a group discussion that took place:

The difference they make to old people's lives is amazing. Unfortunately our only grandchild lives abroad, but most of my friends spend a great deal of time with theirs. These grandparents are much older than they were in the past, due to women having children much later, and although they enjoy being with their grandchildren, they find it very tiring. Young people seem to expect [their parents] to be unpaid child-minders which I think is rather unfair at a time when they should be enjoying their freedom or are often looking after their own husband or wife. However, I would dearly love to have my grandson with me, and would perhaps change my views!

A woman in her 60s from the Highgate 2 group similarly wrote, 'A grandmother remarked that we are much younger nowadays in our attitudes and looks, and that often leads to our children expecting too much of us.' Another woman in her 60s from the Camden Town group described how her commitment to supporting her daughters in their careers had led to her caring for five grandchildren over a number of years in retirement (see the case study in box 3). While this was clearly an extremely demanding role, she emphasises the fact that it brought her fulfilment: 'I love spending time with my grandchildren, [and] I am very aware that the greatest factor is that it gives me a function.' As observed in chapter 1, grandparents now provide over 40 per cent of childcare for working parents, which is estimated to be worth around £3.9 billion to the economy.260 It is important therefore that grandparents' role in providing childcare should be recognised and supported by policy but not expected or taken for granted. It is unclear what impact increases to the state pension age will have on grandparents' capacity to provide informal childcare.

## Box 3 Case study from the diary of a woman in the Islington U3A reading group

I stopped work at 60, when my eldest daughter had a 10month-old who would have gone to a nursery, while she went back to work as an architect. I was brought up with my grandparents as well as parents, so it felt natural to me to look after her. I was working with volunteers in a community centre which I enjoyed, but there was no contest between that and looking after O for three days a week. What I omitted to say in my life story - and I can't believe this - was that from about 1970 I was in a Women's Group for about eight years. This changed me and my perspectives and values in many ways; one of them was that I brought my three daughters up to believe that they could do anything they were able and willing to do, in terms of work - but -BUT - when we discussed women's changing roles in our group, with our babies and toddlers with us (for none of us was working) we never discussed childcare for our grown-up daughters' generation. We had various childcare schemes for ourselves and other local women, but only in the sense of having a couple of hours off - we never really thought of who would be looking after our grandchildren, while our daughters were out conquering the world.

So I felt a real responsibility for my daughters' children, when they were taking the opportunities I had encouraged them to look for. By chance, their children arrived in almost perfect time to be looked after as the previous grandchild went to nursery – there was a slight overlap, and I'm afraid my eldest daughter has never quite forgiven me for the few weeks she had to sort out when I went on to my second grandchild.... In terms of payment, I said that obviously I couldn't be paid for looking after my own grandchildren, and I had (just) enough to live on. However, my eldest daughter, though a bit over-sensitive, is also very generous, and she set the pattern by saying that not only would this be unfair, but also they would feel beholden to me. So we agreed they would pay for my holidays – this felt a bit less

money-based than actual cash, but still gave me a reasonable amount. And I didn't take very expensive holidays.

I am now on my fifth (and, I have been told, final) 14month-old grandchild. I look after her Mon-Wed till about 3:30, but only in term time as my daughter is a teacher. On Mondays she is picked up earlier, and I take my two grandsons, now 5 and 9, home from school: on Tuesdays I sometimes pick up her 4-year-old sister from nursery at 12:30: on Thursdays I pick up 10-year-old O from Balham. So my week is pretty full - and though this saves my daughters and their husbands a lot of money and timejuggling, and I love spending time with my grandchildren, I am very aware that the greatest factor is that it gives me a function. I do believe that as we grow older, health and enough money to live comfortably are obviously crucial. But running a very close third is simply being useful, having a genuine function in life. This may be because of my puritanical Scottish/Jewish upbringing - I'm sure there are many happy people who don't do much for anyone, but I can't comprehend it.

### **Transport**

A significant number of participants in the Mass Observation study and volunteer reading group participants mentioned free bus passes and other subsidised travel as playing a critical role in supporting social inclusion for older people. The reason for this is absolutely clear: the ability to move freely around enables people to remain self-sufficient for as long as possible, while respect for one's personal independence in later life is seen as crucial to maintaining dignity and well-being. A woman in her 60s from the Highgate 2 group reflected, 'I think if the government was to stop such [subsidised travel] concessions it would be a sad day for the elderly and severely restrict their quality of life.' Another woman in her 60s from the Highgate group suggested that access to free bus travel could play a role in protecting older people from the onset of poor mental health:

Paranoia all too often I feel is caused not simply by the onset of dementia but by the spending of too much time alone thinking rather than doing. The more interaction with others, even on a relatively passive level as in going round the shops in the nearest large town, the more in touch with reality people will be. This is why I feel that the free bus pass is a good idea. The walk to the bus stop and back is a form of limited exercise and just being on a bus with other people is a healthy form of interaction, albeit of a minimal kind.

A 65-year-old respondent to the Mass Observation Study also commented on the freedom provided by free bus travel:

In London us lucky pensioners can travel completely free on buses and the underground and this gives us a huge incentive to explore to the very limits of the city.

And a 75-year-old respondent to the 2006 Mass Observation directive listed free bus travel among other things that compensated for getting older: 'Mustn't forget the free bus pass – local only and the free TV licence, half price at the cinema and concessions at adult classes. It's not all bad.'

The loss of independence that resulted from no longer being able to drive was mentioned by others as a key turning point in the onset of old age. A female member of the Highgate Edgware reading group reported on a group discussion that 'the eldest member of the group was sorry that she could no longer drive – another example of a loss of independence', while a respondent to the 2006 Mass Observation directive commented that 'car loss is the most serious disadvantage of ageing'. While the flexibility provided by a car is difficult to replace, access to good public transport links, or alternative community transport options for those in under-served areas, is vital to support older people's independence.<sup>261</sup>

## 8 End of life

As her fingers clutched the hem of the sheet and smoothed it in the last motions of the dying, it seemed to her that soon her punishment would be over, and she would be allowed out into the sunshine to play with her sister, to run down lanes, and look at the low rolling purple hills that were, she knew, just outside the window. All adventure awaited her, but just now she was too tired, because, as it would appear, people had been very angry with her and made her cry so much.

Norah Hoult, There Were No Windows

Another important subject discussed by Mass Observation study respondents and participants in the volunteer reading groups was their feelings about very advanced old age and death and their anxieties about what the dying process might entail. Some did not fear death itself, as the response by a 71-year-old man from West Sussex to the 1992 Mass Observation directive indicated:

One of the things I have time to do is think about death. It will not worry me in the least — I'd like a week's notice to tidy things up but mentally I'm ready to go at any time and would much rather go when I am in reasonable possession of my faculties than live until I become as confused as both my parents did. My wife feels exactly the same and whichever of us is the survivor we shall recognise that the other one was quite happy to go.

However, a number of comments made by volunteer reading group participants indicated real worries about the experience of death that they may have, and whether or not it would be 'dignified'. A woman in her 60s who took part in the Camden Town reading group said:

There was considerable discussion about the case for euthanasia, particularly as it is being presented as a bill in Scotland. The general opinion was that it will come to be accepted, and should be. The thought of not being able to choose a dignified death in certain circumstances is of great concern.

Another reading group participant in her 60s from the Camden Town reading group reflected on the concern that the considerable increase to our life expectancy over recent decades may leave some older people in a situation where they live longer than they would wish to:

I've felt for a long time that within about 20 years (possibly less) there will be a way of making little white or any other colour pills available, for people to take if they wish. Written out like that, it sounds slightly mad and inconceivable, but I don't see any other way round the problem of scarce resources on the one hand, and the fact that many older people would be quite happy to slip away quietly and painlessly. I have worked with pensioners for many years, in discussion groups and in finding and supporting volunteers to visit them, and though there are obviously huge ethical and practical problems, I think in an increasingly secular and long-lived society, our conception of just what life means, in terms of value to oneself and others, has to be rethought.

Previous Demos research undertaken in 2004 to explore baby boomers' attitudes to a range of lifestyle and public policy issues has highlighted this generation's particularly accepting attitude towards euthanasia:

Most wanted to avoid 'being looked after' altogether and hoped to die before this happened.... In all of those groups, there was strong support for the right to choose assisted suicide or euthanasia and a feeling that this might offer the best solution for everyone – the elderly person themselves, their family and the state.<sup>262</sup>

The pro-euthanasia remarks made by our volunteer reading group participants indicate the level of anxiety felt by many about the quality of life that they could expect in advanced old age, and the 'undignified' treatment they might be subjected to

while dying. In particular, both of the above comments communicate a strong wish to retain control over the end of life and the manner of our death.

At the moment, the way that people die in England frequently does not reflect their wishes. In particular, people are often unable to choose the place of death that they would like. A YouGov poll undertaken for the Demos project Dying for Change found that two-thirds of people (66 per cent) would prefer to die at home.<sup>263</sup> However, in reality most people die in hospital – 58 per cent nationally, varying between 46 per cent and 77 per cent between primary care trusts (PCTs)<sup>264</sup> – and older people aged between 65 and 84 are particularly likely to die in hospital.<sup>265</sup> Nursing and old people's homes also play an important role in providing end of life care for many older people; while only 16 per cent of the whole population die in residential care, as many as 30 per cent of people aged 85 and over die in a residential care home.<sup>266</sup>

As a result of our increasing life expectancies and the ageing demographic of our society, an increasing proportion of people will die in old age. Of the 500,000 people who die in England each year, two-thirds are older than 75 and one-third are over 85 years old.<sup>267</sup> According to projections, by 2030, 86 per cent of deaths will be accounted for by people aged over 65 and those over 85 will account for 44 per cent of deaths. Therefore, an increasing proportion of those who die will have health conditions that are associated with old age, such as frailty and dementia, and it is likely that more will die from 'a mixture of long term conditions, such as diabetes and arthritis, combined with advanced old age and complicated by lung and heart conditions'.<sup>268</sup> Those who have these multiple conditions are more likely to die in a care home or a general acute hospital.<sup>269</sup>

Research undertaken by Demos with dying people and their carers has found that while people have very different experiences of illness and dying, there is some consensus that the factors that would make a relatively good experience of death more likely include:

· dying at the right time in life

- · dying not taking too long
- · being able to exercise a degree of control
- · having the right people around you
- having the space and support to reflect on life and find meaning in death in an appropriate way
- · not dying in pain
- · dying with a degree of dignity<sup>270</sup>

For people to have the type of death they would like, they

must be able to discuss their death with their loved ones, friends and carers: 'The more people are encouraged to talk about what matters to them about life, the more likely they are to get it even while dying.'<sup>271</sup>

Most people would prefer to die at home than in hospital, and research by the National Audit Office (NAO) has demonstrated that a considerable proportion of those who die in hospital do not have medical needs that require them to be in hospital, therefore they could be cared for elsewhere. The NAO's examination of patient records in one PCT found that 40 per cent of the patients who died in hospital over the course of one month 'did not have medical needs which required them to be treated in hospital, and nearly a quarter of these had been in hospital for over a month'. Two key reasons identified by the NAO for these unnecessary admissions to hospital were:

· inadequate training and resource to support residents of care

homes to die in their care home

 a lack of access to services in the community (particularly outside working hours) to support families and other caregivers, making emergency admissions to hospital more likely

Therefore, if we are to address this unnecessary

medicalisation of death and help people to achieve the death that they want to have, in the place where they feel most secure (which for the majority is their home or care home), it will be necessary to address the deficiencies that are leading to unnecessary hospital admissions.

## Unnecessary admissions from care homes

The survey of end of life practice in 1,410 residential and care homes commissioned by the NAO in 2008 found that on average around 70 per cent of residents' deaths occurred in the care home. However, there was significant variation within this sample, with 26 care homes saying that all resident deaths occurred within the home and five care homes saying that all resident deaths occurred in hospital.<sup>274</sup> In one PCT, 'the proportion of residents dying in care homes could have been increased from 61 per cent to 80 per cent, if greater support and advice had been provided to those care homes'.<sup>275</sup>

The NAO's survey found that the amount of training that care home staff had in providing end of life care to their residents varied considerably. Overall, 74 per cent of the homes surveyed provided specific training on end of life care for their staff. However, this training was compulsory in less than half of the homes surveyed and it was part of a formal qualification in only 44 per cent of homes.<sup>276</sup> Demos's research found that it was crucially important that people should be offered the opportunity to discuss how they want to die,<sup>277</sup> but the NAO survey found that only 64 per cent of homes had a policy for talking to residents and carers about where they would like to die and only 61 per cent of homes had policies for advance care planning.<sup>278</sup> These findings indicate that there is a considerable amount of work to be done to improve the training of care home staff, and develop appropriate policies to help ensure that care home residents are given opportunities to discuss how they would like to die, and are then supported to die in the way that they would like.

## A lack of support in the community

Whether or not somebody has access to care and support is a key determinant of whether they will be able to die at home. <sup>279</sup> There are no figures specifically identifying the number of informal carers who provide end of life care to a partner or family member. All carers are entitled to an assessment by a social worker, but the NAO's research found that adherence to this varied between PCTs: 19 per cent said that carers' assessments

were not provided, 52 per cent said that assessments were provided for some carers, and 29 per cent said they were provided as standard. Of the PCTs who responded to the census, 24 per cent provided respite care for those caring for people approaching the end of their life, 69 per cent provided respite for those who met eligibility criteria and 7 per cent provided no respite care.<sup>280</sup>

The NAO's research found that a lack of out-of-hours support, including access to advice, medication and equipment, led to unplanned and unnecessary admissions to hospital. Also, where out-of-hours services were provided, a lack of knowledge of the patient's wishes and circumstances could lead to inappropriate admissions, or do not attempt resuscitation orders not being known or recognised. <sup>281</sup> Carers were also frustrated by a 'lack of integrated services or a single point of contact to coordinate care.... There was consensus among those we consulted that continuity of care was a key factor in positive experiences. <sup>282</sup>

There is clearly a need to increase the provision of specialist end of life care for older people who wish to die at home and their carers, to reduce the disproportionately high number of older people who currently die in hospital. However, as we observed in section 1 of this report, the availability of informal care for older people is likely to decline in future years as a result of more childless people reaching old age and a growing proportion of older people living alone. A recent study by Rolls et al focusing on the palliative care needs of the increasing numbers of older people who live alone highlighted this: 'Older people who live alone face particular challenges if they are to age and die well, in the place and manner of their choosing, with respect to their broader physical environment, social supports, and material resources.'283 Therefore, if we wish as a society to support more older people to die at home, we will need to address the fact that informal carers will not always be available to provide most of the care that is needed.284

Hospices are another important community resource for accessing high quality end of life care, but as hospices are still particularly focused on meeting the needs of cancer patients, older people (for whom cancer is the primary cause of only 18 per cent of deaths) are less likely than other groups to have

access to this care. In 2006/07, only 14 per cent of older people who died over the age of 85 had accessed a hospice service. As the numbers of older people living alone increase, there is likely to be an increasing gap in provision for older people who lack sufficient informal support to die at home, but are unable to access hospice care. To bridge this gap and increase the end of life care options available to older people, hospices and care homes should be linked together to support the development of community care services that specialise in meeting the palliative care needs of older people.<sup>285</sup>

## Planning ahead

A survey by NatCen for the Dying Matters Coalition in 2009 found that although 29 per cent of people had talked about their wishes about dying, only 4 per cent have written an advance care plan. 286 An advance care plan 'may be the completion of a statement of the person's wishes and preferences about their future care, or an advance decision to refuse specific treatment'.287 People who are approaching the end of their lives should be supported to create an advanced care plan as a standard part of the process to help ensure they have the opportunity to communicate their wishes for their end of life care. This enables people to have 'vital conversations about how they want to die before they are caught up in the tumultuous crises that mark the last weeks of life'.288 However, as Rolls et al point out in their recent study, we cannot assume that dying people will always have the capacity to make such choices without significant support:

The capacity to make choices towards the end of life, especially for those who live alone, may gradually be undermined with age, incapacity and ill health, and a lack of information, informal care and other resources.<sup>289</sup>

Therefore, the provision of information to dying people and their carers about the different options that are available for end of life care will be particularly important in supporting people to make informed choices.

## Progress in improving end of life care

The Department of Health's national End of Life Care Strategy, which was published in July 2008, aims to improve the provision of palliative care for all adults at the end of life. This strategy is particularly focused on:

- improving the provision of community services, such as rapid response community nursing services that are available 24 hours a day
- ensuring that health and social care staff at all levels are trained to have the necessary skills to communicate with people approaching the end of their life and to deliver the appropriate care
- developing specialist palliative care outreach services to provide end of life care to adults in the community<sup>290</sup>

The 'vital sign' that will be used to judge the success of this strategy will be the numbers of people who are dying at home, compared with those who die in hospital. In 2010, the second annual report of the End of Life Care Strategy indicated that there is 'a very slow trend away from deaths in hospital (55%) towards death at home (20%)'.291 However, as this report acknowledges, many people would consider their care home to be 'at home', therefore this indicator will also need to track the numbers of people who are able to end their lives in their care home. While the progress that has already been made is promising, there is a long way to go in improving end of life care in care homes, providing better community support for people who wish to die at home, and developing more specialist palliative care support for older people.

## 9 Policy directions

The policy directions outlined in this chapter are as much about identifying a vision for an effective policy approach to ageing as they are about making specific recommendations for changes to policy or service provision. Cutting across these policy directions are a number of key principles that emerged from our research with older people.

First, at the centre of this vision is the need for long-term strategies to support people to experience better health, social inclusion and financial resilience across the life-course. Such a preventative approach will inevitably be more effective by reducing the risk that poor health or social isolation will occur in the first place.

Second, older people are a highly heterogeneous group, therefore we need to move away from one-size-fits-all policy approaches and services and offer older people choice and flexibility in how they live. It is not permissible to make assumptions about people's needs, interests or capabilities on the basis of their age. Challenging the age segregation that operates in many public services will have benefits for both older and younger people.

Third, we need to challenge all forms of age discrimination, including patronising stereotypes about older people's dependency and vulnerability and better target support towards those who need it. Universal benefits such as winter fuel payments (explored in more detail below) are part of the problem as they can feed into negative stereotypes by perpetuating the assumption that older people are vulnerable and automatically require additional support on the basis of their age.

Fourth, older people are feeling increasingly alienated by policy rhetoric that presents older people as a social or financial burden. We cannot meet the challenges posed by an ageing

#### Policy directions

society without the support of older people themselves. Therefore we need a shift of mind-set to focus on recognising and facilitating the positive contributions to society that are made by older people. The large number of baby boomers soon to reach retirement age present considerable opportunities for the development of self-help activities and reciprocal forms of support.

The policy directions that follow are presented according to the following thematic areas:

- · work and finances
- · housing and independence
- · health and social care
- · retirement and active ageing
- · end of life

#### Work and finances

### 1 Flexible jobs for older workers

Requiring people to work until later in life is an inevitable response to our increasing longevity. In the 2010 comprehensive spending review the Coalition Government announced that the state pension age would increase to 66 for both men and women by April 2020 and the default retirement age is soon to be phased out. However, if we are to successfully realise the intention of keeping people in the workforce until later in life, structural changes to our labour market will also be needed.

As the evidence reviewed in chapter 1 has shown, older people are a highly heterogeneous group, with widely differing health and disability statuses, skills and aptitudes. Working until later in life can have very positive health benefits; for example, research has shown that later retirement can delay the onset of dementia,<sup>292</sup> while employment can also contribute to positive self-esteem and prevent social isolation.<sup>293</sup> Not all types of jobs have these benefits, however, and some are more physically and psychologically demanding than others, making them more or less suitable to older workers. It cannot be assumed that older workers will want, or be able, to continue in the same job role as they age.

Flexibility of hours and location for jobs is very important to many older workers who may have a reduced capacity for work, or may wish to reduce their level of responsibility or to balance work commitments with caring roles or volunteering commitments. Evidence suggests that part-time working can be an important way of bridging work and retirement and more people would consider working past state pension age if flexible working arrangements were available.<sup>294</sup> Most importantly, the nature of the job roles available to older workers determines how effectively they can continue to engage with the workforce. Therefore, flexibility must also extend to the types of role that older workers are expected to perform.

Some people who want to continue working up to and beyond the state pension age wish to remain in the same job that they have performed for many years; others wish to move to a new role in the same organisation, while others wish to leave and work at a new organisation. It is vital that we support older workers to make these transitions and find suitable jobs for their capabilities to enable them to remain in the workforce. Some older workers may require a less demanding role; while others may simply want a change that enables them to use their skills more appropriately. Providing greater flexibility could also benefit employers, who could make better use of the particular contribution of older workers' experience and skills sets, which can be hard to replicate. To realise its ambitions of retaining an older workforce, the Government should work with employers to explore opportunities for developing more flexible career pathways for older workers, which offer a greater choice of job roles and support a phased approach to retirement. It will also be important to ensure that flexible work options that involve reduced hours or a transition to a less senior role do not have a negative effect on an individual's pension entitlements, or this will remain an unattractive option.

## 2 Bridging the skills gap between younger and older workers Previous research has demonstrated that employers value the particular skills of older workers, whom they perceive to have

more developed soft skills, more experience, and 'to be more reliable, loyal, able to cope with pressure and to empathise with others, and especially customers'.<sup>295</sup> The converse is true of younger workers, who are perceived by employers to lack some of the essential social and emotional capabilities for employment such as leadership, team-working and communication skills.<sup>296</sup> This perceived skills gap among younger people, whose relative inexperience acts as a disincentive to employment, is contributing to historically high levels of youth unemployment, with one in five graduates unemployed and 27 per cent of 18–20-year-olds unable to find a job.<sup>297</sup>

To help bridge the skills gap between older and younger workers and make better use of older people's acquired skills and experience, the Government should work with employers to investigate developing workplace mentoring schemes that match older people who are approaching retirement with young people who are either seeking employment or are newly employed. Such mentoring roles for older worker could be made part of a phased retirement package that included downsizing responsibilities or moving to a new job role. Such a scheme could have benefits for organisations of strengthening organisational memory and making more efficient use of older workers' skills. They could also reduce the risks of employing younger workers by ensuring that informal on-the-job training was available from an experienced employee.

## 3 Reducing complexity in the state pensions system and tackling pensioner poverty

As we observed in chapter 4, the state pensions system is currently extremely complicated, which can act as a barrier to saving as people do not know what their state pension entitlement will be like, and often assume that it will be more generous than it is.<sup>298</sup> For those who have low pensions entitlements, the current system of means-testing for pension credit, council tax benefit and housing benefit provides an important safety net. However, this can also increase people's dependency by acting as a disincentive to save, as private savings

that provide people with additional income in retirement can reduce their eligibility for means-tested benefits.<sup>299</sup> In May 2010, around 60 per cent of pensioners were eligible for some form of means-tested benefit.<sup>300</sup>

The introduction of employers' duty to automatically enrol their employees into an occupational pensions scheme in 2012 may exacerbate this problem for some people who may find themselves ineligible for means-tested benefits as a result of low occupational pension entitlements that they have built up through schemes such as NEST.<sup>301</sup> Analysis by the Pensions Policy Institute (PPI) suggests that people in the following categories would be at a higher risk of being worse off as a result of saving through the NEST scheme:

- people with interrupted national insurance records, who make irregular pensions savings
- · people who are likely to be eligible for means-tested benefits
- · people who are already near to the state pension age302

As the PPI observes, given that NEST will not be suitable for everybody, it will be essential that employees are provided with reliable information at the time of auto-enrolment so that they can make an informed decision about whether or not they should opt out.<sup>303</sup>

To help address some of these problems and provide a firmer basis for people to save towards their retirement, we support the proposals announced by the Government in October 2010 to investigate introducing a single-tier 'citizens' pension', which would provide all pensioners with the same flat-rate pension of around £140 a week.<sup>304</sup> Some reports suggest that such a system could also be more cost-effective for the state, as the three strands of the state pension: the basic state pension, second state pension and pension credit would be amalgamated, and administrative costs associated with means-testing would be removed.<sup>305</sup>

Such a flat-rate system would be far simpler to understand, as all retirees would be aware of the weekly amount they would receive.<sup>306</sup> The removal of means-testing for pension credit will

also provide people with reassurance that they can keep any occupational pension entitlements that they accrue through NEST or other private pension schemes in addition to their flatrate pension. This transparency could provide more people with a greater incentive to save, while the reduced complexity would enable people to better judge how much additional income they would need to maintain the same standard of living.

In addition to this important reform, there are further opportunities that the Coalition Government may wish to look at. If it decides to implement a flat-rate, non-means tested state pension, there is potential to give people the option to capitalise and invest a portion of their *future* state pension entitlement in a personal pension scheme of their choosing earlier in their lives. Measures such as this could have a dramatic effect on the rates of private pension take-up and could give people a head start in saving for the future at an early stage of their working life. A move towards flat-rate state pensions would make future state pension entitlements calculable and the option to sacrifice a small proportion of your state pension in order to invest in your own future could be a powerful way of promoting a future-orientated 'saving culture', encouraging pension planning among younger people.

### 4 Better targeting of winter fuel payments

Our research uncovered some sceptical attitudes among older people towards universal benefits such as the winter fuel payment. This universal benefit is currently provided annually to anyone aged above the women's state pension age, regardless of their income. This is premised on the concept of older people's vulnerability, as a DWP document explains:

Older people are targeted because they are particularly vulnerable to the effects of cold weather during the winter months and older people are more likely to be on fixed incomes.<sup>307</sup>

However, this justification is out of keeping with modern attitudes and experiences of ageing, as our research has

demonstrated. Very few people in their 60s now consider themselves to be old, and at age 65, average disability free life expectancy is now 10 years for men and 10.6 years for women, with healthy life expectancy considerably longer.<sup>308</sup> Therefore, the average person in their 60s is not physically vulnerable either.

We believe that the retention of a universal winter fuel payment at the female state pension age perpetuates inappropriate stereotypes of older people's vulnerability and dependency. In reality, most people are still working when they first receive the winter fuel payment, so the justification of being on a fixed income is also irrelevant. We believe that the Government should investigate better targeting this benefit, potentially raising eligibility to the age of 75 in line with disability free life expectancy. We recognise that this average disability free life expectancy conceals health inequalities. Therefore, those people who receive disability living allowance, attendance allowance or other health-related benefits, or those on a low income (for example people receiving pension credit) could be automatically enrolled for winter fuel payments at state pension age as part of their benefit package. This approach would be supported by the reform of the welfare system towards a universal credit. Such an approach would recognise the heterogeneity of older people, and the money saved through better targeting of this benefit could be invested in additional support services for older people who are genuinely vulnerable.

## Housing and independence

# 5 Making housing accessible to people with diverse needs and preferences

To reduce the numbers of older people with physical limitations who are living in inappropriate accommodation, putting them at greater risk of falls and social isolation, we need to take a more proactive approach to meeting older people's housing needs. It has been estimated that according to current population projections, by 2036 approximately 810,000 older people aged 75 or over will be living in unsuitable accommodation, with around 70

per cent of them living in owner-occupied properties, leading to an enormous demand for home adaptations.<sup>309</sup>

We are currently missing an extremely important opportunity to ensure that all new housing is built to minimum accessibility standards. It is not acceptable that at a time when government policy aims to promote inclusivity and outlaw discrimination against older and disabled people, we should still allow property developers to build new homes that are not accessible to a significant proportion of the population. The Lifetime Homes Standard (a set of 16 design criteria for accessibility<sup>310</sup>) should be made mandatory for all new housing built with public or private funds as an essential part of the process towards making accessible housing the norm.

The baby boomers are a powerful consumer group, most of whom own their own home (80 per cent of the age group aged 55+ own their own homes and 84 per cent of 65-74-year-olds).311 An important preventative approach to meeting this generation's housing needs will be to design and build more housing that meets older people's needs for accessibility, while also offering opportunities to be part of a community, protecting people from future risks of social isolation associated with bereavement or ill health. As the HAPPI panel has argued, if retirement housing could be made sufficiently attractive to the 'young old', downsizing or moving to more appropriate housing 'could become a positive choice'. 312 For specialist housing to seem like an attractive option to those who are far from considering themselves 'old', it must be well designed, well located and offer a range of tenure options.313 Such an approach would also benefit younger generations who are suffering from the limited supply of housing and finding it increasingly difficult to get on the housing ladder. 314

However, for those who wish to remain in their own homes as they grow older, home adaptation will continue to be an important option. Developing a more proactive strategy for meeting older people's housing needs, which encourages those approaching retirement to consider early on how their housing needs might change, and provides a range of options for adapting their current home or moving to a more appropriate home, should be a priority for central and local government.

#### Health and social care

#### 6 Tackling age discrimination in health and social care services

There is now a clear policy commitment to tackling the discriminatory treatment of older people in public services, as evidenced by the 2010 Equality Act, which will ban age discrimination in all public services, including health and social care, with an implementation date of 2012. However, as the Health Service Ombudsman's recent report has recently highlighted, there is considerable work to be done to make this legal commitment a reality and many more vulnerable older people are still suffering from a chronic lack of care and respect from healthcare professionals, particularly in hospitals.<sup>315</sup>

The significant culture change that is needed cannot be achieved without training to change the attitudes of health and social care professionals towards older people. Age awareness and anti-discrimination training must therefore be embedded in the initial professional training of all health and social care professionals, while continuous professional development to improve professional attitudes and behaviour towards older people should be made available to all health and social care professionals who regularly work with older people.

In the longer term, moving towards a human rights-focused approach to caring for vulnerable older people could potentially revolutionise the way in which care is provided. The Equality and Human Rights Commission's current inquiry investigating how well the human rights of older people who receive care at home are currently met is an important step forward in challenging the norms that determine the provision of domiciliary care.<sup>316</sup> As the Joseph Rowntree Foundation has argued, 'assessment for social care is increasingly focused on eligibility, costs, services and tasks and less on understanding holistic needs within the context of individual (and group) histories'.<sup>317</sup> Investigating how we can embed a focus on promoting older people's human rights into the commissioning and delivery of healthcare and social care in all settings should be a key focus for the Government going forward.

### 7 A preventative approach to supporting good mental health

The Government's recently published public health and mental health strategies are right to identify social isolation and loneliness in older people as problems that need to be tackled. However, they show little appreciation of the factors that particularly put older people at risk of loneliness, which are identified earlier in this report as relationship status (especially being divorced or widowed), time spent alone, a history of loneliness and poor health, 318 which leaves the misleading impression that old age is itself a risk factor for loneliness. In order to tackle negative stereotypes about old age, while also targeting support at those who are most at risk of poor wellbeing and poor mental health, we must challenge the incorrect assumption that it is old age itself that leads to people becoming socially isolated. Instead, policy makers should combine attempts to promote social inclusion and good mental health for people of all age groups with efforts to offer additional social support to those who are particularly at risk of experiencing social isolation and poor mental health, which is determined by experience rather than age.

Analysis of the 2008/09 ELSA survey demonstrated a particularly clear link between bereavement and depressive symptoms. It found that 25 per cent of people who were widowed showed signs of depression, and those widowed when aged 50–64 were most likely to be depressed. Surprisingly, the Government's No Health Without Mental Health strategy makes no mention of bereavement or widowhood and we are currently missing opportunities to target support towards those who are at risk of becoming depressed as a result of bereavement.

In the Cabinet Office document *Building the Big Society*, the Government pledged to 'train a new generation of community organisers' who would set up new neighbourhood groups.<sup>319</sup> Drawing on evidence that has shown that older people must have social support before and during an experience of adversity if they are to respond resiliently,<sup>320</sup> we suggest that an important role for these community organisers could be to develop local volunteer support networks for the relatives (and particularly partners) of those who are dying, with support continuing into the bereavement phase. These volunteer networks could have

links with providers of formal psychological therapies to facilitate referrals for those who needed additional support. This approach could either prevent people from becoming depressed, or could facilitate the early treatment of depressive symptoms, which with the right forms of social and professional support might be prevented from escalating into more significant mental health problems.

## 8 Investing in the prevention of dementia

As evidence reviewed in earlier chapters has shown, the rising rates of dementia associated with an ageing population pose an enormous risk to public health and public finances. Research has demonstrated the considerable cost-efficiencies that could be achieved by a better evidence-base on how the onset of dementia can be prevented or delayed.<sup>321</sup> Therefore, we propose that the Government should significantly increase funding for dementia research, putting this on a parity with investment in cancer research, which currently receives 12 times the level of funding.<sup>322</sup>

It is encouraging that the Ministerial Advisory Group on Dementia Research has been established to champion dementia research and 'find ways to secure a bigger share of the available funding'. 323 However, it is clear that *prevention* is still not a major focus of the national dementia strategy, which was developed by the Labour Government but is now being taken forward by the Coalition. The four priority areas of this strategy are:

- · good quality early diagnosis and intervention for all
- $\cdot\,$  improved quality of care in general hospitals
- · living well with dementia in care homes
- reduced use of antipsychotic medication<sup>324</sup>

We propose in addition to considerable increases in funding, a fifth priority area should be added to this strategy to demonstrate the Government's commitment to improving the evidence-base and public awareness of how the onset of dementia can be prevented or postponed. Better communicating what is already known about the prevention of vascular dementia could

#### Policy directions

also go some way to reducing some of the stigma and fear that surrounds this disease.<sup>325</sup>

Another key problem is the lack of training for staff in the NHS and social care for understanding and working effectively with people who have dementia. According to population and health projections, dementia will soon be one of the most common health problems of old age, therefore we also propose that all training for health and social care professionals who work with older people should include training in identifying the symptoms of dementia. In addition to this, professionals who care for older people with dementia must be trained in understanding the particular physiology of dementia to enable them to provide appropriate care and support to people with dementia and their carers.

## 9 A Big Society approach to preventative social care and healthy ageing

First and foremost, policy approaches to support healthy ageing must aim to reduce health inequalities by improving public health across the life-course. However, as the onset of health problems or disability can often occur in early old age, this is an important time to offer people support to reduce risk factors for poor health or to prevent pre-existing health problems from getting worse. Successive governments have attempted to improve preventative and low-level care services for older people, but the difficulties in targeting such interventions and the associated costs have meant that little progress has been made. The Coalition Government has made promising steps to improve the focus on re-ablement – providing services for older people leaving hospital who are in poor health – but re-ablement services should be distinguished from strategies to promote healthy ageing and actively prevent accidents, or the exacerbation of chronic conditions that can trigger poor health.

This latter area, of providing low-level preventative services and social support, is significantly at risk as a result of tightening social care eligibility criteria and reduced grant funding for third sector organisations that currently provide support to older people in the community. Given the significant resource implications of a social care funding system that adequately resources preventative services, this is unlikely to be a feasible option in the near future. We should also bear in mind that the Dilnot Commission on care funding will be publishing its proposals in July 2011. We cannot therefore make concrete recommendations at this stage on the care funding system, but believe the state must enable and facilitate healthier ageing far more systematically than is currently the case.

We recommend that healthy ageing must be reframed as a public health issue that is seen to be as serious as obesity, smoking and alcohol abuse because of the threat to older people's well-being and the high costs to the state posed by failure to take action. Public Health England and local health and well-being boards should make healthy ageing a distinct priority alongside other more well-known public health issues and the core services that local health and well-being boards fund should include healthy ageing services. Local authorities should then be assessed on their ability to achieve healthy ageing outcomes as they would with teenage pregnancy, rates of smoking and other key concerns.

To support this approach, the Big Society agenda should include the promotion of older people's contributions (see also below) as one of its key objectives. Through the seed-funding of community groups provided by health and well-being boards older people should be supported to lead their own healthy ageing and preventative health strategies, including befriending, social activities, leisure and exercise. In this way, the state would act as an enabler for older people to shape their own lives, overturning stereotypical notions of older people as passive consumers of services. If older people are involved in delivering services they are also more likely to meet their needs; this was a core principle of the successful POPPs and LinkAge projects referred to in chapter 6.326 However, as we observe below, many people who would be considered to fall into the 'older' category according to their age group do not necessarily consider themselves to be old and do not appreciate being targeted in a way they perceive as patronising. Therefore, core services that

#### Policy directions

are available to all age groups will continue to play a very important role.

## Retirement and active ageing

### 10 More opportunities for older people to contribute

Baby boomers will be one of the last generations in which many people have access to defined benefit pensions schemes and can afford to retire early. Now is an essential moment to ensure that opportunities are provided for them to spend their retirement in activities that are socially productive. With limited budgets available for preventative approaches to improving health and well-being, older people themselves will be an essential resource for delivering self-help activities and reciprocal support. Informal sources of community support will become increasingly important as more older people retire without partners or children, putting them at greater risk of experiencing social isolation. Recommendations 2, 7, 9 and 12 provide examples of contributions that older people could make by:

- · supporting young people to improve their workplace skills
- · supporting people who experience bereavement to build their social capital and draw on informal support
- $\cdot\,$  volunteering to lead healthy ageing activities at a local level
- · supporting new parents to develop their parenting skills

Self-directed voluntary organisations such as the University of the Third Age could play a far greater role in supporting active ageing, by providing older people with opportunities to socialise, develop informal support networks and take part in informal learning and other leisure activities. The Government's support for Big Society initiatives, including the training of community organisers, should be used to support the creation of new opportunities for older people to contribute to their community. However, it should not be assumed that older people will necessarily wish to volunteer to support other older people, or that they will undertake particular types of volunteering roles. If they are to have broad appeal, local initiatives to encourage

more older people to volunteer must be flexible and offer a range of opportunities that can make use of people's widely varying skill sets, interests and capacities, including volunteering at a management or strategic level. If volunteering levels for people aged over 75 are to increase, we must also put greater thought into how more volunteering opportunities that are appropriate for people with lower mobility and poorer health can be made available.

## 11 A diversity of service provision to support 'active ageing'

As communicated by the broad variety of perspectives communicated in earlier chapters, many of those categorised as 'older people' do not identify themselves in these terms and object to being targeted by policy makers. Older people are a highly heterogeneous group, therefore a diversity of service provision is needed to provide attractive opportunities for people with differing interests. Some older people will wish to participate in designated activities for older people, while others will just want to make use of universal services.

Ensuring that core services such as libraries and leisure centres are available and accessible to older people is therefore an essential part of supporting active ageing. Adult learning opportunities for older people should also have a more prominent role in the Coalition Government's public health strategy.

As we observed in chapter 7, surveys have demonstrated that the number of people taking part in cultural activities drops off significantly for people aged 75. The reasons for this need to be explored, as declining cultural participation has implications for this age group's health and well-being. Ways of improving levels of cultural participation for older people aged over 75 might include a combination of making cultural institutions more accessible for people with disabilities, and supporting more community-based outreach activities.<sup>327</sup> As part of its public health strategy, the Government should conduct research to identify why rates of cultural participation are lower for people aged over 75 and take action to address the barriers it identifies.

### 12 An intergenerational approach to local service delivery

In recent decades, local services have become increasingly targeted towards particular age groups, moving away from the traditional 'community centre' model. Sure Start children's centres are exclusively targeted at children aged 0–4 and their parents, activities for children and young people tend to take place at schools or youth centres, while day-care services for older people often take place in completely different settings. While this is desirable to some extent, as different generations wish to take part in different activities and spend time with their peer groups, it can also contribute to a sense of age segregation at a community local level.

As we observed in recommendation 2, older people have important experience and skills to share with younger generations in the workplace, and the same applies in community contexts. Recent Demos research has identified the lack of extended family networks as a key problem for some new parents, as they are unable to benefit from advice and support on parenting from their own parents.<sup>328</sup> With more mothers in work and people in general needing to work later in life, childcare is increasingly going to be a shared endeavour. At the same time, more people are approaching old age without children or partners to care for them, increasing the importance of informal networks for care and support.

As the social enterprise 'United for All Ages' has recommended, local authorities and other local service providers should challenge assumptions that activities should be structured according to age group and investigate how services could be delivered in more flexible and creative ways to bring generations together to share their different skills, abilities and experience. Such an approach could also be more cost-effective if the same public facilities were used by more people of different age groups and for a wider range of purposes.<sup>329</sup>

#### End of life

## 13 A Big Society approach to end of life care

While surveys have demonstrated that most people wish to die at home, there is currently not enough community capacity to provide the knowledge, care and support to make this possible. Older people are particularly disadvantaged by the current system as they are least likely to have access to hospice care and most likely to die in hospital. A significant number of older people also die in residential care; however, residential care workers often lack training in end of life care, which can lead to unnecessary emergency admissions to hospital. The Health Service Ombudsman's recent report has highlighted how poorly geared to older people's care needs hospitals often are.<sup>330</sup>

To mitigate these problems, better networks of community support are needed to enable more older people who wish to die at home to do so (with 'home' including residential care). The first priority would be 24-hour community nursing to support people to cope with caring for dying family members at home (currently 32 per cent of PCTs provide no overnight services or services after midnight). To supplement this and provide greater informal emotional support for carers (both while their loved one is dying and afterwards, as explored in recommendation 7), we propose a Big Society approach to building community capacity in providing end of life care. A volunteer support programme could be established with trained volunteers to support carers and dying people in their homes. The potential for such an approach is explored in more detail in the recent Demos report *Dying for Change*.<sup>331</sup>

However, this approach would of course depend on sufficient informal care also being available, which will not be the case for a growing number of older people who have no partner or children. To increase the end of life care options available to older people, hospices and care homes could be linked together to support the development of community care services that specialise in meeting the palliative care needs of older people.<sup>332</sup> Such an approach would also be an important means of facilitating the transfer of skills between specialist palliative care teams in hospices and residential care staff.

## **Annex 1 Methodology**

For this project, researchers at Demos worked with academics from Brunel University to compare and contrast policy approaches to ageing with the lived experience of growing old. Desk research and literature reviews were used to gain an understanding of the overarching frameworks of policy together with the detail of policy areas that particularly affect ageing, such as pensions and care, in combination with an innovative qualitative research method, which involved partnering with the Mass Observation initiative and using reading groups and diarykeeping to obtain direct testimony of what it is like to grow older, without asking specific questions, an approach that risks prejudicing or shaping responses. Through this approach we discovered how people feel about themselves, how they are treated and viewed, and how they react to policies that affect their everyday lives. Using personal reflection in this way has advantages with minimal disadvantages. The sample was substantial and contained people with radically different backgrounds and viewpoints, although people who participated in the study had to be willing to make a certain level of voluntary commitment, reflecting the principles of active citizenship which underlie the Big Society. The strength of the individual voice lies in its immediacy and vividness. Taken collectively, such voices offer a broad cultural picture.

In policy circles, numbers often count for more than testimony, and humanity gets lost in the data. Our aim in this study is to invigorate policy thinking by seeing the world through the eyes of those affected. Given the innovative nature of the methodology, we believe it is worth going into some preliminary detail about how it worked.

## The project design

The initial research questions of Brunel University's Fiction and the Cultural Mediation of Ageing Project (FCMAP) were concerned first with investigating the relationship between cultural representations of, and social attitudes to, ageing, and second with the potential of critical reflection and elective reading by older volunteers to promote new ways of thinking about ageing. In meeting these objectives, it was necessary to develop an approach which limited the influence of the research team on the participants as far as possible. Consequently, the FCMAP team had reservations concerning direct interviews with volunteers as these would incorporate and represent an unequal set of relationships, and potentially be too leading. Instead, FCMAP assembled the personal narratives, critical reflections on group encounters and responses to fiction and other media of our volunteer participants in order to reveal experiences of, and opinions concerning, ageing that normally remain hidden from public view.

In particular, FCMAP drew on the tradition of Mass Observation, the social research organisation dedicated to compiling an 'anthropology of ourselves', which was founded in 1937 by Tom Harrisson, Humphrey Jennings and Charles Madge and ran in its first phase until 1949.333 Their projects included a study of the industrial working class in Bolton (which they called 'Worktown') and the establishment of a national panel of volunteers, who answered monthly questionnaires about various aspects of their everyday lives in the form of day-to-day personal diaries; the most famous of these was that of Nella Last, 334 memorably portrayed by Victoria Wood in the 2006 TV drama Housewife, 49. Mass Observation was unique in its participative research techniques, its capacity to reveal and interrogate narratives of everyday life, and its pioneering analysis of public opinion.335 The analysis involved sifting and accounting for the influence of cultural views on personal perspectives, thereby allowing them to reveal private opinion at odds with publicly accepted norms, as, for example, in their prediction of the 1945 Labour election victory 18 months in advance.336

Diaries of course have the potential to unlock private views, and FCMAP set up two major studies to give voice directly to

older subjects by using Mass Observation diary-keeping techniques, one involving the present-day exercise (with potentially 600 participants of whom 193 responded) and the other involving 86 volunteers from the older age ranges organised into reading and discussion groups.

## The Mass Observation study

The current project, run from the University of Sussex (which holds the original Mass Observation archives) since 1981, is one of the longest-running longitudinal life-writing projects anywhere in the world. About three times a year, Mass Observation volunteers receive a 'directive' – a set of open questions, which invite them to write freely and discursively about their views and experiences (these are often commissioned by sociologists and other academic researchers). Over 2,800 people have contributed to the Mass Observation project, and the current active mailing list is about 600 strong; 51 per cent of respondents to the spring 2007 directive were over 60 and many of them have been writing for years.

FCMAP commissioned the winter 2009 directive on ageing and cultural representation of the respondent's age group. In keeping with successful Mass Observation practice, the directive was framed broadly, in order to elicit a wide variety of reflections on changing representations of ageing and their relationship to self-understanding. Respondents were encouraged to explore the influence of particular representations on their own and others' images and expectations of ageing, making social and generational comparisons. We were then able to compare the resultant material (193 responses) with earlier responses to Mass Observation directives on ageing that were sent out in 1992 and 2006.

## The volunteer reading groups study

In collaboration with the Third Age Trust eight volunteer reading groups were established in the following University of the Third Age districts in and around London, with an

#### Annex 1 Methodology

identification code: Banstead (CBL), Camden Town (OUL), Highgate/North London 1 (HIL), Highgate/North London 2 (NOL), Kingston (KSL), South East London (SEL), Tower Hamlets (THL) and Waterloo (WMC). Each participant was allocated a number to preserve anonymity, and some group members travelled considerable distances to participate, so they were not always resident in the areas where they met.

Some of the readers and groups were experienced in selforganised informal learning, and familiar with reflecting on texts and issues, but many others were not. During the course of a year, all groups read nine nominated novels published from 1944 to the present (a period corresponding very largely with the adult life experiences of participants, who were aged from their early 60s to their 90s). The texts featured radically different depictions of ageing and offered a range of stimuli and points of historical and cultural reference. A list of the novels is provided below. The volunteers kept diaries throughout the year, recording responses to the books, critical reflections on volunteer reading group discussions and other reflections on any matter of their choice.

## **Analysis**

A number of longitudinal case studies – comprising those who had responded to all three of the relevant directives from 1992 to 2009 – were extracted from the Mass Observation study because they collectively narrated a hitherto concealed sea change in the experience of ageing over the past 20 years that, once revealed, is instantly recognisable. Similarly, analysis of the reading group diaries disclosed a pattern of particular representations of ageing being taken up, rejected or transformed as the participants negotiated the interaction between personal and group responses set up by the project, producing accounts that collectively showed the signification of ageing in the real world to be in a process of radical transition.

#### List of novels

Groups read the novels in the A list but were allowed to substitute one novel for one of the novels from the B list.

#### A list

(In the order of reading)
David Lodge, Deaf Sentence
Jim Crace, Arcadia
Caryl Phillips, A Distant Shore
Hanif Kureishi, The Body
Trezza Azzopardi, Remember Me
Angela Carter, Wise Children
Barbara Pym, Quartet in Autumn
Norah Hoult, There Were No Windows
Fay Weldon, Chalcot Crescent

#### **B** list

Muriel Spark, Memento Mori Angus Wilson, Late Call Elizabeth Taylor, Mrs Palfrey at the Claremont Margaret Forster, The Seduction of Mrs Pendlebury Jonathan Coe, What a Carve Up! Mark Haddon, A Spot of Bother Anita Brookner, Strangers

# Annex 2 Landmarks in ageing policy 1908-2010

1908: Old Age Pensions Act

This introduced the first non-contributory means-tested state pension for people aged over 70.

1925: Widows', Orphans' and Old Age Contributory Pensions
Act

This provided financial support for widows outside the Poor Law and added contributory pensions from the age of 65 to the existing non-contributory scheme. Pensions required contributions from those aged 60–65. Those without a recent contribution record were still subject to a means test at age 70.

1935-36: Rowntree (York) survey

This research proved that the poverty of old age was more acute than poverty of any other age group. It was revealed that there was considerable 'concealed' poverty among the old.

1942: William Beveridge's report Social Insurance and Allied Services

This set out the principles that were to underpin the creation of 'the cradle to the grave' welfare state.

- 1946: National Insurance Act
  The introduction of a universal social insurance system,
  including a state pension with flat-rate national insurance
  contributions and flat-rate benefits.
- 1948: National Assistance Act
  This replaced the Poor Law and established the statutory responsibility of local authorities to provide housing for older people in need of care.
- 1970: Local Authority Social Services Act
  This mandated a restructuring of welfare services for older people, creating new social services departments.

- 1971: National Insurance (Old Persons' and Widows' Pensions and Attendance Allowance) Act 1970.
  Under this act, attendance allowance was introduced in 1971, offering a tax-free cash benefit to disabled older people who need support, whether or not they received this support.
- 1974: National Insurance Act
  This determined that state pensions were to be uprated by prices or earnings, whichever was higher.
- 1980: Social Security Act

  This determined that the state pension would be uprated by prices only.
- 1990: Community Care Act

  This mandated local authorities to act as care managers and to fund domiciliary care for older people on low incomes.
- 1995: Carers (Recognition and Services) Act
  This provided for the assessment of the ability of carers to
  provide care; and for connected purposes.
- 1995: Pensions Act
  This made provision for women's state pension age to increase incrementally from ages 60 to 65 between 2010 and 2020.
- 1996: Community Care (Direct Payments) Act
  This enabled some disabled people of working age to
  receive a cash payment in lieu of social care services to
  spend themselves (a direct payment). The right to direct
  payments was extended to all care users, including older
  people, by 2003.
- 2002: World Health Organisation report *Active Ageing: A policy framework.*

This document articulated a policy framework for 'active ageing', as a 'process of optimizing opportunities for health, participation and security in order to enhance quality of life as people age'. 'Active' ageing was defined as continuing participation in social, economic, cultural, spiritual and civic affairs, not just the ability to be physically active or to participate in the labour force.

2004: Carers (Equal Opportunities) Act

This placed the duty on local authorities to ensure that the assessment of carers had to take account of carers' employment, life-long learning and leisure activities. Carers had to be informed of their rights and local authorities could enlist the support of other agencies in supporting carers.

2005: Labour Government ageing strategy Opportunity Age: Meeting the challenge of ageing in the 21st century.

2006: The Employment Equality (Age) Regulations
This prohibited unjustified direct and indirect age
discrimination by employers.

2007: Pensions Act

This made provision for the state pension age for men and women to increase from 65 to 68 between 2024 and 2046. It also reformed the basic state pension and second state pension.

2007: The strategy document *Putting People First*Following on from the 2006 white paper, *Our Health, Our Care, Our Say*, this articulated personalisation as a central concept of social care reform and set the target that 30 per cent of council funded care users across the country would be using a personal budget by April 2011.

2009: Labour Government ageing strategy Building a Society for All Ages

2010: Equality Act

This legislated to provide fairer services for older people, by banning age discrimination in services and public functions.

## **Notes**

- ONS, 'Older People's Day 2010', *ONS Statistical Bulletin*, 30 Sep 2010, Office for National Statistics, www.statistics.gov.uk/pdfdir/age0910.pdf (accessed 8 Mar 2011).
- 2 Ibid.
- 'Under current legislation, state pension age for women is increasing from age 60 to 65 between 2010 and 2020 (Pensions Act 1995), after which there will be a gradual increase in state pension age for both men and women from age 65 to 68 between 2024 and 2046 (Pensions Act 2007)' ('Older People's Day 2010', pp 6–7).
- 4 Office for National Statistics, *Social Trends* 40, 2010, p 3.
- 5 D Willetts, *The Pinch: How the baby boomers took their children's* future and why they should give it back, London: Atlantic, 2010.
- 6 ONS, 'Older People's Day 2010'.
- 7 Ibid.
- 8 A Park et al, 'Never too old? Attitudes towards longer working lives' in Natcen, *British Social Attitudes 2009–2010*, London: Sage, 2010.
- 9 Ibid.
- 10 Ibid.

- Under the Pensions Act 1995 the state pension age for women began to increase on 6 Apr 2010. Women's state pension age will reach 65 (in line with men's) by 2020. Under the Pensions Act 2007, the state pension age for both men and women would increase from 65 to 68 by 2046. See ONS, 'The labour market and retirement' in Office for National Statistics, *Pension Trends*, www.statistics.gov.uk/pensiontrends/ (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- 12 D Dannefer and C Miklowski, 'Developments in the life course' in JA Vincent, CR Phillipson and M Downs (eds), *The Futures of Old Age*, London: Sage, 2006.
- ONS, 'The labour market and retirement'.
- 14 Ibid.
- 15 A Sherwin, 'What retirement? Rise in over-65s still working', *Independent*, 3 Mar 2011, www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/what-retirement-rise-in-over65s-still-working-2230659.html?dm\_i=4X7,DOFU,2P429I,13287,1 (accessed 8 Mar 2011).
- ONS, 'Labour market statistics', *ONS Statistical Bulletin*, 16 Feb 2011, Office for National Statistics, www.statistics.gov.uk/pdfdir/lmsuk0211.pdf (accessed 8 Mar 2011).
- 17 Saga, Saga Quarterly Report, Q1, Feb 2011.
- 18 ONS, 'The labour market and retirement'.
- 19 Natcen, 'British Social Attitudes 26th Report growing public acceptance of later retirement', press release, Jan 2010 www.natcen.ac.uk/media-centre/press-releases/2010-press-releases/british-social-attitudes-26th-report—growing-public-acceptance-of-later-retirement (accessed 27 Feb 2011).
- 20 Park et al, 'Never too old?', p 183.

- 21 ONS, 'Labour market statistics'.
- J Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Well-being of the Older Population in England: the 2008 English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (Wave 4), London: Institute for Fiscal Studies, 2010.
- 'Low level' education refers to those who leave education at or after age 19; 'high level' education refers to those who left education at or before the compulsory school leaving age.
- 24 Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Well-being of the Older Population in England.
- 25 Ibid, p 31.
- 26 Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Well-being of the Older Population in England.
- Aviva, 'The Aviva real retirement report', 2010, www.aviva.com/data/media-uploads/news/File/pdf/2010/ The\_Aviva\_Real\_Retirement\_Report\_February2010.pdf (accessed 8 Mar 2011).
- 28 Ibid; Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Wellbeing of the Older Population in England.
- ONS, 'Inequalities and poverty in retirement' in Office for National Statistics, *Pension Trends*, Sep 2010, www.statistics.gov.uk/pensiontrends/ (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- Evandrou and Falkingham, 'Will the baby-boomers be better off than their parents in retirement?', p 96.
- 31 A Park et al (eds), 'Planning for retirement: realism or denial?' in Natcen, *British Social Attitudes* 2005–2006, London: Sage, 2006.

- ONS, 'Pensioner income and expenditure' in Office for National Statistics, *Pension Trends*, Sep 2010, www.statistics.gov.uk/pensiontrends/ (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- 33 ONS, 'Inequalities and poverty in retirement'.
- 34 Ibid.
- 35 Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Well-being of the Older Population in England; ONS, 'Inequalities and poverty in retirement'.
- 36 ONS, 'Inequalities and poverty in retirement'.
- Evandrou and Falkingham, 'Will the baby-boomers be better off than their parents in retirement?', p 95.
- National Equality Panel, An Anatomy of Economic Inequality in the UK: Report of the National Equality Panel, London: Government Equalities Office: Jan 2010.
- 39 ONS, 'Inequalities and poverty in retirement'.
- 40 National Equality Panel, An Anatomy of Economic Inequality in the UK.
- 41 ONS, 'Inequalities and poverty in retirement', p 8.
- 42 National Equality Panel, An Anatomy of Economic Inequality in the UK.
- 43 Ibid.
- E Clery, A Humphrey and T Bourne, *Attitudes to Pensions: The* 2009 survey, London: Dept for Work and Pensions, 2010.

- 45 ONS, 2009 General Lifestyle Survey, London: Office for National Statistics, 2011, table 7.2, www.statistics.gov.uk/ STATBASE/Product.asp?vlnk=5756 (accessed 8 Mar 2011).
- 46 Ibid.
- 47 ONS, 'Older People's Day 2010'.
- J Falkingham et al, 'Demographic issues, projections and trends: older people with high support needs in the UK, York: ESRC Centre for Population Change, Joseph Rowntree Foundation, Oct 2010.
- 49 Alzheimer's Society, 'Demography', updated Jan 2010, www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/documents\_\_ info.php?documentID=412 (accessed 1 Feb 2011); DoH, Quality Outcomes for People With Dementia: Building on the work of the National Dementia Strategy, London: Dept of Health, 2010.
- 50 I Blood, Older People With High Support Needs: How can we empower them to enjoy a better life, York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2010.
- 51 Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Well-being of the Older Population in England, p 5.
- 52 Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Well-being of the Older Population in England.
- M Kivipelto and A Solomon, 'Lifestyle-related factors in stroke and dementia', *European Neurological Review* 3, no 1, 2008.
- G Rait et al, 'Survival of people with clinical diagnosis of dementia in primary care: cohort study', *British Medical Journal* 341, 2010

- 55 ONS, 'Life expectancy at birth and at age 65 by local areas in the United Kingdom, 2007–09', Office for National Statistics, 19 Oct 2010, www.statistics.gov.uk/statbase/Product.asp?vlnk= 8841 (accessed 8 Mar 2011).
- 56 Ibid; ONS 'Trends in ONS Longitudinal Study estimates of life expectancy, by social class 1972–2005', Office for National Statistics, 2007, www.statistics.gov.uk/StatBase/Product.asp?vlnk=8460 (accessed 1 Feb 2010).
- 57 M Marmot (ed), Fair Society, Healthy Lives: The Marmot Review, [London]: The Marmot Review, 2010, www.ucl.ac.uk/marmotreview (accessed 8 Mar 2011).
- 58 ONS, 'Older People's Day 2010'.
- 59 M Evandrou and J Falkingham, 'Looking back to look forward: lessons from four birth cohorts for ageing in the 21st century. *Population Trends*, 99, 2000.
- 60 Ibid.
- 61 Ibid.
- 62 J Allen, *Older People and Wellbeing*, London: Institute for Public Policy Research, 2008.
- P Demakakos, A McMunn and A Steptoe, 'Well-being in older age' in J Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Well-being of the Older Population in England: the 2008 English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (Wave 4), London: Institute for Fiscal Studies, 2010.
- 64 Ibid.
- 65 Ibid.

- 66 G Netuveli et al, 'Mental health and resilience at older ages: bouncing back after adversity in the British Household Panel Survey', Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 62, 2008.
- J Holt-Lunstad, TB Smith and JB Layton, 'Social relationships and mortality risk: a meta-analytic review', PLoS Medicine 7, no 7, 2010.
- 68 C Victor et al, 'The prevalence of, and risk factors for, loneliness in later life: a survey of older people in Great Britain', *Ageing & Society* 25, 2005.
- 69 C Victor et al, 'Has loneliness amongst older people increased? An investigation into variations between cohorts', *Ageing & Society* 22, 2002.
- 70 Victor et al, 'The prevalence of, and risk factors for, loneliness in later life'.
- 71 Ibid.
- 72 Evandrou and Falkingham, 'Looking back to look forward'.
- L Rolls et al, 'Older people living alone at the end of life in the UK: research and policy challenges', *Palliative Medicine*, July 2010.
- 74 E Breeze and M Stafford, 'Receipt and giving of help and care' in J Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Wellbeing of the Older Population in England: the 2008 English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (Wave 4), London: Institute for Fiscal Studies, 2010.
- 75 Ibid.
- 76 Ibid.

- 77 J Griggs, The Poor Relation? Grandparental care: where older people's poverty and child poverty meet, prepared for Grandparents Plus and EHRC, Oxford: Dept for Social Policy and Social Work, University of Oxford, 2009.
- 78 Ibid.
- 79 B Broad, Being a Grandparent: Research evidence: Key themes and policy recommendations, Harlow: Grandparents' Association, 2007.
- 80 Equality and Human Rights Commission, 'Protect, support, provide: examining the role of grandparents in families at risk of poverty', www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded\_files/age/protect\_support\_provide\_policy.pdf (accessed 8 Mar 2011), p 36.
- 81 I Blood and SM Bamford, *Equality and Diversity and Older People With High Support Needs*, York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation and International Longevity Centre UK, 2010.
- 82 Ibid.
- 83 Park et al, 'Never too old?'.
- 84 ONS, 'Pensions legislation: an overview' in Office for National Statistics, *Pension Trends*, 14 May 2010, www.statistics.gov.uk/pensiontrends/ (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- 85 S Lister, 'No quick fix for long term care', *British Medical Journal* 340, 2010.
- 86 CSJ, *The Forgotten Age: Understanding poverty and social exclusion in later life*, an interim report by the Older Age Working Group, chaired by Sara McKee, London: Centre for Social Justice, Nov 2010.

- 87 OBR, *Pre-Budget Forecast*, London: Office for Budget Responsibility, June 2010, http://budgetresponsibility.independent.gov.uk/d/pre\_budget\_forecast\_140610.pdf (accessed 8 Mar 2011).
- 88 DWP, A Sustainable State Pension: When the state pension age will increase to 66, Cm 7956, London: State Pensions Division, Dept for Work and Pensions, Nov 2010.
- Dept for Work and Pensions, 'Dramatic rise in pensioners as baby boomers enter golden years', press release, 21 Sep 2010, www.dwp.gov.uk/newsroom/press-releases/2010/sep-2010/dwp121-10-210910.shtml (accessed 8 Mar 2011).
- 90 DWP, A Sustainable State Pension.
- 91 Commission for Healthcare Audit and Inspection, State of Healthcare 2007: Improvements and challenges in services in England and Wales, HC 97, London: The Stationery Office, 2007.
- 92 Falkingham et al, 'Demographic issues, projections and trends'.
- 93 Health and Social Care Information Centre, *Personal Social Services Expenditure and Unit Costs England*, 2008–09, 2010.
- 94 OBR, Pre-Budget Forecast.
- 95 DoH, Quality Outcomes for People With Dementia.
- 96 DoH, Living Well With Dementia: A national dementia strategy, London: Dept of Health, 2009.
- 97 RH Binstock, 'From compassionate ageism to intergenerational conflict?', *Gerontologist* 50, no 5, 2010, p 577.
- 98 World Bank, *Averting the Old Age Crisis: Policies to protect the old and promote growth*, Washington DC: The World Bank, 1994.

- 99 Willetts, The Pinch.
- 100 Griggs, The Poor Relation?
- 101 C Berry and D Sinclair, *Intergenerational Fairness and the Spending Review 2010*, London: International Longevity Centre UK, 2010.
- 102 E Howker and S Malik, *Jilted Generation: How Britain has bankrupted its youth*, London: Icon Books, 2010, pp 72–3.
- 103 Ibid, p 125.
- 104 D Leighton, Back to the Future, London: Demos, 2011.
- 105 Dept for Work and Pensions, Building a Society for All Ages, Cm 7655, London: HM Government, 2009.
- 106 HM Government, The Coalition.
- 107 BIS, Phasing out the Default Retirement Age: Government response to consultation, London: Dept for Business, Innovation and Skills, Jan 2011.
- 108 DWP, A Sustainable State Pension.
- 109 Ibid.
- 110 Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Well-being of the Older Population in England.
- III Information Centre for Health and Social Care, Survey of Carers in Households 2009/10, 2010, www.ic.nhs.uk/webfiles/publications/009\_Social\_Care/carersurvey0910/Survey\_of\_Carers\_in\_Households\_2009\_10\_England.pdf (accessed 8 Mar 2011).

- ONS, 'Life expectancy at birth and at age 65 by local areas in the United Kingdom, 2007–09'; ONS 'Trends in ONS Longitudinal Study estimates of life expectancy, by social class 1972–2005'.
- 113 Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Well-being of the Older Population in England.
- 114 Marmot, Fair Society, Healthy Lives, p 38.
- S Boseley, 'Public health advances "could prevent 200,000 premature deaths a year", *Guardian*, 28 Oct 2010, www.guardian.co.uk/politics/2010/oct/28/michael-marmothealth-prospects-report (accessed 8 Mar 2011).
- 116 HM Government, Healthy Lives, Healthy People: Our strategy for public health in England, Cm 7985, London: HM Government, Nov 2010.
- PSSRU, National Evaluation of Partnerships for Older People Projects: Final report, Canterbury, London and Manchester, Personal Social Services Research Unit, 2009.
- 118 DoH, A Vision for Adult Social Care: Capable communities and active citizens, London: Dept of Health, 2010, p 13.
- 119 Clery, Humphrey and Bourne, Attitudes to Pensions.
- 120 Ibid.
- 121 DoH, A Vision for Adult Social Care.
- 122 HM Government, Opportunity Age: Meeting the challenges of ageing in the 21st century, [London]: HM Government, 2005.
- 123 HM Government, Healthy Lives, Healthy People
- 124 Allen, Older People and Wellbeing.

- 125 See G Waddell and K Burton, *Is Work Good for Your Health and Wellbeing?*, London: The Stationery Office, 2006; Dept of Health, *New Horizons: A shared vision for mental health*, London: HM Government, 2009; DoH, *A Vision for Adult Social Care*.
- 126 Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Well-being of the Older Population in England.
- 127 C Berry, 'Inflation hits older people hardest, despite the boomer-bashing fad', ILC-UK blog, Jan 2011, http://blog.ilcuk.org.uk/2011/01/18/inflation-hits-older-people-hardest-despite-the-boomer-bashing-fad/ (accessed 8 Mar 2011).
- 128 Saga, Saga Quarterly Report, Q1, 2011.
- 129 Aviva, 'The Aviva real retirement report'.
- 130 Ibid.
- 131 Saga, Saga Quarterly Report, Q1, 2011.
- 132 HM Treasury, *Spending Review 2010*, London: HM Treasury, Oct 2010.
- 133 H Reed and T Horton, *How the Government's Planned Cuts Will Affect Older People*, London: Age UK, 2010.
- 134 Ibid.
- 135 Ibid.
- 136 HM Treasury, Spending Review 2010.
- 137 M Samuel, 'Spending review analysis follow the money and it isn't there', *Community Care*, 25 Oct 2010, www.communitycare. co.uk/Articles/2010/10/25/115665/spending-review-analysis-follow-the-money-and-it-isnt-there.htm (accessed 8 Feb 2011).

- 138 WRVS, Gold Age Pensioners: Valuing the socio-economic contribution of older people in the UK, Cardiff: Women's Royal Voluntary Service, Mar 2011.
- 139 Ibid.
- 140 Ibid.
- 141 Ibid.
- 142 D Abrams et al, *Attitudes to Age in Britain 2004–08*, London: Dept for Work and Pensions, 2009.
- 143 Ibid.
- 144 Ibid, p 9.
- D Casciani, 'Fear of crime "trapping elderly", BBC News, 20 May, 2003, http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/3044625.stm (accessed 9 Mar 2011)
- 146 A Walker et al, *Crime in England and Wales 2008/09*, vol 1, 'Findings from the British Crime Survey and police recorded crime', Home Office statistical bulletin, London: Home Office, 2009.
- 147 Ibid.
- 148 L Hurd Clarke and A Korotchenko, 'Shades of grey: to dye or not to dye one's hair in later life', *Ageing and Society* 30, 2010.
- 149 R Leach et al, 'Boomers and beyond: intergenerational consumption and the mature imagination', findings report for project Feb 2005 to Mar 2007, Cultures of Consumption, 2007, www.consume.bbk.ac.uk/research/biggs.html (accessed 23 Jan 2011).

- 150 Saga as cited in D Sinclair, *The Golden Economy: The consumer marketplace in an ageing society*, London: Age UK, 2010.
- 151 Dept for Work and Pensions, Building a Society for All Ages.
- 152 DWP, A Sustainable State Pension.
- 153 (S516, 61).
- 154 Mass Observation 2006: female, 75, divorced living with partner, former social worker, former B&B landlady, Hebden Bridge.
- 155 ONS, 'State pensions' in Office for National Statistics, *Pension Trends*, Jun 2009, www.statistics.gov.uk/pensiontrends/ (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- 156 Ibid.
- 157 A Harrop et al, Agenda for Later Life 2010: Our five-year ambition for public policy, London: Age UK, 2010, http://policy.helptheaged.org.uk/NR/rdonlyres/CA9B5B5F-3BD7-40EE-99AF-CE2531B6D413/0/AgendaforLaterLifeMarch2010.pdf (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- 158 ONS, 'State pensions'.
- 159 Ibid.
- 160 HM Government, *The Coalition: Our Programme for Government*, London: HM Government, May 2010.
- 161 A Bozio, R Crawford and G Tetlow, *The History of State Pensions in the UK: 1948 to 2010*, London: Institute for Fiscal Studies, 2010, p 59.

- D Sinclair, 'Where next for pension reform? How can we encourage people to save?', ILC policy paper and notes of dinner debate, International Longevity Centre UK, 22 Feb 2010, www.ilcuk.org.uk/files/pdf\_pdf\_128.pdf (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- 163 Clery, Humphrey and Bourne, Attitudes to Pensions.
- The Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE), cited in ONS, 'Private pension scheme membership' in Office for National Statistics, *Pension Trends*, May 2010, www.statistics.gov.uk/pensiontrends/ (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- 165 DWP modelling of small and medium-sized enterprise statistics 2007 and Employers' Pension Provision Survey 2007, cited in NEST, 'Key facts and myth buster', National Employment Savings Trust, 2010, www.nestpensions.org.uk/documents/Key-Fact-Myths.pdf (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- 166 ONS, 'Private pension scheme membership'.
- 167 NEST, 'Key facts and myth buster'.
- 168 RH Thaler and C Sunstein, *Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness*, Michigan: Caravan Books, 2008.
- 169 Ibid.
- 170 HM Government, The Coalition.
- Written answer to parliamentary question by Steve Webb on 21 Dec 2010, *Hansard*, 21 Dec 2010, www.publications.parliament. uk/pa/cm201011/cmhansrd/cm101221/text/101221w0003.htm (accessed 14 Mar 2011).
- 172 Clery, Humphrey and Bourne, Attitudes to Pensions.
- 173 CSJ, The Forgotten Age.

- 174 Ibid.
- 175 HM Government, *The Coalition*.
- 176 CLG, Lifetime Homes, Lifetime Neighbourhoods: A National strategy for housing in an ageing society, London: Dept for Communities and Local Government, 2008.
- 177 D Sinclair, 'Housing and the older consumer', Jan 2011, blog, http://blog.ilcuk.org.uk/2011/01/13/housing-and-the-older-consumer (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- 178 National Housing Federation, Breaking the Mould: Re-visioning older people's housing, London: National Housing Federation, Feb 2011.
- 179 HAPPI, Housing our Ageing Population: Panel for Innovation, London: Homes and Communities Agency, 2009, www.homesandcommunities.co.uk/public/documents/Happi Final Report - 031209.pdf (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- 180 S Adams and M Ellison, Time to Adapt: Home adaptations for older people: the increase in need and future of state provision, Nottingham, Care and Repair England, 2009.
- ONS, General Lifestyle Survey Overview: A report on the 2009 General Lifestyle Survey, table 7.2, 'Trends in self-reported sickness by sex and age, 1972 to 2009: percentage of persons who reported', London: Office for National Statistics, 2011.
- 182 CLG, English Housing Survey 2008 Housing Stock Report, London: Dept for Communities and Local Government, Oct 2010.
- 183 Ibid.
- 184 Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Well-being of the Older Population in England, p 246.

- 185 CLG,  $Lifetime\ Homes,\ Lifetime\ Neighbourhoods.$
- 186 Ibid.
- 187 Ibid.
- 188 Adams and Ellison, Time to Adapt.
- 189 Ibid.
- 190 European Commission, Family Life and the Needs of an Ageing Population: Analytical report, Brussels: European Commission, 2008, http://ec.europa.eu/public\_opinion/flash/fl\_247\_en.pdf (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- 191 HAPPI, Housing our Ageing Population.
- 192 National Housing Federation, *Breaking the Mould*.
- 193 Ibid.
- 194 HAPPI, Housing our Ageing Population.
- 195 Rolls et al, 'Older people living alone at the end of life in the UK'.
- 196 HAPPI, Housing our Ageing Population.
- 197 Ibid.
- 198 S Evans and S Vallelly, *Social Well-being in Extra Care Housing*, York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2007, p vii.
- 199 JRF, 'Response to the Dilnot Commission on the Funding of Care and Support', Joseph Rowntree Foundation, January 2011; S Burke, A Better Life: Alternative approaches from the perspective of families and carers of older people with high support needs, York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2010, www.housingcare.org/downloads/kbase/3121.pdf (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

- 200 JRF, 'Response to the Dilnot Commission on the Funding of Care and Support'.
- 201 House of Commons Communities and Local Government Committee, *Thirteenth Report: The Supporting People programme*, cited in Age UK, *Agenda for Later Life 2010*, 2010.
- 202 National Housing Federation, Breaking the Mould.
- 203 Ibid.
- 204 CLG, Lifetime Homes, Lifetime Neighbourhoods.
- 205 JF Fairhead and PM Rothwell, 'Underinvestigation and undertreatment of carotid disease in elderly patients with transient ischaemic attack and stroke: comparative population based study', *British Medical Journal*, 18 July 2006.
- 206 K Lavelle, Non-standard Management of Older Women with Breast Cancer in the UK, Manchester: Centre for Cancer Epidemiology, University of Manchester, 2007, cited in I Carruthers and J Ormondroyd, Achieving Age Equality in Health and Social Care, 2009, www.cpa.org.uk/cpa/achieving\_age\_equality\_in\_health\_and\_social\_care.pdf (accessed 14 Mar 2011).
- 207 N Steel et al, 'Self reported receipt of care consistent with 32 quality indicators: national population survey of adults aged 50 or more in England', *British Medical Journal*, 2008.
- 208 Centre for Policy on Ageing, Ageism and age discrimination in primary and community health care in the United Kingdom: A review from the literature, London: Centre for Policy on Ageing, 2009, www.cpa.org.uk/information/reviews/CPA-ageism\_and\_ age\_discrimination\_in\_primary\_and\_community\_health\_car e-report.pdf (accessed 14 Mar 2011).

- 209 E Roberts, J Robinson and L Seymour, *Old Habits Die Hard: Tackling age discrimination in health and social care*, London: The King's Fund, 2002.
- 210 Parliamentary and Health Ombudsman, 'NHS is failing to meet even the most basic standards of care for older people', news release, 15 Feb 2011, www.ombudsman.org.uk/about-us/media-centre/press-releases/2011/nhs-is-failing-to-meet-even-the-most-basic-standards-of-care-for-older-people,-warns (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- 211 Ibid.
- 212 Parliamentary and Health Ombudsman, Care and Compassion? Report of the Health Service Ombudsman on ten investigations into NHS care of older people, London: Parliamentary and Health Ombudsman, 2011.
- 213 A Burnham, speech given on 22 Oct 2009 at National Children and Adult Services (NCAS) Conference, http://webarchive. nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/www.dh.gov.uk/en/MediaCentre/Speeches/DH\_107455 (accessed 9 Mar 2011); EHRC, *The Essential Guide to the Public Sector Equality Duty*, London: Equality and Human Rights Commission, 2011, www.equalityhumanrights. com/uploaded\_files/EqualityAct/PSED/essential\_guide\_guidance.pdf (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- 214 BMA and Commonwealth Medical Trust, *The Right to Health: A toolkit for health professionals*, June 2007; Government Equalities Office, *Equality Bill: Making it work: ending age discrimination in services and public functions*, London: Government Equalities Office, 2010.
- 215 Healthcare Commission, *Equality in Later Life: A national study of older people's mental health services*, London: Healthcare Commission, 2009.
- 216 Dept of Health, New Horizons.

- 217 HM Government, Healthy Lives, Healthy People; Dept of Health, No Health Without Mental Health: A cross-government mental health outcomes strategy for people of all ages, London: HM Government, 2011.
- 218 Dept of Health, No Health Without Mental Health.
- 219 HM Government, Healthy Lives, Healthy People.
- 220 Victor et al, 'The prevalence of, and risk factors for, loneliness in later life'.
- 221 SM Bamford, 'A problem shared is a problem halved?

  Dementia: learning opportunities from Europe', a policy brief,
  International Longevity Centre UK, 2010.
- 222 DoH, Living Well With Dementia, p 27.
- 223 One medical research association found that for every dollar invested in dementia there was a 150 per cent return see Bamford, 'A problem shared is a problem halved?', p 8; ILC-UK, *The European Dementia Research Agenda*, London: International Longevity Centre UK, Feb 2011.
- 224 Dept of Health, *Putting People First: A shared vision and commitment to the transformation of Adult Social Care*, London: HM Government, 2007.
- 225 HM Government, The Coalition.
- 226 PSSRU, National Evaluation of Partnerships for Older People Projects.
- 227 Ibid.
- 228 H Davis and K Ritters, LinkAge Plus national evaluation: end of project report, London: Dept for Work and Pension, 2009, http://research.dwp.gov.uk/asd/asd5/rports2009-2010/rrep572.pdf (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

- 229 M Ivory, 'Slump sparks fears for older people's prevention policy', *Community Care*, 12 Feb 2009.
- 230 See Putting People First: Transforming Adult Social Care, www.puttingpeoplefirst.org.uk/about/ (accessed 10 Mar 2011).
- 231 C Wood, Personal Best, London: Demos, 2010.
- 232 DoH, Use of Resources in Adult Social Care: A guide for local authorities, London: Department of Health, 2009, p 14.
- 233 HM Treasury, Spending Review 2010.
- 234 Samuel, 'Spending review analysis'.
- 235 Wood, Personal Best, pp 24-5.
- 236 Ibid.
- 237 Commission on Funding of Care and Support, Call For Evidence on the Future Funding of Care and Support (the Dilnot Commission), Dec 2010, www.dilnotcommission.dh.gov.uk/ files/2010/12/1.1-Call-for-Evidence-FINAL-pdf.pdf (accessed 10 Mar 2011).
- 238 D Wanless, Securing Good Care for Older People: Taking a long-term view, London: The King's Fund, 2006.
- 239 Aviva, 'The Aviva real retirement report'.
- 240 DoH, Prioritising Need in the Context of Putting People First: A whole system approach to eligibility for social care guidance on eligibility criteria for adult social care, England 2010, London: Dept of Health, 2010, www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH\_113154 (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

- J Dunning, 'Councils to deny social care support to all but most needy', *Community Care*, 15 Sep 2010.
- 242 V Pitt, 'Council to outsource social workers and set tightest threshold', *Community Care*, 1 Dec 2010.
- 243 DoH, Prioritising Need in the Context of Putting People First.
- 244 Mass Observation 2006: female, 63, single, retired auditor, Chesterfield.
- 245 Mass Observation 1992: male, aged 71, retired, West Sussex.
- 246 Standard Life, 'Retirement is dead: long live retirement', 4 Feb 2009, http://ukgroup.standardlife.com/content/news/new\_articles/2009/retirement\_is\_dead.xml (accessed 10 Mar 2011).
- 247 DCMS, Taking Part: The National Survey of Culture, Leisure and Sport Adult and Child Report 2009/10, London: Dept for Culture, Media and Sport, 2010.
- 248 See M Blunden, 'We struggle to get into venues, say disabled art lovers', *Evening Standard*, 22 Feb 2011, www.thisislondon.co.uk/standard/article-23925403-we-struggle-to-get-into-venues-say-disabled-art-lovers.do (accessed 9 Mar 2011).
- 249 GD Cohen et al, 'The impact of professionally conducted cultural programmes on the physical health, mental health and social functioning of older adults', *Gerontologist* 46, 2006.
- 250 H Bungay and S Clift, 'Arts on prescription: a review of practice in the UK', *Perspectives in Public Health* 130, 2010, p 277.
- 251 M Cattan et al 'Preventing social isolation and loneliness among older people: a systematic review of health promotion interventions', *Ageing and Society* 25, 2005.

- 252 DIUS, The Learning Revolution, Cm 7555, London: Dept for Innovation, Universities and Skills, 2009.
- 253 National Institute of Adult Continuing Education, 'PM and Skills Minister "adult learning crucial", press release, 26 May 2010, www.niace.org.uk/news/pm-and-skills-minister-adult-learning-crucial (accessed 10 Mar 2011).
- 254 Dept of Health, No Health Without Mental Health, p 82.
- 8 Feb 2011, www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-manchester-12389726 (accessed 10 Mar 2011).
- 256 Age UK, Agenda for Later Life 2010: Our five-year ambition for public policy, London: Age UK, 2010; CLG, Lifetime Homes, Lifetime Neighbourhoods.
- 257 Marmot, Fair Society, Healthy Lives, p 131.
- 258 Office for National Statistics, Social Trends 40, 2010, p 195.
- 259 Office for National Statistics, Social Trends 39, 2009.
- 260 Griggs, The Poor Relation?
- 261 Age UK, Agenda for Later Life 2010; CLG, Lifetime Homes, Lifetime Neighbourhoods.
- 262 J Harkin and J Huber, Eternal Youths: How the baby boomers are having their time again, London: Demos, 2004.
- 263 C Leadbeater and J Garber, *Dying for Change*, Demos, 2010.
- National Audit Office, *End of Life Care*, London: The Stationery Office, 2008, www.nao.org.uk/publications/0708/end\_of\_life\_care.aspx (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

- 265 NEoLCIN, Variations in Place of Death in England: Inequalities or appropriate consequences of gender and cause of death?, Bristol: National End of Life Care Intelligence Network, 2010.
- 266 Ibid.
- 267 Leadbeater and Garber, Dying for Change.
- 268 Ibid, p 25.
- 269 Leadbeater and Garber, Dying for Change.
- 270 Ibid.
- 271 Ibid, p 35.
- 272 National Audit Office, End of Life Care.
- 273 Ibid, p 7.
- 274 National Audit Office, End of Life Care.
- 275 Ibid, p5.
- 276 National Audit Office, End of Life Care.
- 277 Leadbeater and Garber, *Dying for Change*.
- 278 National Audit Office, End of Life Care.
- 279 Leadbeater and Garber, *Dying for Change*.
- 280 National Audit Office, End of Life Care.
- 281 Ibid.
- 282 Ibid, p 19.

- 283 Rolls et al, 'Older people living alone at the end of life in the UK'.
- 284 Ibid.
- 285 Leadbeater and Garber, Dying for Change, p 82.
- 286 Ibid, p 58.
- 287 DoH, End of Life Care Strategy: Promoting high quality care for all adults at the end of life, London: Dept of Health, 2008, p 54.
- 288 Leadbeater and Garber, Dying for Change, p 81.
- 289 Rolls et al, 'Older people living alone at the end of life in the UK'.
- 290 National Audit Office, End of Life Care.
- 291 DoH, End of Life Care Strategy: Second annual report, London: Dept of Health, 2010, p 13.
- 292 MK Lupton et al, 'Education, occupation and retirement age effects on the age of onset of Alzheimer's disease', *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 25, 2010.
- 293 Survey by the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development cited in D Thomas, 'Workers back government move to phase out retirement age', *Personnel Today*, 29 Oct 2010, www.personneltoday.com/articles/2010/10/29/56823/workers-back-government-move-to-phase-out-retirement-age.html (accessed 10 Mar 2011).
- 294 Park et al, 'Never too old?'.
- 295 S McNair, M Flynn and N Dutton, *Employer Responses to an Ageing Workforce: A qualitative study*, London: Dept for Work and Pensions, 2007, p 23.

- 296 Association of Graduate Recruiters, 2009, cited in A Milburn, Unleashing Aspiration: The final report of the Panel on Fair Access to the Professions, London: Cabinet Office, 2009.
- 297 ONS, 'Graduates in the labour market', Office for National Statistics, Jan 2011, www.statistics.gov.uk/cci/nugget.asp?id=1162 (accessed 10 Mar 2011).
- 298 Clery, Humphrey and Bourne, Attitudes to Pensions, p 3.
- 299 Pensions Policy Institute, Are Personal Accounts Suitable For All?, 2006, www.pensionspolicyinstitute.org.uk/uploadeddocuments/ PPI\_Are\_Personal\_Accounts\_suitable\_for\_all\_29Novo6.pdf (accessed 10 Mar 2011).
- 300 Pensions Policy Institute, Submission to the Work and Pensions Select Committee on the Government's Pensions Reforms, London: Pensions Policy Institute, 2011.
- 301 See *Hansard*, 17 Feb 2011, www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201011/cmhansrd/cm110217/debtext/110217-0003.htm (accessed 10 Mar 2011).
- 302 Pensions Policy Institute, Are Personal Accounts Suitable For All?
- 303 Ibid.
- 304 J Adetunji, 'State pensions: ministers plan to pay £140 a week and end means testing', *Guardian*, 25 Oct 2010, www.guardian.co.uk/politics/2010/oct/25/state-pensions-reform-simplified-end-means-testing (accessed 10 Mar 2011).
- 305 ILC-UK, 'Pensions reform after the election: can consensus be maintained?', International Longevity Centre UK, Sep 2010, www.ilcuk.org.uk/files/pdf\_pdf\_141.pdf (accessed 10 Mar 2011).
- 306 Hansard, 17 Feb 2011.

- 307 State Pensions Division, 'Equality impact assessment: changes to the amount of winter fuel payment for winter 2009/10', State Pensions Division, Dept for Work and Pensions, www.dwp.gov.uk/docs/ia-changes-amount-wfp-2009-10.pdf (accessed 3 Mar 2011).
- 308 ONS, 'Older People's Day 2010'.
- 309 Adams and Ellison, Time to Adapt.
- Lifetime Homes, '16 design criteria from 5 July 2010 (revised)', [n.d.], www.lifetimehomes.org.uk/pages/revised-design-criteria.html (accessed 10 Mar 2011).
- 311 Aviva, 'The Aviva real retirement report'.
- 312 HAPPI, Housing our Ageing Population, p 19.
- 313 Ibid, p 18.
- 314 Howker and Malik, Jilted Generation.
- Parliamentary and Health Ombudsman, 'NHS is failing to meet even the most basic standards of care for older people'.
- 316 See www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/inquiriesand-assessments/inquiry-into-home-care-of-older-people/ (accessed 14 Mar 2011).
- JRF, 'Response to the Equality and Human Rights Commission: Older People and Human Rights Home Care Inquiry', Joseph Rowntree Foundation, February 2011, p 8.
- 318 Victor et al, 'The prevalence of, and risk factors for, loneliness in later life'.
- Cabinet Office, *Building the Big Society*, 2010, www.cabinetoffice. gov.uk/news/building-big-society (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

- 320 Netuveli et al, 'Mental health and resilience at older ages'.
- 321 One medical research association found that for every dollar invested in dementia there was a 150 per cent return see Bamford, 'A problem shared is a problem halved?'
- 322 ILC-UK, The European Dementia Research Agenda.
- 323 DoH, Quality Outcomes for People With Dementia, p 16.
- 324 DoH, Quality Outcomes for People With Dementia.
- 325 HM Government, Healthy Lives, Healthy People.
- 326 PSSRU, National Evaluation of Partnerships for Older People Projects.
- 327 N Innocent, 'How museums, libraries and archives contribute to lifelong learning', National Institute for Adult Continuing Education, 2009, www.niace.org.uk/lifelonglearninginquiry/docs/IFLL-Sector-Paper10.pdf (accessed 10 Mar 2011).
- 328 J Lexmond, L Bazalgette and J Margo, *The Home Front*, London: Demos, 2010.
- 329 See www.unitedforallages.com/about/ (accessed 14 Mar 2011).
- 330 Parliamentary and Health Ombudsman, Care and Compassion?
- 331 Leadbeater and Garber, Dying for Change.
- 332 Ibid.
- 333 C Crain, 'Surveillance society: the Mass Observation movement and the meaning of everyday life', *New Yorker*, 11 Sep 2006, www.newyorker.com/archive/2006/09/11/060911crat\_atlarge (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

- 334 R Broad and S Fleming (eds), Nella Last's War: The Second World War diaries of 'Housewife, 49', London: Profile Books, (1981) 2006.
- 335 N Hubble, *Mass-Observation and Everyday Life: Culture, history, theory*, 2nd ed, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 2010.
- 336 T Harrisson, 'Who'll win?' Political Quarterly XV, no 1, Jan 1944.

# References

Abrams, D et al, *Attitudes to Age in Britain 2004–08*, London: Dept for Work and Pensions, 2009.

Adams, S and Ellison, M, Time to Adapt: Home adaptations for older people: the increase in need and future of state provision, Nottingham, Care and Repair England, 2009.

Adetunji, J, 'State pensions: ministers plan to pay £140 a week and end means testing', *Guardian*, 25 Oct 2010, www.guardian.co.uk/politics/2010/oct/25/state-pensions-reform-simplified-end-means-testing (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

Age UK, Agenda for Later Life 2010: Our five-year ambition for public policy, London: Age UK, 2010.

Allen, J, *Older People and Wellbeing*, London: Institute for Public Policy Research, 2008.

Alzheimer's Society, 'Demography', updated Jan 2010, www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/documents\_info.php?documentID=412 (accessed 1 Feb 2011).

Association of Graduate Recruiters, 2009, cited in A Milburn, *Unleashing Aspiration: The final report of the Panel on Fair Access to the Professions*, London: Cabinet Office, 2009.

Aviva, 'The Aviva real retirement report', 2010, www.aviva.com/data/media-uploads/news/File/pdf/2010/The\_Aviva\_Real\_Retirement\_Report\_February2010.pdf (accessed 8 Mar 2011).

Bamford, SM, 'A problem shared is a problem halved? Dementia: learning opportunities from Europe', a policy brief, International Longevity Centre UK, 2010.

Banks, J et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Well-being of the Older Population in England: the 2008 English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (Wave 4), London: Institute for Fiscal Studies, 2010.

Bäumker, T, Netten, A and Darton, R, *Costs and Outcomes of an Extra Care Housing Scheme in Bradford*, York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2008.

BBC, 'Manchester City Council details £109m saving cuts plan', 8 Feb 2011, www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-manchester-12389726 (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

Berry, C and Sinclair, D, *Intergenerational Fairness and the Spending Review 2010*, London: International Longevity Centre UK, 2010.

Berry, C, 'Inflation hits older people hardest, despite the boomer-bashing fad', ILC-UK blog, Jan 2011, http://blog.ilcuk.org.uk/2011/01/18/inflation-hits-older-people-hardest-despite-the-boomer-bashing-fad/ (accessed 8 Mar 2011).

Binstock, RH, 'From compassionate ageism to intergenerational conflict?', *Gerontologist* 50, no 5, 2010.

BIS, *Phasing out the Default Retirement Age: Government response to consultation*, London: Dept for Business, Innovation and Skills, Jan 2011.

Blood, I and Bamford, SM, *Equality and Diversity and Older People With High Support Needs*, York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation and International Longevity Centre UK, 2010.

Blood, I, *Older People With High Support Needs: How can we empower them to enjoy a better life*, York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2010.

Blunden, M, 'We struggle to get into venues, say disabled art lovers', *Evening Standard*, 22 Feb 2011, www.thisislondon.co.uk/standard/article-23925403-we-struggle-to-get-into-venues-say-disabled-art-lovers.do (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

BMA and Commonwealth Medical Trust, *The Right to Health: A toolkit for health professionals*, June 2007.

Boseley, S, 'Public health advances "could prevent 200,000 premature deaths a year", *Guardian*, 28 Oct 2010, www.guardian.co.uk/politics/2010/oct/28/michael-marmothealth-prospects-report (accessed 8 Mar 2011).

Bozio, A, Crawford, R and Tetlow, G, *The History of State Pensions in the UK: 1948 to 2010*, London: Institute for Fiscal Studies, 2010.

Breeze, E and Stafford, M, 'Receipt and giving of help and care' in J Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Wellbeing of the Older Population in England: the 2008 English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (Wave 4), London: Institute for Fiscal Studies, 2010.

Broad, B, Being a Grandparent: Research evidence: Key themes and policy recommendations, Harlow: Grandparents' Association, 2007.

Broad, R and Fleming, S (eds), Nella Last's War: The Second World War diaries of 'Housewife, 49', London: Profile Books, (1981) 2006.

Bungay, H and Clift, S, 'Arts on prescription: a review of practice in the UK', *Perspectives in Public Health* 130, 2010.

Burke, S, A Better Life: Alternative approaches from the perspective of families and carers of older people with high support needs, York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2010, www.housingcare.org/downloads/kbase/3121.pdf (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

Burnham, A, speech given on 22 Oct 2009 at National Children and Adult Services (NCAS) Conference, http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/www.dh.gov.uk/en/MediaCentre/Speeches/DH\_107455 (accessed 9 Mar 2011)

Cabinet Office, *Building the Big Society*, 2010, www.cabinetoffice. gov.uk/news/building-big-society (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

Callaghan, L, Netten, A, and Darton, R, *The Development of Social Well-being in New Extra Care Housing Schemes*, York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2009.

Casciani, D, 'Fear of crime "trapping elderly"', BBC News, 20 May, 2003, http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/3044625.stm (accessed 9 Mar 2011)

Cattan, M et al, 'Preventing social isolation and loneliness among older people: a systematic review of health promotion interventions', *Ageing and Society* 25, 2005.

Centre for Policy on Ageing, A Review of Age Discrimination in Primary and Community Health Care, Secondary Healthcare, Mental Health Care and Social Care Services in the UK, London: Centre for Policy on Ageing, 2010.

Clery, E, Humphrey, A and Bourne, T, *Attitudes to Pensions: The* 2009 survey, London: Dept for Work and Pensions, 2010.

CLG, English Housing Survey 2008 Housing Stock Report, London: Dept for Communities and Local Government, Oct 2010.

CLG, Lifetime Homes, Lifetime Neighbourhoods: A National strategy for housing in an ageing society, London: Dept for Communities and Local Government, 2008.

Cohen, GD et al, 'The impact of professionally conducted cultural programmes on the physical health, mental health and social functioning of older adults', *Gerontologist* 46, 2006.

Commission for Healthcare Audit and Inspection, *State of Healthcare 2007: Improvements and challenges in services in England and Wales*, HC 97, London: The Stationery Office, 2007.

Commission on Funding of Care and Support, *Call For Evidence on the Future Funding of Care and Support* (the Dilnot Commission), Dec 2010, www.dilnotcommission.dh.gov.uk/files/2010/12/1.1-Call-for-Evidence-FINAL-pdf.pdf (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

Crain, C, 'Surveillance society: the Mass Observation movement and the meaning of everyday life', *New Yorker*, 11 Sep 2006, www.newyorker.com/archive/2006/09/11/060911crat\_atlarge (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

CSJ, The Forgotten Age: Understanding poverty and social exclusion in later life, an interim report by the Older Age Working Group, chaired by Sara McKee, London: Centre for Social Justice, Nov 2010.

Dannefer, D and Miklowski, C, 'Developments in the life course' in JA Vincent, CR Phillipson and M Downs (eds), *The Futures of Old Age*, London: Sage, 2006.

Davis, H and Ritters, K, *LinkAge Plus national evaluation: end of project report*, London: Dept for Work and Pensions, 2009, http://research.dwp.gov.uk/asd/asd5/rports2009-2010/rrep572.pdf (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

DCMS, Taking Part: The National Survey of Culture, Leisure and Sport Adult and Child Report 2009/10, London: Dept for Culture, Media and Sport, 2010.

Demakakos, P, McMunn, A and Steptoe, A, 'Well-being in older age' in J Banks et al (eds), Financial Circumstances, Health and Well-being of the Older Population in England: the 2008 English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (Wave 4), London: Institute for Fiscal Studies, 2010.

Dept for Work and Pensions, 'Dramatic rise in pensioners as baby boomers enter golden years', press release, 21 Sep 2010, www.dwp.gov.uk/newsroom/press-releases/2010/sep-2010/dwp121-10-210910.shtml (accessed 8 Mar 2011).

Dept for Work and Pensions, A Sustainable State Pension: When the state pension age will increase to 66, Cm 7956, London: State Pensions Division, Dept for Work and Pensions, Nov 2010.

Dept for Work and Pensions, *Building a Society for All Ages*, Cm 7655, London: HM Government, 2009.

Dept of Health, *New Horizons: A shared vision for mental health*, London: HM Government, 2009.

Dept of Health, No Health Without Mental Health: A cross-government mental health outcomes strategy for people of all ages, London: HM Government, 2011.

Dept of Health, *Putting People First: A shared vision and commitment to the transformation of Adult Social Care*, London: HM Government, 2007.

DIUS, *The Learning Revolution*, Cm 7555, London: Dept for Innovation, Universities and Skills, 2009.

DoH, A Vision for Adult Social Care: Capable communities and active citizens, London: Dept of Health, 2010.

DoH, End of Life Care Strategy: Promoting high quality care for all adults at the end of life, London: Dept of Health, 2008.

DoH, End of Life Care Strategy: Second annual report, London: Dept of Health, 2010.

DoH, Living Well With Dementia: A national dementia strategy, London: Dept of Health, 2009.

DoH, Prioritising Need in the Context of Putting People First: A whole system approach to eligibility for social care – guidance on eligibility criteria for adult social care, England 2010, London: Dept of Health, 2010, www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH\_113154 (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

DoH, Quality Outcomes for People With Dementia: Building on the work of the National Dementia Strategy, London: Dept of Health, 2010.

DoH, Use of Resources in Adult Social Care: A guide for local authorities, London: Department of Health, 2009.

Dunning, J, 'Councils to deny social care support to all but most needy', *Community Care*, 15 Sep 2010.

Equality and Human Rights Commission, 'Protect, support, provide: examining the role of grandparents in families at risk of poverty', www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded\_files/age/protect\_support\_provide\_policy.pdf (accessed 8 Mar 2011).

Equality and Human Rights Commission, *The Essential Guide to the Public Sector Equality Duty*, 2011, www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded\_files/EqualityAct/PS ED/essential\_guide\_guidance.pdf (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

European Commission, Family Life and the Needs of an Ageing Population: Analytical report, Brussels: European Commission, 2008, http://ec.europa.eu/public\_opinion/flash/fl\_247\_en.pdf (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

Evandrou, M and Falkingham, J, 'Looking back to look forward: lessons from four birth cohorts for ageing in the 21st century. *Population Trends* 99, 2000.

Evans, S and Vallelly, S, *Social Well-being in Extra Care Housing*, York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2007.

Fairhead, JF and Rothwell, PM, 'Underinvestigation and undertreatment of carotid disease in elderly patients with transient ischaemic attack and stroke: comparative population based study', *British Medical Journal*, 18 July 2006.

Falkingham, J et al, 'Demographic issues, projections and trends: older people with high support needs in the UK, York: ESRC Centre for Population Change, Joseph Rowntree Foundation, Oct 2010.

Government Equalities Office, *Equality Bill: Making it work:* ending age discrimination in services and public functions, London: Government Equalities Office, 2010.

Griggs, J, *The Poor Relation? Grandparental care: where older people's poverty and child poverty meet*, prepared for Grandparents Plus and EHRC, Oxford: Dept for Social Policy and Social Work, University of Oxford, 2009.

HAPPI, *Housing our Ageing Population: Panel for Innovation*, London: Homes and Communities Agency, 2009, www.homesandcommunities.co.uk/public/documents/Happi Final Report - 031209.pdf (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

Harkin, J and Huber, J, Eternal Youths: How the baby boomers are having their time again, London: Demos, 2004.

Harrisson, T, 'Who'll win?' Political Quarterly XV, no 1, Jan 1944.

Harrop, A et al, Agenda for Later Life 2010: Our five-year ambition for public policy, London: Age UK, 2010, http://policy.helptheaged.org.uk/NR/rdonlyres/CA9B5B5F-3BD7-40EE-99AF-CE2531B6D413/0/AgendaforLaterLifeMarch2010.pdf (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

Health and Social Care Information Centre, *Personal Social Services Expenditure and Unit Costs England*, 2008–09, 2010.

Healthcare Commission, Equality in Later Life: A national study of older people's mental health services, London: Healthcare Commission, 2009.

HM Government, *Healthy Lives, Healthy People: Our strategy for public health in England*, Cm 7985, London: HM Government, Nov 2010.

HM Government, *The Coalition: Our Programme for Government*, London: HM Government, May 2010.

HM Treasury, *Spending Review 2010*, London: HM Treasury, Oct 2010.

Holt-Lunstad, J, Smith, TB and Layton, JB, 'Social relationships and mortality risk: a meta-analytic review', PLoS Medicine 7, no 7, 2010.

House of Commons Communities and Local Government Committee, *Thirteenth Report: The Supporting People programme*, cited in Age UK, *Agenda for Later Life 2010*, 2010.

Howker, E and Malik, S, Jilted Generation: How Britain has bankrupted its youth, London: Icon Books, 2010.

Hubble, N, Mass-Observation and Everyday Life: Culture, history, theory, 2nd ed, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 2010.

Hurd Clarke, L and Korotchenko, A, 'Shades of grey: to dye or not to dye one's hair in later life', *Ageing and Society* 30, 2010.

ILC-UK, 'Pensions reform after the election: can consensus be maintained?', International Longevity Centre UK, Sep 2010, www.ilcuk.org.uk/files/pdf\_pdf\_141.pdf (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

ILC-UK, *The European Dementia Research Agenda*, London: International Longevity Centre UK, Feb 2011.

Information Centre for Health and Social Care, *Survey of Carers in Households* 2009/10, 2010, www.ic.nhs.uk/webfiles/publications/009\_Social\_Care/carersurvey0910/Survey\_of\_Carers\_in\_Households\_2009\_10\_England.pdf (accessed 8 Mar 2011).

Innocent, N, 'How museums, libraries and archives contribute to lifelong learning', National Institute for Adult Continuing Education, 2009, www.niace.org.uk/lifelonglearninginquiry/docs/IFLL-Sector-Paper10.pdf (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

Ivory, M, 'Slump sparks fears for older people's prevention policy', *Community Care*, 12 Feb 2009.

JRF, 'Response to the Dilnot Commission on the Funding of Care and Support', Joseph Rowntree Foundation, January 2011.

JRF, 'Response to the Equality and Human Rights Commission: Older People and Human Rights Home Care Inquiry', Joseph Rowntree Foundation, February 2011.

Kivipelto, M and Solomon, A, 'Lifestyle-related factors in stroke and dementia', *European Neurological Review* 3, no 1, 2008.

Lavelle, K, Non-standard Management of Older Women with Breast Cancer in the UK, Manchester: Centre for Cancer Epidemiology, University of Manchester, 2007.

Leach, R et al, 'Boomers and beyond: intergenerational consumption and the mature imagination', findings report for project Feb 2005 to Mar 2007, Cultures of Consumption, 2007, www.consume.bbk.ac.uk/research/biggs.html (accessed 23 Jan 2011).

Leadbeater, C and Garber, J, Dying for Change, Demos, 2010.

Leighton, D, Back to the Future, London: Demos, 2011.

Lexmond, J, Bazalgette, L and Margo, J, *The Home Front*, London: Demos, 2010.

Lister, S, 'No quick fix for long term care', *British Medical Journal* 340, 2010, c 814.

Lupton, MK et al, 'Education, occupation and retirement age effects on the age of onset of Alzheimer's disease', *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 25, 2010.

Marmot, M (ed), Fair Society, Healthy Lives: The Marmot Review, [London]: The Marmot Review, 2010, www.ucl.ac.uk/marmotreview (accessed 8 Mar 2011).

McNair, S, Flynn, M and Dutton, N, *Employer Responses to an Ageing Workforce: A qualitative study*, London: Dept for Work and Pensions, 2007.

Natcen, 'British Social Attitudes 26th Report – growing public acceptance of later retirement', press release, Jan 2010 www.natcen.ac.uk/media-centre/press-releases/2010-press-releases/british-social-attitudes-26th-report—growing-public-acceptance-of-later-retirement (accessed 27 Feb 2011).

National Audit Office, *End of Life Care*, London: The Stationery Office, 2008, www.nao.org.uk/publications/0708/end\_of\_life\_care.aspx (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

National Equality Panel, An Anatomy of Economic Inequality in the UK: Report of the National Equality Panel, London: Government Equalities Office: Jan 2010.

National Housing Federation, *Breaking the Mould: Re-visioning older people's housing*, London: National Housing Federation, Feb 2011.

National Institute of Adult Continuing Education, 'PM and Skills Minister – "adult learning crucial", press release, 26 May 2010, www.niace.org.uk/news/pm-and-skills-minister-adult-learning-crucial (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

NEoLCIN, Variations in Place of Death in England: Inequalities or appropriate consequences of gender and cause of death?, Bristol: National End of Life Care Intelligence Network, 2010.

NEST, 'Key facts and myth buster', National Employment Savings Trust, 2010, www.nestpensions.org.uk/documents/Key-Fact-Myths.pdf (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

Netuveli, G et al, 'Mental health and resilience at older ages: bouncing back after adversity in the British Household Panel Survey', *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 62, 2008.

OBR, *Pre-Budget Forecast*, London: Office for Budget Responsibility, June 2010, http://budgetresponsibility.independent.gov.uk/d/pre\_budget\_forecast\_140610.pdf (accessed 8 Mar 2011).

Office for National Statistics, Social Trends 39, 2009.

Office for National Statistics, Social Trends 40, 2010.

ONS 'Trends in ONS Longitudinal Study estimates of life expectancy, by social class 1972-2005', Office for National Statistics, 2007, www.statistics.gov.uk/StatBase/Product.asp?vlnk=8460 (accessed 1 Feb 2010).

ONS, 'Graduates in the labour market', Office for National Statistics, Jan 2011, www.statistics.gov.uk/cci/nugget.asp?id=1162 (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

ONS, 'Inequalities and poverty in retirement' in Office for National Statistics, *Pension Trends*, Sep 2010, www.statistics.gov.uk/pensiontrends/ (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

ONS, 'Labour market statistics', *ONS Statistical Bulletin*, 16 Feb 2011, Office for National Statistics, www.statistics.gov.uk/pdfdir/lmsuko211.pdf (accessed 8 Mar 2011).

ONS, 'Life expectancy at birth and at age 65 by local areas in the United Kingdom, 2007–09', Office for National Statistics, 19 Oct 2010, www.statistics.gov.uk/statbase/Product. asp?vlnk=8841 (accessed 8 Mar 2011).

ONS, 'Older People's Day 2010', *ONS Statistical Bulletin*, 30 Sep 2010, Office for National Statistics, www.statistics.gov.uk/pdfdir/age0910.pdf (accessed 8 Mar 2011).

ONS, 'Pensioner income and expenditure' in Office for National Statistics, *Pension Trends*, Sep 2010, www.statistics.gov.uk/pensiontrends/ (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

ONS, 'Pensions legislation: an overview' in Office for National Statistics, *Pension Trends*, 14 May 2010, www.statistics.gov.uk/pensiontrends/ (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

ONS, 'State pensions' in Office for National Statistics, *Pension Trends*, Jun 2009, www.statistics.gov.uk/pensiontrends/ (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

ONS, 'The labour market and retirement' in Office for National Statistics, *Pension Trends*, www.statistics.gov.uk/pensiontrends/ (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

ONS, 2009 General Lifestyle Survey, London: Office for National Statistics, 2011, table 7.2, www.statistics.gov.uk/STATBASE/Product.asp?vlnk=5756 (accessed 8 Mar 2011).

ONS, General Lifestyle Survey Overview: A report on the 2009 General Lifestyle Survey, table 7.2, 'Trends in self-reported sickness by sex and age, 1972 to 2009: percentage of persons who reported', London: Office for National Statistics, 2011.

Park, A et al (eds), 'Planning for retirement: realism or denial?' in Natcen, *British Social Attitudes* 2005–2006, London: Sage, 2006.

Park, A et al, 'Never too old? Attitudes towards longer working lives' in Natcen, *British Social Attitudes 2009–2010*, London: Sage, 2010.

Parliamentary and Health Ombudsman, 'NHS is failing to meet even the most basic standards of care for older people', news release, 15 Feb 2011, www.ombudsman.org.uk/about-us/media-centre/press-releases/2011/nhs-is-failing-to-meet-even-the-most-basic-standards-of-care-for-older-people,-warns (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

Parliamentary and Health Ombudsman, *Care and Compassion?* Report of the Health Service Ombudsman on ten investigations into NHS care of older people, London: Parliamentary and Health Ombudsman, 2011.

Pensions Policy Institute, *Are Personal Accounts Suitable For All?*, 2006, www.pensionspolicyinstitute.org.uk/uploadeddocuments/PPI\_Are\_Personal\_Accounts\_suitable\_for\_all\_29Novo6.pdf (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

Pensions Policy Institute, Submission to the Work and Pensions Select Committee on the Government's Pensions Reforms, London: Pensions Policy Institute, 2011.

Pitt, V, 'Council to outsource social workers and set tightest threshold', *Community Care*, 1 Dec 2010.

PSSRU, National Evaluation of Partnerships for Older People Projects: Final report, Canterbury, London and Manchester, Personal Social Services Research Unit, 2009.

Rait, G et al, 'Survival of people with clinical diagnosis of dementia in primary care: cohort study', *British Medical Journal* 341, 2010, c3584

Reed, H and Horton, T, *How the Government's Planned Cuts Will Affect Older People*, London: Age UK, 2010.

Roberts, E, Robinson, J and Seymour, L, *Old Habits Die Hard: Tackling age discrimination in health and social care*, London: The King's Fund, 2002.

Rolls, L et al, 'Older people living alone at the end of life in the UK: research and policy challenges', *Palliative Medicine*, July 2010.

Saga, Saga Quarterly Report, Q1, Feb 2011.

Samuel, M, 'Spending review analysis – follow the money and it isn't there', *Community Care*, 25 Oct 2010, www.communitycare.co.uk/Articles/2010/10/25/115665/spending-review-analysis-follow-the-money-and-it-isnt-there.htm (accessed 8 Feb 2011).

Sherwin, A, 'What retirement? Rise in over-65s still working', *Independent*, 3 Mar 2011, www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/what-retirement-rise-in-over65s-still-working-2230659.html?dm\_i=4X7,DOFU,2P429I,13287,1 (accessed 8 Mar 2011).

Sinclair, D, 'Housing and the older consumer', Jan 2011, blog, http://blog.ilcuk.org.uk/2011/01/13/housing-and-the-older-consumer (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

Sinclair, D, 'Where next for pension reform? How can we encourage people to save?', ILC policy paper and notes of dinner debate, International Longevity Centre UK, 22 Feb 2010, www.ilcuk.org.uk/files/pdf\_pdf\_128.pdf (accessed 9 Mar 2011).

Standard Life, 'Retirement is dead: long live retirement', 4 Feb 2009, http://ukgroup.standardlife.com/content/news/new\_articles/2009/retirement\_is\_dead.xml (accessed 10 Mar 2011).

State Pensions Division, 'Equality impact assessment: changes to the amount of winter fuel payment for winter 2009/10', State Pensions Division, Dept for Work and Pensions, www.dwp.gov.uk/docs/ia-changes-amount-wfp-2009-10.pdf (accessed 3 Mar 2011).

Steel, N et al, 'Self reported receipt of care consistent with 32 quality indicators: national population survey of adults aged 50 or more in England', *British Medical Journal*, 2008.

Thaler, RH and Sunstein, C, Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness, Michigan: Caravan Books, 2008.

Victor, C et al, 'Has loneliness amongst older people increased? An investigation into variations between cohorts', *Ageing & Society* 22, 2002.

Victor, C et al, 'The prevalence of, and risk factors for, loneliness in later life: a survey of older people in Great Britain', *Ageing & Society* 25, 2005.

Waddell, G and Burton, K, *Is Work Good for Your Health and Wellbeing?*, London: The Stationery Office, 2006.

Walker, A et al, *Crime in England and Wales 2008/09*, vol 1, 'Findings from the British Crime Survey and police recorded crime', Home Office statistical bulletin, [London]: Home Office, 2009.

Wanless, D, Securing Good Care for Older People: Taking a long-term view, London: The King's Fund, 2006

Willetts, D, The Pinch: How the baby boomers took their children's future – and why they should give it back, London: Atlantic, 2010.

Wood, C, Personal Best, London: Demos, 2010.

World Bank, Averting the Old Age Crisis: Policies to protect the old and promote growth, Washington DC: The World Bank, 1994.

WRVS, Gold Age Pensioners: Valuing the socio-economic contribution of older people in the UK, Cardiff: Women's Royal Voluntary Service, Mar 2011.

## Demos - Licence to Publish

The work (as defined below) is provided under the terms of this licence ('licence'). The work is protected by copyright and/or other applicable law. Any use of the work other than as authorised under this licence is prohibited. By exercising any rights to the work provided here, you accept and agree to be bound by the terms of this licence. Demos grants you the rights contained here in consideration of your acceptance of such terms and conditions.

### 1 Definitions

- A 'Collective Work' means a work, such as a periodical issue, anthology or encyclopedia, in which the Work in its entirety in unmodified form, along with a number of other contributions, constituting separate and independent works in themselves, are assembled into a collective whole. A work that constitutes a Collective Work will not be considered a Derivative Work (as defined below) for the purposes of this Licence.
- B 'Derivative Work' means a work based upon the Work or upon the Work and other preexisting works, such as a musical arrangement, dramatisation, fictionalisation, motion picture version, sound recording, art reproduction, abridgment, condensation, or any other form in which the Work may be recast, transformed, or adapted, except that a work that constitutes a Collective Work or a translation from English into another language will not be considered a Derivative Work for the purpose of this Licence.
- c 'Licensor' means the individual or entity that offers the Work under the terms of this Licence.
- 'Original Author' means the individual or entity who created the Work.
- **Work'** means the copyrightable work of authorship offered under the terms of this Licence.
  - 'You' means an individual or entity exercising rights under this Licence who has not previously violated the terms of this Licence with respect to the Work, or who has received express permission from Demos to exercise rights under this Licence despite a previous violation.

## 2 Fair Use Rights

Nothing in this licence is intended to reduce, limit, or restrict any rights arising from fair use, first sale or other limitations on the exclusive rights of the copyright owner under copyright law or other applicable laws.

#### 3 Licence Grant

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Licence, Licensor hereby grants You a worldwide, royalty-free, non-exclusive, perpetual (for the duration of the applicable copyright) licence to exercise the rights in the Work as stated below:

- A to reproduce the Work, to incorporate the Work into one or more Collective Works, and to reproduce the Work as incorporated in the Collective Works;
- B to distribute copies or phonorecords of, display publicly, perform publicly, and perform publicly by means of a digital audio transmission the Work including as incorporated in Collective Works; The above rights may be exercised in all media and formats whether now known or hereafter devised. The above rights include the right to make such modifications as are technically necessary to exercise the rights in other media and formats. All rights not expressly granted by Licensor are hereby reserved.

#### 4 Restrictions

The licence granted in Section 3 above is expressly made subject to and limited by the following restrictions:

- A You may distribute, publicly display, publicly perform, or publicly digitally perform the Work only under the terms of this Licence, and You must include a copy of, or the Uniform Resource Identifier for, this Licence with every copy or phonorecord of the Work You distribute, publicly display, publicly perform, or publicly digitally perform. You may not offer or impose any terms on the Work that alter or restrict the terms of this Licence or the recipients' exercise of the rights granted here under. You may not sublicence the Work. You must keep intact all notices that refer to this Licence and to the disclaimer of warranties. You may not distribute, publicly display, publicly perform, or publicly digitally perform the Work with any technological measures that control access or use of the Work in a manner inconsistent with the terms of this Licence Agreement. The above applies to the Work as incorporated in a Collective Work, but this does not require the Collective Work apart from the Work itself to be made subject to the terms of this Licence. If You create a Collective Work, upon notice from any Licensor You must, to the extent practicable, remove from the Collective Work any reference to such Licensor or or the Original Author, as requested.
- B You may not exercise any of the rights granted to You in Section 3 above in any manner that is primarily intended for or directed towards commercial advantage or private monetary

compensation. The exchange of the Work for other copyrighted works by means of digital filesharing or otherwise shall not be considered to be intended for or directed towards commercial advantage or private monetary compensation, provided there is no payment of any monetary compensation in connection with the exchange of copyrighted works.

c If you distribute, publicly display, publicly perform, or publicly digitally perform the Work or any Collective Works, You must keep intact all copyright notices for the Work and give the Original Author credit reasonable to the medium or means You are utilising by conveying the name (or pseudonym if applicable) of the Original Author if supplied; the title of the Work if supplied. Such credit may be implemented in any reasonable manner; provided, however, that in the case of a Collective Work, at a minimum such credit will appear where any other comparable authorship credit appears and in a manner at least as prominent as such other comparable authorship credit.

## 5 Representations, Warranties and Disclaimer

- By offering the Work for public release under this Licence, Licensor represents and warrants that, to the best of Licensor's knowledge after reasonable inquiry:
  - i Licensor has secured all rights in the Work necessary to grant the licence rights hereunder and to permit the lawful exercise of the rights granted hereunder without You having any obligation to pay any royalties, compulsory licence fees, residuals or any other payments;
  - ii The Work does not infringe the copyright, trademark, publicity rights, common law rights or any other right of any third party or constitute defamation, invasion of privacy or other tortious injury to any third party.
- B except as expressly stated in this licence or otherwise agreed in writing or required by applicable law, the work is licenced on an 'as is' basis, without warranties of any kind, either express or implied including, without limitation, any warranties regarding the contents or accuracy of the work.

## 6 Limitation on Liability

Except to the extent required by applicable law, and except for damages arising from liability to a third party resulting from breach of the warranties in section 5, in no event will Licensor be liable to you on any legal theory for any special, incidental, consequential, punitive or exemplary damages arising out of this licence or the use of the work, even if Licensor has been advised of the possibility of such damages.

#### 7 Termination

- This Licence and the rights granted hereunder will terminate automatically upon any breach by You of the terms of this Licence. Individuals or entities who have received Collective Works from You under this Licence, however, will not have their licences terminated provided such individuals or entities remain in full compliance with those licences. Sections 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, and 8 will survive any termination of this Licence.
- B Subject to the above terms and conditions, the licence granted here is perpetual (for the duration of the applicable copyright in the Work). Notwithstanding the above, Licensor reserves the right to release the Work under different licence terms or to stop distributing the Work at any time; provided, however that any such election will not serve to withdraw this Licence (or any other licence that has been, or is required to be, granted under the terms of this Licence), and this Licence will continue in full force and effect unless terminated as stated above.

### 8 Miscellaneous

- A Each time You distribute or publicly digitally perform the Work or a Collective Work, Demos offers to the recipient a licence to the Work on the same terms and conditions as the licence granted to You under this Licence.
- B If any provision of this Licence is invalid or unenforceable under applicable law, it shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of the terms of this Licence, and without further action by the parties to this agreement, such provision shall be reformed to the minimum extent necessary to make such provision valid and enforceable.
- c No term or provision of this Licence shall be deemed waived and no breach consented to unless such waiver or consent shall be in writing and signed by the party to be charged with such waiver or consent.
- D This Licence constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the Work licenced here. There are no understandings, agreements or representations with respect to the Work not specified here. Licensor shall not be bound by any additional provisions that may appear in any communication from You. This Licence may not be modified without the mutual written agreement of Demos and You.

## This project was supported by:





Britain's ageing population is often described as a demographic time-bomb. As a society we often view ageing as a 'problem' which must be 'managed' – how to cope with the pressure on national health services of growing numbers of older people, the cost of sustaining them with pensions and social care, and the effect on families and housing needs.

But ageing is not a policy problem to be solved. Instead it is a normal part of life, which varies according to personal characteristics, experience and outlook, and for many people growing older can be a very positive experience. Drawing on the Mass Observation project, one of the longest-running longitudinal life-writing projects anywhere in the world, *Coming of Age* grounds public policy in people's real, lived experiences of ageing.

It finds that the experience of ageing is changing, so that most people who are now reaching retirement do not identify themselves as old. One-size-fits-all policy approaches that treat older people as if they are all alike are alienating and inappropriate. Instead, older people need inclusive policy approaches that enable them to live their lives on their own terms. To ensure that older people are actively engaged, policy makers should stop emphasising the costs posed by an ageing population and start building on the many positive contributions that older people already make to our society.

Louise Bazalgette is a Researcher on the Family and Society programme at Demos. John Holden is a Demos Associate. Professor Philip Tew is Director of the Brunel Centre for Contemporary Writing at Brunel University. Dr Nick Hubble is the Deputy Director of the Brunel Centre for Contemporary Writing. Dr Jago Morrison is a Senior Lecturer in English Literature at Brunel University.

ISBN 978-1-906693-66-4 £10

© Demos 2011

